UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

A ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

or

w TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from February 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013

Commission File Number: 00135198

Pandora Media, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 94-3352630
(State omther jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

2101 Webster Street, Suitd 650
Oakland, CA 94612
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(510)451-4100
(Registrant 6s intlwihgeappdondee number |,

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act:

Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which registered
Common stock, $0.0001 pal
value The New York Stock Exchang

Indicate by check mark the registrant is a weknown seasoned issuer, as defined in R0 of the Securities Act.
YesW NoA

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to S&ctiosectiorl5(d) of the Act.
YesA NoWw

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantds filed all reports required to be filed by Secti@wor 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the precedinma@ths (or for such shorter period that the registrant wasreejd file
such reports), and (2jas been subject to such filing requirements for the paga@@Yes W No A



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant td0®uté Regulatiors-T (Section232.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding Irdonths (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).
Yes W No A

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to4@5rof Regulatiors-K (Section229.405 of this
chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgetiue grebixy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Rbof this Form10-K or any amendment to this Forto-K. A

Indicate by a check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an acceleratewfilaccelerated filer, or a
smaller reporting company. See definition of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting campany" i
Rule12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Largeacceleratediler W Acceleratediler A Non-acceleratediler A SmallerreportingcompanyA
(Do not check if a
smaller reporting compan

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined ir2Ralef the Exchange
Act). YesA NoW

The aggregate market value of the voting common stock held bgffibates of the registrant as of Juyt, 2013(the last
business day of the registrant's most recently completed second quarter), based on the closing pricealf ancrhstdlew York
Stock Exchange on such date was approxim&gl68 million. This calculation excludes the shares of common stock held by
executive officers, directors and stockholders whose ownership exceeds 5% outstandinglat2Dilg. This caldation does not
reflect a determination that such persons are affiliates for any other purposes.

On February6, 2014the registrant ha@l97,423063 shares of common stock outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement relating 20itdannual meeting of stockholders, to be filed subsequent
to the date hereof, are incorporated by reference intdIPaftthis TransitionReport on Formi0-K where indiated. Such Definitive
Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later thdey$20ter the conclusion of the
registrant'dransition periocendedDecembel, 2013. Except with respect to information specifically ipooated by reference in
this TransitionReport on Form.0-K, the Definitive Proxy Statement is not deemed to be filed as part dfrénisitionReport on
Form10-K.




Item 1
Item 1A
Item 1B
Item 2
Item 3
Item 4

Item 5

Iltem 6
Item 7
Item 7A
Item 8
Item 9
Item 9A
Item 9B

Item 10
Item 11
Item 12
Item 13
Item 14

ltem 15
Signatures

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.
FORM 10-K
TABLE OF CONTENTS

PageNo.
PART I
Business 2
Risk Factors 13
Unresolved Staff Comments 41
Properties 41
LegalProceedings 41
Mine Safety Disclosures 41
PART I
Mar ket for Registrantés Common Equity, Rel at e
Securities 42
Selected Financial Data 44
Management 6s Abalysisofinaricial Bonditiordand Results of Operations 46
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 65
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 67
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accoulentishdrinancial Disclosure 101
Controls and Procedures 101
Other Information 101
PART Il
Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 10z
Executive Compensation 10z
Security Ownership of CertaBeneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 10z
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 10z
Principal Accountant Fees and Services 10z
PART IV
Exhibits, Financial Stateme®&chedules 10¢
107



SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

ThisTransitionReport on Fornl0-K contains "forwardlooking statements" that involve substantial risks and uncertainties.
The statements conted in thisTransitionReport on Forml0-K that are not purely historical are forwatldoking statements within
the meaning of Secti®V A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and 3#&€&tiohthe Securities
Exchange Act of9434, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), including, but not limited to, statements regarding our expectations, belief:
intentions, strategies, future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected expenses and plansiaed object
managenent. In some cases, you can identify forwlanking statements by terms such as "anticipate,” "believe," "estimate,"
"expect," "i ""may," "might,"” "plan," "project," "will," "would," "should," "could," "can," "predict," "potential,” ftmue,"

intend,
"objective," or the negative of these terms, and similar expressions intended to identify flmokang statements. However, not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. These foilmakihg statements reflect our current views alfature
events and involve known risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of actiwitgnperdor
achievement to be materially different from those expressed or implied by the ftwakird) statements. Factotisat could cause or
contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in thdegttRiskti
Factors" included in thi§ransitionReport on Fornl0-K. Furthermore, such forwartboking statemess speak only as of the date of
this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any fdos&ndg statements to reflect events or
circumstances after the date of such statements. We qualify all of our fdovekidg statemeis by these cautionary statements. In
addition, the industry in which we operate is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of ¢aadorg those
described in the section entitled "Risk Factors." These and other factorsaaagd our results to differ materially from those
expressed in thisransitionReport on Forml0O-K.

Some of the industry and market data contained inTi@asitionReport on Forml0-K are based on independent industry
publications, including thosgenerated by Triton Digital Media or "Triton" and International Data Corporation or "IDC" or other
publicly available information. This information involves a number of assumptions and limitations. Although we beli@ahthat e
source is reliable as of itespective date, we have not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of this information.

As used herein, "Pandora," the "Company," "we," "our," and similar terms refer to Pandora Ntedjaynless the context
indicates otherwise.

"Pandord' and other trademarks of ours appearing in this report are our property. This report contains additional trade
names and trademarks of other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies' trade names or trademarks to
imply an endorsenmt or sponsorship of us by such companies, or any relationship with any of these companies.

EXPLANATORY NOTE REGARDING THE TRANSITION REPORT

Wechangedour fiscal year to the calendar twelve months ending December 31, effective beginning with érdgear
December 31, 2013. As a result, our current figriodwas shorteneffom twelve months to an elevaronth transition period
endedon December 31, 2018ereported our third fiscal quarter as the three monghsledOctdber 31, 2013, followed bytao-
month transition perio@ndedDecember 31, 2013.

When financial results for the 2013 transition period are compared to financial results for the prior year period, tBe result
compare the elevemonth periodendedDecembeBl, 208 and December 31,A2. The results for the eleven month period ended
December 31, 2012 are unaudit&hen financial results for fiscal 2013 are compared to financial results for fiscal 2012, the results
compare our previous fiscal years, or tinelvemonth periodendedlanuary 3, 2013and January 312012 The following tables
show the months included within the various comparison periods:

Calendar 2013 (1imonth) Results Compared With Calendar 2012 (1-tnonth recast,

unaudited)
Calendar 2012 (1_3month recast, Calendar 2013 (12month)
unaudited)
February 2012 December 2012 February 2013 December 2013

Fiscal 2013 Results Compared With Fiscal 2012
2012 2013
February 2011 January 2012 February 2012 January 2013




PART I.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Pandora is the leader in internet radio in the United States, offering a personalized experience for each of our listeners
wherever and whenever they want to listen to radio on a wide range of smartphones, tablets, traditional cosn@uteis systems
anda range of other internebnnected device¥he majority of our listener hours occur on mobile devices, with the majority of our
revenue generated from advertising on these dew¢esave pioneered a new form of railione that uss intrinsic qualities of
music to create statiomsitially and then adapt playlists in re@he based on the individual feedbaclkeatch listener. We offer local
and national advertisers an opportunity to deliver targeted messages to our listeneasasibgation of audio, display and video
advertisements.

As of Decembe31, 2013, we hachore tharRO0million registered users, which we define as the total number of accounts
that have been created for our service at period end. BeadmbeB1, 2A.3 approximatelyl 75million registered users have
accessed Pandora through smartphones and tablets. Etevbe monthendedDecembeB1, 2013, we streameidb.31billion hours
of radio and as dbecembeB1, 2013, we had6.2million active users durinthe prior 30ay period. According to September
2013 report by Triton, we have more thaim@/%6 share of internet radio among the top 20 stations and networks in the United States.
Since we launched our free, advertisBuypported radio service in 20Q%ur listeners have created ogebillion stations.

Our Service

Unlike traditional radio stations that broadcast the same content at the same time to all of their listeners, we enfble each
our listeners to create up to 100 personalized stationsMilkie Genome Project and our playlist generating algorithms power our
ability to predict listener music preferences, play music content suited to the tastes of each individual listener aeel lintemers to
music they will love. When a listener entarsingle song, artist or genre to start a stétiarprocess we call seedihghe Pandora
service instantly generates a station that plays music we think that listener will enjoy. Based on listener reactsorsg® Weepick,
we further tailor the staih to match the listener's preferences.

We currently provide the Pandora service through two models:

1 Free ServiceOur free service is advertisirgypportecand allows listeners access to our music and comedy catalogs and
personalized playlist generatisgstem across all of our delivery platforms.

1 Pandora OnePandora Onés provided to paying subscribers without any external advertising. Pandora One allows
listeners to have more daily skips and enjoy higher quality audio on supgextieds.

Beyondsong delivery, listeners can discover more about the music they hear by researching song lyrics, reading the histor
of their favorite artists, viewing artist photos and buying albums and songs from Amazon or iTunes. Our service alsat@scorpor
communiy social networking features. Listeners can create and customize personal listener profile pages to connect with other
listeners. Our music feed feature enables atiew, centralized stream for listeners to view the music that their social connecéions a
experiencing and to provide and receive recommendations for songs, albums and artists. Listeners can also sharestheiosgation
other social media outlets and through email by using our share feature or by distributing our individualizedRtation U

Our Technologies

At the core of our service is our set of proprietary personalization technologies, including the Music Genome Project and ol
playlist generating algorithms. When a listener enters a single song, artist or genre to start hst&&nmgora service instantly
generates a station that plays music we think that listener will enjoy. Based on listener reactions to the songs we &irdan, w
tailor the station to match the listener's preferences in real time.

Music Genome Project

The Music Genome Project is a database of over 1,000,000 uniquely analyzed songs from over 100,000 artists, spanning
500 genres and stdenres, which we develop one song at a time by evaluating and cataloging each song's particular @tigbutes.
we select music to become part of our catalog, our music analysts getiatypasidy examining up tel50attributes including
objectively observable metrics such as tone and tempo, as well as subjective characteristics, such as lyrics, voodlamdational
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intensity. We employ rigorous hiring and training standards for selecting our music analysts, who typically hgearfdagrees in
music theory, composition or performance, and we provide them with intensive training in the Music Genortie prexjee
methodology.

Comedy Genome Project

Our Comedy Genome Project leverages similar technology to the technology underlying the Music Genome Project, allowil
a listener to choose a favorite comedian or a genre as a seed to start a station and then give feedback to persatializethat s
comedy collection includes content from more thgB00comedians with morthan25,000tracks.

Our Other Core Innovations

In addition to the Music Genome Project, we have developed other proprietary technologies to improve delivery of the
Pandoraservice, enhance the listener experience and expand our reach. Our other core innovations include:

Playlist Generating Algorithma&Ve have developed complex algorithms that determine which songs play and in what order
on each personalized station. Develdsince 2004, these algorithms combine the Music Genome Project with the individual and
collective feedback we receive from our listeners in order to deliver a personalized listening experience.

Pandora User Experienc&Ve have invested in ways to enabteto reach our audience anytime, anywlileatthey enjoy
music To this end, we have developed a number of innovative approaches, including our autocomplete station creation féature, wh
predicts and generates a list of the most likely musical gjgutimts as a listener begins to enter a favorite station, song or artist.

Pandora Mobile StreamingVe have designed a sophisticated system for streaming music content to mobile devices. This
system involves a combination of music coding programs teat@imized for mobile devices as well as algorithms designed to
address the intricacies of reliable delivery over diverse mobile network technologies. For example, these algorithimseateadesi
maintain a continuous stream to a listener even in cistamees where the mobile data network may be unreliable.

Automotive ProtocoM/e have developed an automotive protocol to facilitate increased availability of the Pandora service in
automobiles. Through the automotive protoceltainautomobile manufaaters, their suppliers and makers of aftermarket audio
systems can easily connect dasbunted interface elements to the Pandora app running on a smartphone. This allows us to deliver tt
Pandora service to listeners via their existing smartphone, whéealging the automobile itself for application command, display and
control functionalities.

Pandora API As part of our effort to make the Pandora service available everywhere our listeners want it, we have
developed an application programming interfagiich we call the PandowaPl. Through our partnerships with manufacturers of
consumer electronics products, we have used this technology to bring the Pandora experience to connected devicesharoughout t
home.

Tv.pandora.comWe have developeastandadsbasedHTML5 website called tv.pandora.com that allows users to stream
music content omext generation TV, game console and set top box architectures that support open web starpi@ndsra.com
featuresstreamlinechavigation with controls and digys designed specifically fdarger screens

Distribution and Partnerships

A key element of our strategy is to make Pandora service available everywhere that there is internet connectivity. To this
end, we make the Pandora service available thraugtiety of distribution channels. In addition to streaming our service to
traditional computers, we have developed Pandora mobile device applications or "apps" for smartphonéBhsuud/&sdroid, and
theWindowsPhoneand for tablets including th®adandAndroid tablets. We distribute those mobile apps free to listeners via app
storesIn addition,Pandora is now integrated with more tlHg@00connected devices, including automobiles, automotive aftermarket
devices and consumer electronic devices

Advertising Revenue

We derive the substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of,aligjpayand video advertising for delivery across
our traditional computebased, mobile and other connected device platforms. While historically our reyremith was principally
attributable to selling display advertising through our traditional comjnaised platform, we now generate a majority of our revenue
from mobile and other connected devices and our advertising includes a mix of audio, displagan@ihis expansion of our

4



services also presents an opportunity for us to reach our audience anytime, anlyattieeg enjoy music, and therefore offer
additional distribution channels to current and potential advertisers for delivery of their aolyengssages.

Our advertising strategy focuses on developing our core suite of audio, display and video advertising products and marketi
these products to advertisers for delivery across traditional computerahilé andother connected devig#atforms.Our
advertising products allow both local and national advertisers to target and connect with listeners based on attrithatpadgeciu
gender, zip code and content preferencgsgmulti-platform ad campaigns to target their advertisingsagss to listeners anytime
and anywhere. As listenership on our mobile platforms has grown more rapidly than on our other platforms, we have sought to
improve our advertising products for the mobile environment to better enable us to develop and mtrgdtfouh advertising
solutions.In the twelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 201%hahdeéleven months ended December 2D12and2013
advertising revenue accounted for approxima8¥6, 88% 88% (unaudited)and82% of our total revenuegespectively, and we
expect that advertising will comprise a substantial majority of revenue for the foreseeable future.

Audio AdvertisingOur audio advertising products allow custom audio messages to be delivered between songs during shor
ad interludesAudio ads are available across all of our delivery platforms. On supported platforms, the audio ads can be accompanit
by display ads to further enhance advertisers' messages.

Display AdvertisingOur display products offer advertisers opportunitiesiéximize exposure to our listeners through our
desktop and mobile service interfaces, which are divided between our tuner containing our player and "now playing" imfanchatio
the information space surrounding our tuner. Our display ads include indtastdard banner ads of various sizes and placements
depending on platform and listener interaction.

Video AdvertisingOur video advertising products allow delivery of rich branded messages to further engage listeners
through inbanner clickinitiated videos, videos that automatically play when a listener changes stations or skips a songrand opt
videos that pause the music and cover the tuner.

Ouraudio,display and video advertising products can be designed and modified by us and advertisers dd\egiing
campaigns tailored across all of our high volume delivery platforms to fit specific advertiser needs. For example, seradsaert
create custom "branded" stations from our music library that can be accessed by our listeners, asgagk disteners by allowing
them to personalize the branded stations through listamgrolled variablesAdditionally, advertisers can also benefit from our
proprietary ad targeting capabilitig3ur proprietary targeting segments leverage listenbmitted profile information, enabling
advertisers to precisely reach sougfier consumers acro®eweb and connected deviceghout needing thirgparty cookies.

In 2013, we integrated Pandora's advertising inventory into the leading radio media Hatforgng, Mediaocean and
STRATA, and we are continuing to enhance the ability of radio advertisers to purchase media on these platfbrimsorporate
Triton measurements of our radio audience reachlgjede with terrestrial radio metrics. In additi we have invested in building a
local sales force in major radio markdtsJanuary 2014, we began rolling outdar advertising solutions, whichill run across the
vehicle modelshat include a native Pandora integratiGwir integration into standard radio medbiaying processes and
measurementur in-car advertising solutiorend our local ad sales force are key elements of our strategy for expanded penetration o
the radio advertising market.

Subscription and Other Revenue

Subscriptiorand otherevenue is generatgutimarily through the sale dandora Oneg premium version of the Pandora
service which currently includes advertisemfrae accesandhigher audio qualitpn the devices that supportkor thetwelve
months endedanuary 31, 2012 arR0D13 andthe eleven months ended DecemberZBii,2and 208, subscription and otheevenue
accountedor 13%, 12%,12% (unaudited)and18% of our total revenuerespectively.

Content, Copyrights and Royalties

To secure the rights to stream music content over the internet, we must obtain licenses from, and pay royalties to, copyrigf
owners of both sound recordings and musigaiks. These licensingnd royaltyarrangements strongly influence our business
operatons. We stream spoken word comedy content, for which the underlying literary works are not currently entitled to éigibility
licensing by any performing rights organization for the United States. Rather, pursuant to indestcystom and practicthis
content is performedithouta specific license from any such performing rights organizationdividual copyright ownerdNe do,
however, obtain licenses to stream the sound recordings of comedy conterd fexi@eal statutory licensas describd under the
section captioned "Sound Recordings" below, which in some instances we have opted to augment with direct agreements with the
licensors of such sound recordings.



Sound Recordings

The number of sound recordings we transmit to users of the Pandora service, as generally refiecteddmer hours,
drivesthe vast majorityf our content acquisition costs, although certain of our licensing agreements require us to pay feds for publ
performances of musical works based on a percentage of re¥gawsbhtain performance rights licenses and pay performance rights
royaltiesfor the benefit of thecopyright owners o$uchsound recordingand the recording artists, both featured and-fieatured, on
such recordinggpursuant to the Digital Performance Right in Sound Recordings Act of 1995 (the "DafdMheDigital
Millennium Copyright Act of 1998 (the "DMCA"). Under federal statutory licenses created IBRR& andthe DMCA, we are
permitted to stream any lawfully released sound recordings and to make reproductions of these recordings on our computer server
without having to separately negotiate and obtain direct licenses with each indsaduodlrecordingopyright owner. These
statutory licenses are granted to us on the condition that we operate in compliance with thehelstaftory licenseand pay the
applicable royalty rates to SoundExchange, theprofit organization designated by the Copyright Royalty Bparulibunal
established within the U.S. Library of CongressCRB, to collect and distribute royalties under these statutory licenses.

The rates we pay pursuant to these licenaashe established by eithegotiation or through a rate proceeding conducted
by the CRB.In 2009, certain webcasters reached a settlement agreement with SoundExchange estdtdisiaitige rates and rate
structures below those eventually established by the CRB for services not qualifying for the settlem@hisateslement
agreement is commonly known as the "Pureplay Settlenteaitippliesthrough 2015We haveelectedsince 20090 avail ourselves
of the Pureplay SettlemerRroceedings to establish rates that will be applicable to our séovittee 20162020 periodknown as
Webcasting IV proceedinggiere commenceih January 2014Ne are unable to estimate the direct and indirect costs of participating
in the Webcaster IV proceedings, but we expect those costs to be signiiadnér, federal copyright law does metognize a
public performance right for sound recordings created prior to FebtBa}972 and we face additional risks related to-pg2
sound recording licensingor additional details on risks related to the+sdtting procesand prel972 sound recordingplease refer
tothesecti on entitled ARisk Factors. oo

The royalties we pay to SoundExchange for the streaming of sound recordings are calculated using a per perforananaeerate
subject to auditThe table below sets il the per performance rates for the calendar y@@t3to 2015 as established by the CRB,
which we have opted not to pay, under the Pureplay Settlement applicable to-subsoription, agupported service and under the
Pureplay Settlement applicaliteour subscription service

Pureplay Rate Pureplay Rate
Year CRB Rate (non-subscription)* (subscription)
2013 0.00210 0.00120 0.00220
2014 0.00230 0.00130 0.00230
2015 0.00230 0.00140 0.00250

* The rate applicable to our n@ubscription service is the greater of the per performance rates set forth in this column oa25% of
of our U.S. gross revenuimcluding revenue from subscriptions

As reflected in the table above, we pay-performanceates for streaming of sound recordings via our Pandora One
subscription service that are higher than thepgmeformance rates for our free, Asabscription service. As a result, we may incur
higher royalty expenses to SoundExchange for a listenesubatribes to Pandora One as compared to a listener that uses our free,
nornsubscription service, even if both listeners lidiethe samaumber of performers

Musical Works

Our content costs are also comprised of the royalties we pay for the public perfoahangsical works embodied the
sound recordingthat we streantCopyright owners ofmusical works, typically, songwriters and music publishers, have traditionally
relied on intermediaries known gerformingrights organizations to negotiate-salled "blanket" licenses with copyright users,
collect royalties under such licensaad distribute them to copyright owners. We have obtained public performance licenses from
and pay license fees to, the three magnformingrights organizations in the United States: the American Society of Composers,
Authors and Publishe($ASCAPS), Broadcast Musicnc. (iBMI0) and SESACInc. (ASESAQ).

We currently operate unden ageementwith SESAC, which automatically renews yearly, but is subject to termination by
either party in accordance with its terms at the end of each yearly term. The SESAC rate is subject to small annual increases

We currently operate under interim lices with each of ASCAP and BMASCAP and BMleachare governed bg consent
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decreewith the United States Department of Justice. The rates we pay ASCAP and BMI can be established by either negotiation or
through a rate court proceeding conducted by thiedrstates Disict Court for theSouthern District of New YorkRiVe elected to
terminate our prior agreements with ASCAP as of Decer®beP010 and with BMI as of Decemiit, 2012 because, among other
things, we believed that the royalty rates soughASZAP and BMI were in excess of rates paid by our langesb competitors

broadcast radio statioasd satellite radio. Notwithstanding our termination of these agreements, the musical works administered by
each of ASCAP and BMI continued to be liceth$e us pursuant to the provisions of their respective consent dédteese

currently involvedn rate court proceedings to determine the royalty rates we will pay to ASCAP and-8Midditional details
regarding such proceedings, please seetheosecsi ent i t | ed ARi sk Factorso and fAlLegal

In some cases, we pay royalties directly to music publisharsidyublishes own or administecopyrights inmusical worls
andlicense thoseopyrights to third parties that use music, such as reabeld, filmmakers, telésion and radio stationsuBlishes
alsocollectlicense fees from these third parties arslriiutethe fees to the writsior compaers of the musical works. Between
2012and 2014, certain publishers purporteghaatially withdraw portions oftheir repertoires from each of ASCAP and BMth the
intent that each performing rights organization would be unable to license the withdrawn musical works to new medisslicbnsees
as PandoraDur positionis that attempted partial witlhawalsviolatethe ASCAP and BMI consent decreEsom time to time, we
have entered, and will continue to enter, into agreements with some purported withdrawing publishers to enable Partohur& to con
to perform those publ itlsgalemcertaintyor adéitonalkdetailsiregardirtg Bueh parported withdrawals,
pl ease see the sections entitled ARi sk Factorso and ALegal

NonU.S. Licensing Regimes

In addition to the copyright and licensing arrangements described above for our use of sound recordings and musical
compositions in the United States, other countries have various copyright and licensing regimes, including in sperocasag
rights aganizations and copyright collection societies from which licenses must be obtained. We have obtained licenses to operate
Australia and New Zealand for the communication of sound recordings and the musical compositions embodied in those sound
recording, which have not had a material effect on our results of operations to date

Listening Limits

Until September 2011, faoronsubscriptioristeners, we limited usage of our advertisgypported service anaditional,
desktop and laptqmomputers to 4@ours per month. Listeners who reached this limit could continue to use this service by paying
$0.99 for the remainder of the month. We included this revenue in subscription and other revenue. In September 201itelye effec
eliminated the 4Gour per nonth listening cap otraditionalcomputers by increasing the cap to 3@@irs of listening per month,
which almost none of our listeners exceed.

In March 2013, we instituted a 4@ur per month listening limit fasur advertisingsupporéd service orceitain mobile and
other connected devices. Listeners who reached this limit could continue to use our ad supported service on thesgdgiviges by
$0.99 for the remainder of the month, could listen to our ad supported service drathiganalcomputes, or could purchase
Pandora Onannualsubscriptions for $36 per year monthly subscriptions fd84 per monthEffective September 2013, we
eliminated this limit primarily due to our improved ability to monetize mobigerer hours. Although wéaveremovedthe broad 40
hour per month mobile listening limit, we have implemented other more precise measures that we believe will ath@ttars to
managehe growth of mobile content acquisition costs while minimizing adverse effects on the listenesreeper

Government Regulation

As a company conducting business on the internet, we are subject to a number of foreign and domestic laws and regulatio
relating to consumer protection, information secuaitydata protection, among other things. Many of these laws and regulations are
still evolving and could be interpreted in ways that could harm our business. In the area of information security aoigctaia, pr
the laws in several states require compattésplement specific information security controls to protect certain types of information.
Likewise, all but a few states have laws in place requiring companies to notify users if there is a security breachrtimaisesmp
certain categories of theinformation.We are also subject to federal and state laws regarding privacy of listenexrdatey other
things Our privacy policy and terms of use describe our practices concerning the use, transmission and disclosure of listener
information and are ptesd on our website.

Sales and Marketing

We organize our sales force into multigleographicallybasedeams that are each focused on selling advertising across our
traditional computer, mobile and other connected device platfdressns are located wur Oakland, California headquarters, in
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regional sales offices in Chicago, lllinois; Santa Monica, California; and New York, Newavidi&cal sales offices throughout the
countryand inSydney,Australia

Our marketing team is charged with amplifying Pandora's brand message to grow awareness listdrdriteurs. We
organize the marketing team into three groups focused on communications, marketing analytics and brand marketing.

Competition
Competitionfor Listeners

We compete for the time and attention of our listeners with other content providers on the basis of a number of factors,
including quality of experience, relevance, acceptancearzkptiornf contentquality, ease of use, price, acces#ijpj perceptions
of ad load, brand awareness and reputation. We also compete for listeners on the basis of ourlpaestingeand visibility as
compared with other providers that deliver content through the internet, mobile devices and consumer products. Wetledieve tha
compete favorably on these factors. For additional details on risks related to competition for liskessesgfer to the section
entitled "Risk Factors."

Many of our current and potential future competitors enjoy competitive advantages, such as greater name rdeggigion,
operating histories and larger marketing budgets, as well as greater finauotialcal and other resourc€ur competitors include
Apple, Spotify,Clear ChannelSlacker Sirius XM, RDIO, Microsoft Rhapsody(Google,Amazon YouTube Hulu andVEVO.

We compete for listeners with broadcast radio providers, including terresttial providers. Many broadcast radio
companies own large numbers of radio stations or other media properties. Many terrestrial radio stations have begungoroadcast
digital signals, which provide high quality audio transmission. In addition, unlike ipartis in the emerging internet radio market,
terrestrial and satellite radio providers, as aggregate entities of their subsidiary providers, generally enjoy laigjezcatatiences
andlegacyoperating histories. Broadcast and satellite radio comapamjoy a significant cost advantage because they pay a much
lower percentage of revenue for transmissions of sound recordings. Broadcast radio pays no royalties for its tercfstdahdse
recordings, and satellite raddaid only 9.0% of revenue @013 andhays only9.5% of revenuen 2014for its satellite transmissions
of sound recordings. By contrast, Pandora incurred content acquisition costs repreés8ataigevenue for our internet
transmissions of sound recordings duringelevenmonthsendedDecembeB1, 2013. We also compete directly with other emerging
nonrinteractiveinternetradio providerswhich may offer more extensive content libraries than we offer and some of which may be
accessed internationallWe could face additional competition if known incumbents in the digital media space choose to enter the
internet radio market.

We face competition from providers of interactivedemand audio content and pecorded entertainmettiat allow
listeners ¢ select the audio content that they stream or purchase. This interaetleenandcontentis accessible in automobiles and
homes, using portable players, mobile phaaredother wirelessand consumer electronitevices. The audio entertainment
marketplae continues to rapidly evolve, providing our listeners with a growing number of alternatives and new media platforms.

We compete for the time and attention of our listeners with providers of other formbharhimand mobile entertainment.
To the extentx@sting or potential listeners choose to watch cable television, stream video frdemamd services or play interactive
video games on their horantertainment system, computer or mobile phone rather than listen to the Pandora service, these content
senices pose a competitive threat.

Competition for Advertisers

We compete with other content providers for a share of our advertising customers' overall marketing budgets. We compete
the basis of a number of factors, including perceived retuinvastment, effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products,
pricing structure and ability to deliver large volumes or precise types of ads to targeted demographics. We beliewabilitsittour
deliver targeted and relevant ads across a widgerahplatforms allows us to compete favorably on the basis of these factors and
justify a longterm profitable pricing structure. However, the market for online advertising solutions is intensely competitive and
rapidly changing, and with the introductiohnew technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to intensify in the future.
Our competitors include Facebook, Google, MSEhoo! ABC, CBS, FOXNBC, The New York Times and the Wall Street
Journal For additional details on risks related to competition for advertisers, please refer to the section entitled "Risk Factors."

The market for online advertising is becoming increasingly competitive as advertisers are allocating increasing amounts of
their overall marketing budgets to wddased advertising. We compete for online advertisers with other internet companies, including
major internet portals, search engine companies and social media sites. Large internet companies with greater brandhaegniti
large direct sales staffs, substantial proprietary advertising technology and extensive web traffic and consequerdlyifeagay si
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competitive advantages.

Terrestrial broadcast and to a lesser extent satellite radio are significant sourecapetftam for advertising dollars. These
radio providers deliver ads across platforms that are more familiar to traditional advertisers than the internet mighittiser#\d
may be reluctant to migrate advertising dollars to our intdyaséd platform.

We compete for advertising dollars with other traditional media companies in television and print. These traditional outlets
present us with a number of competitive challenges in attracting advertisers, including large established audiencesréinger o
histories, greater brand recognition and a growing presence on the internet.

Seasonality

Our results reflect the effects of seasonal trends in listener behavior due to higher advertising sales thstitigréde
monthsof each calendar year duegreater advertiser demand during the holiday season and lower advertising sales irttinesfirst
monthsof the followingcalendaryear due to reduced advertiser demdnaddition,we expect to experience increased usage during
thelast three monthef each calendar year due to the holiday season, and in thtarf@stmonthef each calendar year due to
increased use of med#&reaming devices received as gifts during the holiday season. We may also experience higher advertising sa
during thelastthree monthef each calendar year due to greater advertiser demand during the holiday season and lower advertising
sales in the firsthree month®f thecalendalyear due to reduced advertiser demand. See the section eitldessTrends"” in
Item7 of thisTransitionReport on Formi0-K for a more complete description of the seasonality of our financial results.

The results of ouprior fiscal quarters (three montksdedApril 30, July 31, October 31 and January 31 of each year for
November 1, 2013) reflect the same effects of the seasonal treradivertising revenugiscussed above for calendar periods, except
that the impact of thessdvertising saleselatedtrends on our fiscal resuligasnot as pronouncedue to the iolusion of January
instead of October in our fourth fiscal quarter.

We changedbur fiscal year to the calendar twelve morghsledDecember 310 align withtheadver t i sing i ndu
busineszycle effective beginning with the periahdedon DecembeB1, 2013. Due to this change, the effect of seasonality on our
business will be more pronounced in calendar yeadedafter December 31, 2013.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends upon our ability to protect our technologies and intellectudlpiapaccomplish this, we rely on a
combination of intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, patents, copyrights, trademarks, contractuahsestrictio
technological measures and other methods. We enter into confidentiality and propidétarggreements with our employees,
consultants and business partners, and we control access to and distribution of our proprietary information.

We haveB patents that have been issued in the United StatekCaticht have been issued outside of the United States, and
we continue to pursue additional patent protection, both in the United States and abroad where appropriate and coBt étfieetive
2013,we purchasedertain patents covering technologies uigeidternet radio from Yahodhc. for $8.0 million in cash. We intend
to hold these patents as part of our strategy to protect and defend Pandora-irefzaehlitigation.

Our registered trademarks in the United States include "Pargad#tie "Music Genome Project,” in addition to a number
of Pandora logos. "Pandora" is also registered in Australia, Canada, Chile, the European Union, Israel, Korea, Mexietamtbw Ze
Switzerland and other countries. "Music Genome Project" is also registefedtralia, China and New Zealand. We have pending
trademark applications in the United States and in certain other countries, including applications for Pandora logos.

We are the registrant of the internet domain name for our website, pandora.cothaaspardora.co.in, pandora.co.uk,
pandora.co.nz and pandora.de, among others. We own rights to proprietary processes and trade secrets, including thggbeinderly
Pandora service.

In addition to the foregoing protections, we generally control adoemsd use of our proprietary software and other
confidential information through the use of internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees,
contractors, customers and partners.

Customer Concentration
Forthe twelve moths ended JanuaBil, 202 and 208 andthe eleven months ended DecemberZBi?2 and2013 we had

no customers that accounted for 10% or more of total revenue
9



Employees

As of DecembeB1, 2013, we had,069employees. None of our employees are covbeyecbllective bargaining agreements,
and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Corporate and Available Information

We were incorporated as a California corporation in January 2000 and reincorporated as a Delaware corporation in Decerr
2010. Our principal executive offices are located at 2101 Webster Street] @adteOakland, California 94612 and our telephone
number is (510%51-4100. Our website is located at www.pandora.com and our Investor Relations website is located at
investa.pandora.com.

We changedbur fiscal year to the calendar twelve months ending Decemberadign withtheadver t i si ng i nd
businesgycle, effective beginning with the periahdedon December 31, 2013. As a result, our current figeatwasshortened
from twelve months to an elevenonth transition periodndedDecember 31, 2013Ve reported our third fiscal quarter as the three
monthsendedOctober 31, 2013, followed by a twoonth transition perioéndedDecember 31, 2013.

In this Transiton Report on Formi0-K, all references to a fiscal yearior to December 31, 20X&fer to thewelve months
ended Januaryl of such year, and references to the first, second, third and fourth fiscal qefadesisrior to November 1, 2013
refer to thethree months ended ApBD, July31, OctobeB1 and Januar§l, respectively.

We file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including AarmdidlransitiorReports on
Form10-K, Quarterly Reports on For0-Q, Current Reports on Fm 8-K and any other filings required by the SEC. We make
available on our Investor Relations website, free of charge, our AandalransitiorReports on Formi0-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form10-Q, Current Reports on For&aK, and all amendments to thosports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The information on our website is not incorporatecchgedfdo
this TransitionReport on Formi0-K or in any other report or documiewe file with the SEC.

The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference RodiSateEDONE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Radimgithe SEC at-1
800-SEG0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements an
other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risks and uncertainties set forth below, as well as other factors described elsewher&ramgitonReport on
Form 10-K or in other filings byuswith the SEC, could adversely affectr business, financial condition, results of operations and
thetrading price of our common stock. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not currently knosor tithat are not currently
believed bysto be material may also harour business operations and financial results. Because of the following faasorgll as
other factors affectingur financial condition and operating results, past financial performance should not be considered to be a
reliable indicator of future performance, and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate resalil®in future
periods.

Risks Related to Our Business
Internet radio is an emerging market, which makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects.

Internet radio is an emerging market and our current business and future raseeiifficult to evaluate. The market for
internet radio has undergone rapid and dramatic changes in its relatively short history and is subject to significgescidallan
result, the future revenue and income potential of our business is uncédaishould consider our business and prospects in light of
the risks and difficulties we encounter in this new and rapidly evolving market, which risks and difficulties includeptmamg

Aour relatively new, evolving and unproven business model;
Aour ability to retain our current listenership, build our listener base and increase listener hours;

Aour ability to effectively monetize listener hours, particularly with respect to listener hours on mobile devices, by growing
our sales of advertisininventory created from growing listener hours and developing compelling ad product solutions that
successfully deliver advertisers' messages across the range of our delivery platforms while maintaining our listener
experience in continually evolving masts;

Aour ability to attract new advertisers, retain existing advertisers and prove to advertisers that our advertising platform is
effective enough to justify a pricing structure that is profitable for us;

Aour ability to maintain relationships withakers of mobile devices, consumer electronic products and automobiles;

Aour operation under an evolving music industry licensing structure including statutory and consent decree licenses that m
change or cease to exist, which in turn may resultsig@ificant increase in our operating expenses; and

Aour ability to continue to secure the rights to music that attracts listeners to the service on fair and reasonable economic
terms.

Failure to successfully address these risks and difficulties &ed challenges associated with operating in a new and
emerging market, could inhibit the implementation of our business plan, significantly harm our financial condition, aesrdtsg
and liquidity and prevent us from achieving or sustaining profitgbil

We have incurred significant operating losses in the past and may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to be profitable

Since our inception in 2000, we have incurred significant net operating losses anbDeasmbe1, 2013, we had an
accunulated deficit of $66.6million. A key element of our strategy is to increase the number of listeners and listener hours to
increase our market penetration, including the number of listener hours on mobile and other connected devices. However, as ou
numker of listener hours increases, the royalties we pay for content acquisition also irloredséion, we have adopted a strategy
to invest in our operations in advance of, and to drive, future revenue growth. As a result of theseedrtess not irthe past
generated, and may not in the future generate, sufficient revenue from the sale of advertising and subscriptionsrtexfteses!

If we cannot successfully earn revenue at a rate that exceeds the operational costs associated witlistemeasedrs, we
may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. In addition, we expect to invest heavily in our operations to digpatiten
future growth. As a result of these factosg expect to incuannualnetlosses on &.S. GAAP basign the near term
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Our revenue increased rapidly in each oftthelve monthended Januar§l, 2007 through JanuaBy, 2013 and the eleven
months ended December 31, 20h8wever, walo notexpectto sustairour highrevenue growth ragan the future as a result of a
variety of factors, including increased competition and the maturation of our business, and we cannot assure you ¢mateowtlrev
continue to grow or will not decline. You should not consider our historical revenuéhgnowperating expenses as indicative of our
future performance. If revenue growthlower than our expectations, our operating expenses exceed our expectations, our financial
performance will be adversely affected. Further, if our future growth pathting performance fail to meet investor or analyst
expectations, it could have a materially negative effect on our stock price.

In addition, in our efforts to increase revenue as the number of listener hours has grown, we have expanded and expect to
cortinue to expand our sales force. If our hiring of additional sales personnel does not result in a sufficient increasejrireve
cost of this additional headcount will not be offset, which would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Our failure to convince advertisers of the benefits of our service in the future could harm our business.

Forthe eleven monthsndedDecembeB31, 2013 we derive82% of our revenue from the sale of advertising and expect to
continue to derive a substantial joraty of our revenue from the sale of advertising in the future. Our ability to attract and retain
advertisers, and ultimately to sell our advertising inventory to generate advertising revenue, depends on a number of factors
including:

A i ncr enansberofdistenen lours;

A keeping pace with changes in technology and our comp
A competing effectively for advertising dollars from of
A penetrating the market for | ocal radi o advertising,;
A

d etrating the value of advertisements to reach targeted audiences across all of our delivery platforms, including the
value of mobile digital advertising;

A continuing to dalveeidingmtfoannwhichicurnergly ircludesydelivenydisplay, audio and video
advertising products through multiple delivery channels, including traditional computers, mobile and other connected
devices; and

A coping with ad blocking technol ogi es t hebopedthaaocareblotkéhe n
display of our ads.

Our agreements with advertisers are generally ¢bar or may be terminated at any time by the advertiser. Advertisers that
are spending only a small amount of their overall advertising budget on our seayicgew advertising with us as experimental and
unproven and may leave us for competing alternatives at any time. We may never succeed in capturing a greater share of our
advertisers' core advertising spending, particularly if we are unable to achisoaliand market penetration necessary to
demonstrate the effectiveness of our advertising platforms, or if our advertising model proves ineffective or not cowtpstitive
compared to alternatives. Failure to demonstrate the value of our service vaaltidhreeduced spending by, or loss of, existing or
potential future advertisers, which would materially harm our revenue and business.

Advertising on mobile devices, such as smartphones, is an emerging phenomenon, and if we are unable to increasefrevenue
our advertising products delivered to mobile devices, our results of operations will be materially adversely affected.

Our number of listener hours on mobile devices has surpassed listener hours on traditional computers, and we expect that
trendwill continue. Our mobile listenership has experienced significant growth since we introduced the first mobile version of our
service in May2007. Listener hours on mobile and other connected devices constipyiexkimately54%, 69%, 77% an80% of
ourtotal listener houror the twelve months ended January 31, 2011, 2012 and 20X8rahdeleven months ended December 31,
2013 respectivelyWe expect thishift towards mobil¢o continue, though at a less rapid pace. Digital advertising on mobitede
is an emerging phenomenon, and the percentage of advertising spending allocated to digital advertising on mobileadesices is |
than that allocated to traditional online advertising. According to IDC, the percentage of U.S. advertising specdieg &t
advertising on mobile devices was less than 1% in 2010, compared to 13% for all online advertising. We must theref@e convinc
advertisers of the capabilities of mobile digital advertising opportunities so that they migrate their advertisingveaeh
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demographics and ad solutions that more effectively utilize mobile inventory.

We are still at an early stage of building our sales capability to penetrate local advertising markets, which we view as a ke
challenge in monetizing our listener hours, including listener hours on mobile and other connected devices. In additéon, whil
substantial amount of our revenue has traditionally been derived from display ads, some display ads may not be curreetlly optimi
for use on certain mobile or other connected devices. For example, standard display ads may nstltedxfell use on
smarphones due to the size of the device screen and may not be appropriate for smartphones connected to or integrated in
automobiles due to safety considerations. Further, some display ads may not be optimized to take advantage of the multimedia
capabilities éconnected devices. By contrast, audio ads are bsiityd for delivery on smartphones connected to or installed in
automobiles and across mobile and connected device platforms and video ads can be optimized for a variety of platfoemns. Howev
our audo and video advertising products are relatively new and have not been as widely accepted by advertisers as our traditional
display ads. In addition, the introduction of audio advertising places us in more direct competition with terrestréd radioy
advertisers that purchase audio ads focus their spending on terrestrial radio stations who traditionally have stronguiithecti
local advertisers.

We have plans that, if successfully implemented, would increase our number of listener hours oandaiither connected
devices, including efforts to expand the reach of our service by making it available on an increasing number of dewdses, such
smartphones and devices connected to or installed in automobiles. In order to effectively monetizeeaisddilistener hours, we
must, among other things, convince advertisers to migrate spending to nascent advertising markets, penetrate locglradslegtssin
and develop compelling ad product solutions. We cannot assure you that we will be ablditelgffaonetize inventory generated
by listeners using mobile and connected devices, or the time frame on which we may do so.

If our efforts to attract prospective listeners and to retain existing listeners are not successful, our growth prospect/amake
will be adversely affected.

Our ability to grow our business and generate advertising revenue depends on retaining and expanding our listener base a
increasing listener hours. We must convince prospective listeners of the benefits of our semigstiagdisteners of the continuing
value of our service. The more listener hours we stream, the more ad inventory we have to sell. Further, growth ierdomdisten
increases the size of demographic pools targeted by advertisers, which improJabtpuo aeliver advertising in a manner that
maximizes our advertising customers' return on investment and, ultimately, to demonstrate the effectiveness of oug advertisin
solutions and justify a pricing structure that is profitable for us. If we fagjt@ov our listener base and listener hours, particularly in
key demographics such as young adults, we will be unable to grow advertising revenue, and our business will be materially and
adversely affected.

Our ability to increase the number of our listenand listener hours will depend on effectively addressing a number of
challenges. We may fail to do so. Some of these challenges include:

Aproviding listeners with a consistent high quality, usiemdly and personalized experience;
Acontinuing tobuild our catalogs of music and comedy content that our listeners enjoy;
Acontinuing to innovate and keep pace with changes in technology and our competitors;

Amaintaining and building our relationships with makers of consumer products such asdevio#s, other consumer
electronic products and automobiles to make our service available through their praxdicts

Amaintainingpositive listener perception of our service while managintpad to optimize inventory utilization;

In addition, we havéistorically relied heavily on the success of viral marketing to expand consumer awareness of our
service. If we are unable to maintain or increase the efficacy of our viral marketing strategy, or if we otherwise ergaialtthe
reach of our marketgthrough use of more costly marketing campaigns, we may experience an increase in marketing expenses,
which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will be successful mgroaintaini
expanding our listendyase and failure to do so would materially reduce our revenue and adversely affect our business, operating
results and financial condition.

Further, although we use our number of registered users and our number of active users as indicators of our brand awarer
and the growth of our business, the number of registered users and number of active users exceeds the number of doaisie indivi
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who register for, or actively use, our service. We define registered users as the total number of accounts that havedferoarea
service and we define active users as the number of distinct registered users that have requested audio froswithisethesr

trailing 30days from the end of each calendar month. To establish an account, a person does not need to provide personally uniqu
information. For this reason a person may have multiple accounts. If the number of actual listeners dagsin@iréscrease in

listener hours, then our business may not grow as quickly as we expect, which may harm our business, operating reanttabnd fi
condition.

We have experienced rapid growth in both listener hours and advertising revenue. We dxpett to be able to sustain these
growth rates in the future and our business and operating results may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth rates in both listener hours and advertising revenue as a result of our growth strategy t
commit substantidinancial, operational and technical resources to build the Company. As we grow larger and increase our listener
base and usage, we expect it will become increasingly difficult to maintain the rate of growth we currently experiencgrdsitwe
could n@atively impact our stock price, our ability to hire and retain employees or harm our business in other ways.

If our efforts to attract and retain subscribers are not successful, our business may be adversely affected.

In theeleven monthended Decemberl3 2013 subscription revenue compris&8% of our total revenue, compared to 12%
(unaudited)n theelevenmonths ende®ecembeB1, 2012. The growth in subscribers and subscription reventieeitransition
period ended December 31, 2018 been drivesubstantially by the listener hour limit we instituted on mobile listeners in
March2013. In Septembe&t013, we removed the mobile listening lindte to other tools thate have instituted to moderate mobile
listener hour growth. As a result, we do nepect the growth rate we experienced in subscribetteirleven monthsnded
December 31, 201® continue. Furthermore, listeners who subscribed to Pandora One in response to the mobile listening limit may
choose to cancel their subscriptions going fimavand return to using our freeswpported service. As a result, we presently expect
subscriber growth to be lower than in corresponding prior year periods for the near term. Over the longer term, cucabtiitye
to attract subscribers will depd in part on our ability to consistently provide our subscribers with a quality experience through
Pandora One. If Pandora One subscribers do not perceive that offering to be of value, or if we introduce new or aajust existi
features or pricing in a maer that is not favorably received by them, we may not be able to attract and retain subscribers. Subscribe
may cancel their subscription to our service for many reasons, including a perception that they do not use the seaeritg, gh#fic
need tocut household expenses, competitive services provide a better value or experience or as a result in changes in prilfing, if an
our efforts to attract and retain subscribers are not successful, our business, operating results and financial cotditamvenagly
affected.

If we fail to accurately predict and play music or comedy content that our listeners enjoy, we may fail to retain existragteact
new listeners.

We believe that a key differentiating factor between the Pandora service anthogiiecontent providers is our ability to
predict music that our listeners will enjoy. Our personalized playlist generating system, based on the Music GenomelRnaject a
proprietary algorithms, is designed to enable us to predict listener musiepoefeand select music content tailored to our listeners'
individual music tastes. We have invested, and will continue to invest, significant resources in refining these techmwleyies;
we cannot assure you that such investments will yield antiFaeturn or that such refinements will be effective. The effectiveness
of our personalized playlist generating system depends in part on our ability to gather and effectively analyze largefdistenets
data and listener feedback and we have sarasce that we will continue to be successful in enticing listeners to give a thprobs
thumbsdown to enough songs for our database to effectively predict and select new and existing songs. In addition, our ability to
offer listeners songs that thegve not previously heard and impart a sense of discovery depends on our ability to acquire and
appropriately categorize additional tracks that will appeal to our listeners' diverse and changing tastes. While we tteare more
1,000,000 songs in our catajage must continuously identify and analyze additional tracks that our listeners will enjoy and we may
not effectively do so. Further, many of our competitors currently have larger catalogs than we offer and they may hectiveraneff
providing their Isteners with a more appealing listener experience.

We also providecomedycontenton Pandora, an offerinthatis designed to prediethatour listeners will enjoy using
technology similar to the technology that we use to generate personalized playlistsio The risks that apply to predicting our
listeners' musical tastes apply to comedy to an even greater extent, particularly as we lack experience with contamtnatisés, th
do not yet havesdargea set of data on listener preferences for conauty have a much smaller comedy catalog as compared to
music. Our ability to predict and select music or comedy content that our listeners enjoy is critical to the perceioédwahezvice
among listeners and failure to make accurate predictionsiveaivlersely affect our ability to attract and retain listeners, increase
listener hours and sell advertising.
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If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and operating results may suffer.

Our rapid growth has placed, and will continue to @Jaggnificant demands on our management and our operational and
financial infrastructure. In order to attain and maintain profitability, we will need to recruit, integrate and retairaskllle
experienced sales personnel who can demonstrate our vahasiion to advertisers and increase the monetization of listener hours,
particularly on mobile devices, by developing relationships with both national and local advertisers to convince theateto migr
advertising spending to online and mobile digitalertiging markets and utilize our advertising product solutions. Continued growth
could also strain our ability to maintain reliable service levels for our listeners, effectively monetize our listengehelop,and
improve our operational, financial @management controls, enhance our reporting systems and procedures and recruit, train and
retain highly skilled personnel. If our systems do not evolve to meet the increased demands placed on us by an incleasifig num
advertisers, we may also be uretd meet our obligations under advertising agreements with respect to the timing of our delivery of
advertising or other performance obligations. As our operations grow in size, scope and complexity, we will need torichprove a
upgrade our systems andrimtructure, which will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources.
If we fail to maintain the necessary level of discipline and efficiency and allocate limited resources effectively iaminatiog as it
grows, ou business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.

We face, and will continue to face, competition for both listener hours and advertising spending.
We compete with other content providers for listener

We compete for the time and attentwfiour listeners with other content providers on the basis of a number of factors,
including quality of experience, relevance, acceptancearzeptiorof contentquality, ease of use, price, accessibility, perception of
ad load, brand awareness and tapan.

Many of our competitors may leverage their existing infrastructure, brand recognition and content collections to augment
their services by offering competing internet radio features to provide listeners with more comprehensive music seswice deliv
choices. We face increasing competition for listeners from a growing variety of businesses that deliver audio mediarcogtent t
mobile phones and other wireless devi€&st competitors include Apple, Spotif¢lear ChannelSlacker Sirius XM, RDIO,

Microsoft, RhapsodyGoogle,Amazon YouTube Hulu andVEVO.

Our competitors include terrestrial radio, satellite radio mtelnetradio. Terrestrial radio providers offer their content for
free, are wellestablished and accessible to listeners and offer content, such as news, sports, traffic, weather and talk that we currer
do not offer. In addition, many terrestrial radio stasit)ave begun broadcasting digital signals, which provide dngttity audio
transmissionSatellite radio providemnay offer extensive and oftentimes exclusive news, comedy, sports and talk content, national
signal coverage andng-established automobilategration. In addition, terrestrial radio pays no royalties for its use of sound
recordings and satellite radio pays a much lower percentage of re@ebfein 2013 an®.5% in 2014, than internet radio providers
for use of sound recordings, giving bdzast and satellite radio companies a significant cost advaWagaso compete directly
with other emergingonrinteractiveinternetradio providers which may offer more extensive content libraries than we offer and some
of which may be accessed imationally.

On-demand audio media and entertainment which are purchased or available for free and playable on mobile devices,
automobiles and in the horpeovide listeners with an interactive experientbese forms of media may be purchased, downloaded
and owned such as iTunes audio files, MP3s, CDs, or accessed from subscription or free -aldmarahofferings by music
providers

We compete for the time and attention of our listeners with providers of other form$iofie and mobile entertainment.
To the extent existing or potential listeners choose to watch cable television, stream video-demmaod services or play interactive
video games on their horemtertainment system, computer or mobile phone rather than listen to the Pandora seseicentieat
services pose a competitive threat.

We believe that companies with a combination of financial resources, technical expertise and digital media experience alsc
pose a significant threat of developing competing internet radio and digital auelitagmhent technologies. For example, known
incumbents in the digital media space have recently launched competing services, and they may devote greater rescait@gethan w
available, have a more accelerated time frame for deployment and leverageittigig user base and proprietary technologies to
provide products and services that our listeners and advertisers may view as superior. Our current and future comgwsiters may
more weltestablished brand recognition, more established relationshipsnuiic publishing compani@sdconsumer product
manufacturers, greater financial, technical and other resources, more sophisticated technologies or more experienteig the ma
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both domestic and international, which we compete.

We also compete fdisteners on the basis of our presence and visibility as compared with other businesses and software th:
deliver audio and other content through the internet, mobile devices and consumer products. We face significant campetition f
listeners from compaas promoting their own digital music and content online or through application stores, including several large,
well-funded and seasoned participants in the digital media market. Search engines and mobile device application storessemnk respc
to searchgueries based on the popularity of a website or mobile application, as well as other factors that are outside of our control.
Additionally, mobile device application stores often offer users the ability to browse applications by various criteasttaich
number of downloads in a given time period, the length of time since a mobile app was released or updated, or the wdiiegory in
the application is placed. The websites and mobile applications of our competitors may rank higher than our websiRaaddra
app, and our app may be difficult to locate in mobile device application stores, which could draw potential listenesrawuary fr
service and toward those of our competitors. In addition, our competitors' products maydaeledeor integrad into consumer
electronics products or automobiles, creating an initial visibility advantage. If we are unable to compete succesistalhefar |
against other digital media providers by maintaining and increasing our presence and visibilityroajpéication stores and in
consumer electronics products and automobiles, our listener hours may fail to increase as expected or decline andingrsath&rti
may suffer.

To compete effectively, we must continue to invest significant resourcesdevbopment of our service to enhance the
user experience of our listeners. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully for listénars in the
against existing or new competitors, and failure to do so could result inflesisting or potential listeners, reduced revenue,
increased marketing expenses or diminished brand strength, any of which could harm our business.

We compete for advertising spending with other content providers.

We compete for a share of advertisergrall marketing budgets with other content providers on a variety of factors
including perceived return on investment, effectiveness and relevance of our advertising products, pricing structditg tind abil
deliver large volumes or precise types of tmtargeted demographid@ur competitors include Facebook, Google, MShoo!
ABC, CBS, FOX,NBC, The New York Times and the Wall Street Journal

Although advertisers are allocating an increasing amount of their overall marketing budgets to webilerbdased ads,
such spending lags behind growth in internet and mobile usage, and the market for online and mobile advertising is intensely
competitive. As a result, we compete for advertisers with a range of internet companies, including major antalsietgarch
engine companies and social media sites. Large internet companies with greater brand recognition have significant dwedbers of
sales personnel and substantial proprietary advertising inventory and web traffic that provide a sigoifipatitive advantage and
have a significant impact on pricing for internet advertising and web traffic. The trend toward consolidation among ddtiregma
and media companies may also affect pricing and availability of advertising inventory.

We alsoface significant competition for advertising dollars from terrestrial and, to a lesser extent, satellite radio providers.
As many of the advertisers we target have traditionally advertised on terrestrial radio and have less experience witidinterne
providers, they may be reluctant to spend for advertising on traditional computers, mobile or other connected device platforms.

In addition, terrestrial radio providers as well as other traditional media companies in television and print, cable television
channel providers, national newspapers and some regional newspapers enjoy a number of competitive advantages oveings in attra
advertisers, including large established audiences, longer operating histories, greater brand recognition and a groeéru these
internet.

In order to compete successfully for advertisers against new and existing competitors, we must continue to investrresource
developing and diversifying our advertisement platform, harnessing listener data and ultimately provifegtikerefss and
relevance of our advertising products. Failure to compete successfully against our current or future competitors couldsesiilt
current or potential advertisers or a reduced share of our advertisers' overall marketing budgeguMhitiversely affect our
pricing and margins, lower our revenue, increase our research and development and marketing expenses and prevent us from
achieving or maintaining profitability.

Our ability to increase the number of our listeners will dependpart on our ability to establish and maintain relationships with
automakers, automotive suppliers and consumer electronics manufacturers with products that integrate our service.
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A key element of our strategy to expand the reach of our service and inttreasenber of our listeners and listener hours is
to establish and maintain relationships with automakers, automotive suppliers and consumer electronics manufactuegratthat int
our service into and with their products. Working with certain tpiady distribution partners, we currently offer listeners the ability
to access our service through a variety of consumer electronics products used in the home and devices connectedddror install
automobiles. We intend to broaden our ability to reachtaddo nal | i steners, and increase cur
platforms and partners over time. However, reaching agreements with distribution partners can be time consuming, and once an
agreement is reached, product design cycles can be letfgifeyare not successful in maintaining existing and creating new
relationships, or if we encounter technological, content licensing or other impediments, our ability to grow our busthbss cou
adversely impacted.

Our existing agreements with partnerstie automobile and consumer electronics industries generally do not obligate those
partners taffer our service in their products. In addition, some automobile manufacturers or their supplier partners may terminate
their agreements with us for converdenOur business could be adversely affected if our automobile partners and consumer
electronics partners do not continue to provide access to our service or are unwilling to do so on terms acceptable tyeis. If
forced to amend the business termswf distribution agreements as a result of competitive pressure, our ability to maintain and
expand the reach of our service and increase listener hours would be adversely affected, which would reduce our reamamue and h
our operating results.

Additionally, we distribute our mobile applications via smartphone application download stores managed by Apple, Google,
Amazon, Palm and Research In Motion, or RIM, and such distribution is subject to an application developer license agesarhent i
case. Shouldry of these parties reject our app from their application store or amend the terms of their license in such a way that
inhibits our ability to distribute the Pandora apps via their application store, or negatively impacts our economiaistribution
our ability to increase listener hours and sell advertising would be adversely affected, which would reduce our revanmeoand h
operating results.

If we are unable to continue to make our technology compatible with the technologies of-garty distribution partners who
make our service available to our listeners through mobile devices, consumer electronic products and automobiles, we may not
remain competitive and our business may fail to grow or decline.

In order to deliver music everywhere disteners want to hear it, our service must be compatible with mobile, consumer
electronic, automobile and website technologies. Our service is accessible in part through-ékarelopad or thirgbarty developed
applications that hardware manufacturensoed in, and distribute through, their devices. Connected devices and their underlying
technology are constantly evolving. As internet connectivity of automobiles, mobile devices and other consumer eledtnotsic pro
expands and as new interm@nnectegroducts are introduced, we must constantly adapt our technology. It is difficult to keep pace
with the continual release of new devices and technological advances in digital media delivery and predict the problgms we ma
encounter in developing versiooour applications for these new devices and delivery channels. It may become increasingly
challenging to do so in the future. In particular, the technology used for streaming the Pandora service in automobfies eamai
early stage and may not resinita seamless customer experience. If automobile and consumer electronics makers fail to make
products that are compatible with our technology or we fail to adapt our technology to evolving requirements, ourgbilitpto
sustain the reach of our sare, increase listener hours and sell advertising could be adversely affected.

Consumer tastes and preferences can change in rapid and unpredictable ways and consumer acceptance of these produc
depends on the marketing, technical and other effortsrafparty manufacturers, which is beyond our control. If consumers fail to
accept the products of the companies with whom we partner or if we fail to establish relationships with makers of lesactiveg con
products, our business could be adversely affected

Unavailability of, or fluctuations in, thirdparty measurements of our audience may adversely affect our ability to grow advertising
revenue.

Selling ads, locally and nationally, requires that we demonstrate to advertisers that our service haslgelastaatial
usage. Thirgbarty measurements may not reflect our true listening audience and their underlying methodologies are subject to char
at any time. In addition, the methodologies we apply to measure the key metrics that we use to monitorgegndunanainess may
differ from the methodologies used by thjperty measurement service providers. For example, we calculate listener hours based on
the total bytes served for each track that is requested and served from our servers, as measuregdrbglanmalytics systems,
whether or not a listener listens to the entire track. By contrast, certaipéntgdmeasurement service providers may calculate and
report the number of listener hours using a clleaded approach, which measures time ethfseing listening sessions.
Measurement technologies for mobile and consumer electronic devices may be even less reliable in quantifying the ragetofind us
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our service, and it is not clear whether such technologies will integrate with our systemferonly and comprehensively reflect the
reach and usage of our service. While we have been working witkptitgd measurement service providers, these providers have not
yet developed uniform measurement systems that comprehensively measure thedreaalyenf our service. In order to

demonstrate to potential advertisers the benefits of our service, we must supplemgratrthindeasurement data with our internal
research, which may be perceived as less valuable thasptrigdnumbers. If such thdsparty measurement providers report lower
metrics than we do, or if there is wide variance among reported metrics, our ability to convince advertisers of theftmmefits

service could be adversely affected.

The lack of accurate crosplatform measurerants for internet radio and broadcast radio may adversely affect our ability to grow
advertising revenue.

Pandora has invested substantial resources to create accurafgatfos® measurements for internet radio and broadcast
radio in the major automatemediabuying platforms, creating a orstop shop that enables media buyers to compare internet radio
audience reach with terrestrial radio audience reach using traditional broadcast radio metrics. To achieve this reserit]ywelyu
on third partis such as Triton to quantify the reach and usage of our service and on media buying companies to provide Internet ra
metrics sideby-side with terrestrial radio metrics in mediaying platforms.

We have also partnered with media buying companies lioat siternet radio measurements alongside terrestrial metrics in
the media buying systems that media buyers use to purchase advertising. Media buying companies receive measurement metrics
third parties, such as Triton for internet radio and Arbitnoth ielsen for more traditional media like terrestrial radio and television.
Media buying companies may choose not to show, or may be prohibiteddparty measurement services that measure terrestrial
radio and other traditional media from showindemet radio metrics alongside traditional terrestrial metrics. Our ability to realize
our longterm potential will be significantly affected by our success in these advertising initiatives, and there is no assurdhce we w
achieve substantial penetratiohthese advertising markets.

Our success depends upon the continued acceptance of online advertising as an alternative or supplement to offline aglvertisin

The percentage of the advertising market allocated to online advertising lags the percerdagenoéiconline consumption
by a significant degree. Growth of our business will depend in large part on the reduction or elimination of this gaphbhgeen
and offline advertising spending, which may not happen in a way or to the extent that wéycexpeat. Many advertisers still have
limited experience with online advertising and may continue to devote significant portions of their advertising budgbto talr
offline advertising media. Accordingly, we continue to compete for advertisilteyslavith traditional media, including broadcast
radio.We believe that the continued growth and acceptance of our online advertising products will depend on the perceived
effectiveness and the acceptance of online advertising models generally, whitdide of our control. Any lack of growth in the
market for online advertising could result in reduced revenue or increased marketing expenses, which would harm our operating
results and financial condition.

We operate under and pay royalties pursuant tatatory licensesfor the reproduction and public performance of sound
recordings that could change or cease to exist, which would adversely affect our business.

We currently operate under statutory licesthat may change or cease to exist. We must pay performance rights royalties for
the digital audio transmission of sound recordings. Subject to our ongoing compliance with numerous statutory conditions and
regulatory requirements forren-interactivesenice, we are permitted to operater radio serviceinder federal statutory licersthat
allow the streaming in the U.S. of any sound recording lawfully released to the gingliservice does have a small number of
interactive components for which we alnt licenses directly from the rights holders, but we believe that these components do not
impact our status as a nameractive servicelVe are also permitted to make reproductions of sound recordings on computer servers
pursuant tdhesestatutory liceses designed to facilitate the making of transmissions. There is no guarant€atigmess will not
amend the Copyright Act to eliminate the availabilityttodse licenses or that we will continue to be eligible to operate under these
statutory licenses:or example, itopyright owners objected, aadcourtagreed, thatve operate afinteractive streaming service
that wemake reproductions of sound recordimgsg covered byhe statutory licens@r that thefunctionality or transmission methods
of ourserviceextend beyond what is allowed under the statutory licemseould be subject to significant liability for copyright
infringementand absent making technological changese our eligibility to operate under the statutory licehsehat eventwe
would have to negotiate license agreements with sound recording copyright owners individualyc@someing and expensive
undertaking that could jeopardize our ability to stream a significant percentage of the music currently in our librartand re
royalty costs that are prohibitively expensiier the eleven months ended Decenir2013 we incurred SoundExchange related
content acquisition costs represent#®6 of our total revenue for that period.
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As descr i bei@ontent, CipfhtsancthRowlieSound Recordingso, we current
the Pureplay Settlement, which proviadgates and termsf statutory licenses for the reproduction and public performance of sound
recordingsfor commercial webcasters through 2015, aredntend to continue tavail ourselves of this settlemahtough 2015We
presentlydo not know what rates will be available to us commencing Jariy2046 Therecan be no assurance that will be able
to reach a new agreement with SoundExchange for ratemfomercially reasonable ratdhe CRB which still has ratenaking
authority over us upon expiration of the Pureffiatlementhas consistently established royalty rates, including those estdlfiishe
the years 2011 through 2015 that would, if paid by us, consigigmificanty greater portion obur revenue and negatively impact
our ability to achieve and sustain profitabiliihere can be no assurance thatgéeperformance rates establishgcthe CRBfor
periods following 2015will not exceed the ratesurrentlypaid by usunder the Pureplay Settlemelitwe are unable to reach a new
agreement for commercially reasonable rates with SoundExchadghe CRB sets performance rdtagpost2015periods that
exceed the Pureplay Settlememiir content acquisition costs may significantly increase, which could materially harm our financial
condition and inhibit the implementation of our businessglan

We depend upon thirgbarty licenses for the right to publicly perform musical works and a change to these licenses could
materially increase our content acquisition costs.

Our content costs, in part, are comprised of the royalties we pay for the pufidicrzerce of musical works embodied in the
sound recordings that we streaftns d e s c r i b el €ontent, Cap@ighssiand Rayaltiddu s i ¢ a | o Yéourekhe dghts
to publicly perform musical works embodied in sound recordings over the internetbtaie licenses from or for the benefit of
copyright owners and pay royalties to copyright owners or their agents. Copyright owners of musical works are vigikactiimgpro
their rights and currently are seeking substantial increases in the rateatapgticthe public performance of such works. There is no
guarantee that the licenses available to us now will continue to be available in the future or that such licensesilaitlbatbtre
royalty rates associated with the current licenses. Ifre@iaable to secure and maintain rights to publicly perform musical works or
if we cannot do so on terms that are acceptable to us, our ability to perform music content to our listeners, and gooseqbédityl
to attract and retain both listeners amtVertisers, will be adversely impacted.

Copyright owners of musical works, typically, songwriters and music publishavs, traditionally relied oimtermediaries
known asperformingrights organizations to negotiate-salled "blanket” licenses with pgright users, collect royaltiasader such
licensesand distributehemto copyright ownersWe have obtained public performance licenses from, and pay license fees to, the
three majoperformingrights organizations in the United States: the AmericatieBpof Composers, Authors and Publishers
(RASCAPY), Broadcast Musicnc. (fiBMI0) and SESACInc. (ISESAQ).

We currently operate unden agreement with SESAG®yhich automatically renews yearly, histsubject to termination by
either party in accordance with its terms at the end of each yearlyTeSESAC rate is subject to small annual increases. Ehere
no guarantee tha&ither theicenseor the associated royalty rate available to us moth respect to SESA@ill be available to us in
the future.

We currently operate under interlienseswith each ofASCAP and BMI. ASCAP and BMI each are governed bgyamsent
decreewith theUnited State®epartment of Justic& he rates we pay ASCAP aBiMI can be established by either negotiation or
through a rate court proceeding conducted by the United $atiziet Court for theSouthern District of New YorkWe elected to
terminate our prior agreements with ASCAP as of Dece®bge2010 and with BMas of DecembeBl, 2012 because, among other
things, we believed that the royalty rates sought by ASCAP and BMI were in excess of rates paid by otmdavgestpetitors
broadcast radio statiommd satellite radio. Notwithstanding our terminatidthese agreements, the musical works administered by
each ofASCAP and BMI continued to be licensed to us pursuant to the provisions of their respective consentridreesber
2012, we filed a petitionequesting thathe ASCAPrate courdeterminereasonabldéicensefees and termfor the ASCAP consent
decredicense applicable to the period January 1, 2011 through December 31, 20052013, BMI filed a petitiorrequesting that
the BMI rate courtdeterminereasonabléicensefees and terms fahe BMI consent decrelicense applicable to the period January 1,
2013 through December 31, 20%trial to determine the royalty rates we will pay ASCAP concluded in February 2014. A trial date
has not been set for the BMI rate court proceedtiagh of thesproceedingdas been, and is expected to continue to be, protracted,
expensive and uncertain in outcome. It is likely that trial level outcomes will be appealed and the final resolutiorbmégoeh
for years In the event that these nett are resolved adversely to us, our content acquisition costs could increase significantly, which
would adversely affect our operating resultiere is no guarantee that final rates established by mutual agreement or by a rate court
determination woule@stablish royalty rates more favorable to us than those we previously paid pursuant our terminated agreements
with ASCAP and/or BMI or those that we pay pursuant to our interim arrangements with ASCAP and/6oBié eleven months
ended Decembe1, 2013, we incurred content acquisition costs for the public performance of musical works repre®éringur
total revenue for that period.
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We do not currently pay scalled "mechanical royalties" to music publishers for the reproduction and distribfitirsizal
works embodied iserver copies dransitory copies used to make streams audible to our listeners. Although not currently a matter of
dispute, if music publishers werergtreat fromthe publicly statedpositionof their trade associatidhatnorinteractive streaming
does not require the payment ainechanical royaikts, and a final judgment were entered by a court requiring that payment, our
royalty obligations could increase significantly, which would increase our operating expensegandriamsiness and financial
interestsWhile we would vigorously chahge such mechanical royalt&s not required by law, our challenge may be unsuccessful
and would in any case involve commitmentsabstantial time and resources. In addition, weastispoken word comedy content, for
which the underlying literary works are notrently entitled to eligibilityfor licensing by any performing rights organization in the
United StatesRather, pursuant to industeyide custom and practice, this contenpéerformed absent a specific license from any such
performing rights organization or individual rights owneshough royalties are paid to SoundExchange for the public performance
of the sound recordings in which such literary works are embotiiedecan be no assurance that timdustry custonwill not
change or that we will not otherwise become subject to additional licensing costs for spoken word comedy content imposed by
performing rights organizatiorar individual copyright owneri the futureor be subject to damages for copyright infringement.

Changes inthird-party licenses for the right to publicly perform musical worksayreduce the sound recordings that we perform
on the servicer materially increase our content acquisition costs

The number of works administered 8£SAC,ASCAP and BMI may fluctuate over time and may be subject to the
withdrawal of certain rights by individu8IESAC,ASCAP and BMiaffiliated music publishers for certain types of transmissions by
certain types of sgices, suchas Pandgra or t he | oss of repertory entirely anyn t hi
of SESAC,ASCAP or BMI. The decrease in the works licensed83B8SAC,ASCAP and BMI may require more direct licensing by
Pandora with indidual music publisherandindividual publishers not subject to a mandatory licensing obligatidrocould
withhold the rights to all of the musical works which they own or adminiBetsveen 2012nd 2014, certain publishers purported to
partially withdraw portions oftheir repertoires from each of ASCAP and BMth the intent that each performing rights organization
would be unable to license the withdrawn musical works to new media licensees such as Pangasitionis that these attempted
partialwithdrawals were a violation of the ASCAP and BMI consent deceeeswe moved for summary judgment in both the
ASCAP and BMI rate courts to clarify the issue

The ASCAP rate court granted aummarymotion in September 201&hich is subject to appealetermining that the
publishersd attempted partial withdrawals from ASCAPewoul d
ineffectual. The BMI rate court agreed thia¢ attempted partial withdrawals would place BMI in violatidfits consent decree;
however, it also determined that any publisher seeking to partially withdraw from BMI would be deemed to have totallywithdra
from BMI. Based on the ASCAP court decision, we believe that Pandora remains able to perform works that were the subject of su
attempted partialithdrawals.Based on the recent BMI court decision, however, there is some doubt regandimgnediate ability
underthe BMI license to perform works that have been the subject of attempted partial publisher withdrawals. From time to time, in
light of the legal uncertainties/e have entered into agreements with some purported withdrawing publishers to enable Pandora to
continue to perform those publishersé works while we conti

If music publishers effectuate withdrals of all or a portion of their catalogs from ASCAP, BMI or SESAC, we may ho
longer be able to obtain licenses for speiblishefs withdrawn catalogom ASCAP, BMI or SESACUnder these circumstances,
we would either need to enter into direct licensing arrangements with such music publishers or remove those musicahwueks fro
service, including any sound recordingsathich such musical works are embodied. Although we continue to be licensed by the
performing rights organizati@nit is unclear what specific effect a publisher's purported linoitgtospective completsithdrawal
of rights to public performances byeans of digital transmissions fronparforming rights organizatiowould have on us. If we are
unable to reach an agreement with respect to the repertoire of any music publisher which successfully withdraws @hoofatport
catalog(s) from aerforming rights organizatigror if we are forced to enter into direct licensing agreements with such publishers at
rates higher than those currently set byggorming rights organizationer higher than those set by the U.S. District Court having
supervsory authority over ASCAP and BMior the performance of musical works, or if there is uncertainty as to what rights are
administered by any particulperforming rights organizatioor publisherthe number of sound recordings that we perform on our
senice may be reducedur content acquisition costs may increasd our ability to retain and expand our listener base could be
adversely affectedny of whichcould adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Assertionsby third parties of violations under state law with respect to the public performance and reproduction-df9t2 sound
recordings could result in significant costs and substantially harm our business and operating results.

As descr i bei@ontet) Copyights and RoyatieSound Recor di ngso6, sound reco
Februaryl5, 1972 fall within the scope of federal copyright protection. Subject to our ongoing compliance with numerous federal
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statutory conditions and regulatory requirersefor a noninteractive service, we are permitted to operate our radio service under a
statutory license that allows the streaming in the U.S. of any such sound recording lawfully released to the publictand permi
make reproductions of such soumdardings on computer servers pursuant to a separate statutory license designed to facilitate the
making of such transmissions.

By contrast, protection of sound recordings created prior to FebtBat®72 ("prel972 sound recordings”) remains
governed bya patchwork of state statutory and common laws. Copyright owners-&B@&sound recordings have commenced
litigation against SiriuXM Radio Inc., alleging violations of numerous state statutory and common laws with respect to the
unauthorized reprodtion and public performance of pi®72 sound recordings, seeking, among other things, restitution,
disgorgement of profits, exemplary and punitive damages as well as injunctive relief prohibiting further violation affioghtc
owners' alleged exclig rights. Similar litigation could be brought against us for similar claims. If we are sued and found liable for
the violation of the exclusive rights of any gi872 sound recording copyright owners, then we could be subject to liability, the
amount ofwhich could be significant. If we are required to obtain licenses from individual sound recording copyright owners for the
reproduction and public performance of {11@72 sound recordings, then the time, effort and cost of securing such licenses directly
from all owners of sound recording used on our service could be significant and could harm our business and operatingaesults.
are required to obtain licenses for {11@72 sound recordings to avoid liability and are unable to secure such licensege timay
have to remove pf&972 sound recordings from our service, which could harm our ability to attract and retain users.

Our royalty payments are subject to audits and our royalty calculation methods involve significant estimates.

The royalties that @ pay to SoundExchange for the streaming of sound recordings are calculated using a per performance
rate. While we believe that the mechanisms we use to track performances are sufficient to ensure that we are acctirggepaepor
paying royalties, ouability to do so depends in part on our ability to maintain these mechanisms as new devices are introduced and
technologies evolve. Any understatement or overstatement of performances could result in our paying lower or highgoroyalties
SoundExchange #m we actually owed, which could in turn affect our financial condition and results of operations. SoundExchange
has the right to audit our royalty payments and in December 2013 informed us that it intends to audit our paymentarf®2iye
2011, a 2012.In addition,performing rights organizations and musical work copyright owners with whom we have entered into
direct licenses have or may have the riglaudit our royalty paymentsand any such audit could result in disputes over whether we
havepaid the proper royaltief. such a dispute were to occur, we could be required to pay additional royalties and audit fees. The
amounts involved could be material.

Ratecourt proceedings, thettempted and/gourported withdrawal of certain music pubkshor the rights to certain of their
works for certain purposdsom ASCAP and BMI, and our recent entry into a local marketing agreement to program-KXMiave
highlighted uncertainties for the royalty rathat we pay for the public performance of msasworks For example, we could be
liable for both increased royalty rates going forward and a potentialirwé royalty payments in excess of any interim royalties paid
for the period following Decemb@1, 2010 with respect to ASCAP and/or for tiezipd following DecembeBl1, 2012 with respect
to BMI. We record a liability for public performance royalties based on our best estimate of the amount owed to eacticorganiza
based on historical rates, thipairty evidence and legal developments. Fohep@rterly period, we evaluate our estimates to assess
the adequacy of recorded liabilities. If actual royalty rates differ from estimates, revisions to the estimated rolitiéty hiadoy be
required, which could materially affect our results of openat Any royalty audit could result in disputes over whether we have paid
the proper royalties.

Our inability to obtain accurate and comprehensive information to identify the ownership of a musical work may impact dity abi
to remove musical works or deease the number of performances of a particular musical work, subjecting us to potential
copyright infringement and difficulties in controlling content acquisition costs.

Comprehensive and accurate rightshold@rmation for the musical works that we publicly perfasmot presently
available. Without the ability to identify which composers, songwriters or publishers own or administer musical workbeit may
difficult to remove from our service musical worfics which we have not obtained a license, which may subgct significant
liability for copyright infringement

In addition, we have historically relied on the provisionblahket licenses froASCAP and BMI pursuant to certain
consent decrees, aifdhe consent decrees no longer provide for such blanket licenses, our lack of ownership information for the
musical works we stream may make it difficult to identify the appropriate rightsholders from which to obtain a licenseguitiich
also lead t@ reduction of musical works performed on our service, adversely impacting our ability to retain and expand our listener
base.
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Expansion of our operations into nomusic content, including our launch of comedy, subjects us to additional business, legal,
financial and competitive risks.

Expansion of our operations into delivery of Apmisic content stations involves numerous risks and challenges, including
increased capital requirements, new competitors and the need to develop new strategic relaGoosltipmto this new area may
require changes to our existing business model and cost structure, modifications to our infrastructure and exposugeltatosw re
and legal risks, including infringement liability, any of which may require expertise in wiadfave little or no experience. There is
no guarantee that we will be able to generate sufficient revenue from advertising sales associated with comedy ceetetieto off
costs of maintaining comedy stations or the royalties paid for such comedpst&tirther, we have established a reputation as an
online music provider and our ability to gain acceptance and listenership for comedy content stations, and thus ouataisitity t
advertisers on comedy stations, is not certain. Failure to obtaétaim rights to comedy content on acceptable terms, or at all, to
successfully monetize and generate revenues from such content, or to effectively manage the numerous risks and cbalbtedes ass
with such expansion could adversely affect our reveandsrofitability. To the extent we choose, in the future, to offer additional
types of content beyond music and comedy, such as news, talk and sports programming, we will be subject to many of these same
risks.

Loss of agreements with the makersrabbile devices, renegotiation of such agreements on less favorable terms or other actions
these third parties may take could harm our business.

Most of our agreements with makers of mobile operating systems and devices through which our service msgele acce
including Apple, RIM and Google, are shéetm or can be cancelled at any time with little or no prior notice or penalty. The loss of
these agreements, or the renegotiation of these agreements on less favorable economic or other terms, lveuhtmivt our
service and its attractiveness to advertisers. Some of these mobile device makers, including Apple, are now, or ntayen the fu
become, competitors of ours, and could stop allowing or supporting access to our service through theirfpradupetitive
reasons. Furthermore, because devices providing access to our service are not manufactured and sold by us, we caatizhtguarante
these companies will ensure that their devices perform reliably, and any faulty connection betweavitesamnd our service may
result in consumer dissatisfaction toward us, which could damage our brand.

We rely upon an agreement with DoubleClick, which is owned by Google, for delivering and monitoring our ads. Failure to renew
the agreement on favorablierms, or termination of the agreement, could adversely affect our business.

We use DoubleClick's askrving platform to deliver and monitor ads for our service. There can be no assurance that our
agreement with DoubleClick, which is owned by Google, béllextended or renewed upon expiration, that we will be able to extend
or renew our agreement with DoubleClick on terms and conditions favorable to us or that we could identify another altardative
to take its place. Our agreement with DoubleClidoalllows DoubleClick to terminate our relationship before the expiration of the
agreement on the occurrence of certain events, including material breach of the agreement by us, and to suspend thevision of
services if DoubleClick determines that oue s its service violates certain security, technology or content standards.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accurady an
timeliness of our financial reporting may be advelgaffected.

Pursuant to Sectiofi04 of the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, we are required to furnish a report by our management on our
internal control over financial reporting. The report contains, among other matters, an assessment of the effectve netes el
control over financial reporting as péarend including a statement as to whether or not our internal control over financial reporting
is effective. This assessment must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internaleofitrahcial reporting
identified by management.

While we have determined that our internal control over financial reporting was effectivBesenfibe1, 2013, as
indicated in our Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovendtadeportiig included in this TransitioReport on
Form10-K for theeleven monthendedDecembeB1, 2013, we must continue to monitor and assess our internal control over
financial reporting. If our management identifies one or more material weaknesseiteimal control over financial reporting and
such weakness remains uncorrected at-gedr we will be unable to assert such internal control is effective aepeailf we are
unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is igedtyearend or if our independent registered public
accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls or concludes that we éxdale a mat
weakness in our internal controls, we could lose investor confiderthe accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business and price of our common stock.
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Our business and prospects depend on the strength of our brand and failure to maintain and enhance odrwoald harm our
ability to expand our base of listeners, advertisers and other partners.

Maintaining and enhancing the "Pandora” brand is critical to expanding our base of listeners, advertisers and other partner
Maintaining and enhancing our brandivdépend largely on our ability to continue to develop and provide an innovative and high
quality experience for our listeners and attract advertisers, content owners and automobile, mobile device and other consumer
electronic product manufacturers to wavkkh us, which we may not do successfully.

Our brand may be impaired by a number of other factors, including service outages, data privacy and security issues, lister
perception of ad load and exploitation of our trademarks by others without permissadiition, if our partners fail to maintain high
standards for products that integrate our service, fail to display our trademarks on their products in breach of outsagitemen
them, or use our trademarks incorrectly or in an unauthorized manifi@eopartner with manufacturers of products that our listeners
reject, the strength of our brand could be adversely affected. Further, our efforts to achieve a more equitable royadtjostour
business may have an adverse impact on our relaifongth artists, which could in turn diminish the perception of our brand. In
addition, there is a risk that the word "Pandora" could become so commonly used that we lose protection for this trademark, w
could result in other people using the word "&ana" to refer to their own products, thus diminishing the strength of our brand.

We have not historicallincurred significant expensés establish and maintain our brand. However, if we are unable to
maintain the growth rate in the number of our listeneve may be required to expend greater resources on advertising, marketing and
other branebuilding efforts to preserve and enhance consumer awareness of our brand which would adversely affect our operating
results and may not be effective.

We depend okey personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain, attract and integrate qualified personnel, our
ability to develop and successfully grow our business could be harmed.

We believe that our future success is highly dependent on thébciotns of our executive officers as well as our ability to
attract and retain highly skilled and experienced sales, technical and other personnel. All of our employees, inclxdicgtivar e
officers, are free to terminate their employment relationslitip us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and industry may
be difficult to replace. Qualified individuals are in high demand, particularly in the digital media industry, and weunay inc
significant costs to attract them. In addition, cotitfws for qualified personnel is particularly intense in the Beancisco Bay Area,
where our headquarters are located. If we are unable to attract and retain our executive officers and key employees, lvee may n
able to achieve our strategic objectiyand our business could be harmed. In addition, we believe that our key executives have
developed highly successful and effective working relationships. If one or more of these individuals leave, we mayeti hélabl
integrate new executives omptieate the current dynamic and working relationships that have developed among our executive officers
and other key personnel, and our operations could suffer.

Interruptions or delays in service arising from our own systems or from our thpaty vendorscould impair the delivery of our
service and harm our business.

We rely on systems housed in our own facilities and upon-garty vendors, including bandwidth providers and data center
facilities located in California and Virginia, to enable listerterseceive our content in a dependable, timely and efficient manner. We
have experienced and expect to continue to experience periodic service interruptions and delays involving our own sifstems and
of our thirdparty vendors. We do not currently mi@im a live faitover capability that would allow us to switch our streaming
operations from one facility to another in the event of a service outage. Both our own facilities and those ofantyhishdors are
vulnerable to damage or interruptionriteearthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures and similar events. They
also are subject to bredks, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism, the failure of physical, administrative, technical and cyber
security measures, terroristts, natural disasters, human error, the financial insolvency of ouptritglvendors and other
unanticipated problems or events. The occurrence of any of these events could result in interruptions in our service and to
unauthorized access to, or adtéon of, the content and data contained on our systems and that theparttyindendors store and
deliver on our behalf.

We exercise no control over our thiparty vendors, which makes us vulnerable to any errors, interruptions, or delays in their
opeations. Any disruption in the services provided by these vendors could have significant adverse impacts on our business
reputation, customer relations and operating results. Upon expiration or termination of any of our agreements pattythgddors,
we may not be able to replace the services provided to us in a timely manner or on terms and conditions, includingedsraize le
cost, that are favorable to us, and a transition from one vendor to another vendor could subject us to operatiama delays
inefficiencies until the transition is complete.
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Our operating results may fluctuate, which makes our results difficult to predict and could cause our results to fall ghort o
expectations.

Our revenue and operating results could vary significariy fquarter to quarter and year to year because of a variety of
factors, many of which are outside our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on-sppemitdi basis may not be
meaningful. In addition to other risk factors discussedim'tRisk Factors" section, factors that may contribute to the variability of
our quarterly and annual results include:

A our ability to retain our current |istenership, bui |

A our a b ieffectively monetizemmmwbile listener hours by increasing the sale of mobile advertising inventory as the
number of listener hours on mobile devices grow;

A our ability to attract and retain exieféectiveegoughdojustifyi s e |
pricing structure that is profitable for us;

A our ability to effectively manage our growth;

Aour ability to secure licenses for sound recordings and musical works on favorable terms

A the effects tionfinourbusinessased compet.i

A our ability to keep pace with changes in technology
A interruptions in service, whether or not we arenmnresp:i
A cost s asefemding any lgightion indludingdntellectual property infringement litigation;

A our ability to pursue, and the timing of, entry into
this expansion;

A the i mpact iocbndipoasoeauraréveneecandrexpemses; and

A changes in government regulation affecting our busini

Seasonal variations in listener and advertising behavior may also cause fluctuations in our financial results. We expect to
experience some effeat$ seasonal trends in listener behavior dueigher advertising sales during the fourth quarter of each
calendar year due to greater advertiser demand during the holiday arddower advertising sales in the first three months of the
following calendr year due to reduced advertiser dem&xgenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical and discretionary in nature,
reflecting overall economic conditions, the economic prospects of specific advertisers or industries, budgeting can$trayitsya
paterns and a variety of other factors, many of which are outside our céntaoldition we expect to experience increased usage
during the fourth quarter of each calendar year due to the holiday season, and in the first quarter of each calendarigeesatssl
use of medisstreaming devices received as gifts during the holiday season. While we believe these seasonal trends have affected ¢
will continue to affect our quarterly results, our trajectory of rapid growth may have overshadowed tasdaetfate.

Failure to protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our business and operating results.

The success of our business depends, in part, on our ability to protect and enforce our trade secrets, trademarks, copyrigh
andpatents and all of our other intellectual property rights, including our intellectual property rights underlying the Sawiera
We attempt to protect our intellectual property under trade secret, trademark, copyright and patent law, and thrdight@ca
employee and thirgharty nondisclosure agreements, other contractual restrictions, technological measures and other methods. Thes
afford only limited protection. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights and trade seengtsorized parties may
attempt to copy aspects of our song selection technology or obtain and use our trade secrets and other confidentiad.informati
Moreover, policing our intellectual property rights is difficult, costly and may not always béedfec

We have filed, and may in the future file, patent applicateondswe have purchased a portfoliardernetradio-related
patents from a third partit is possible, however, that these innovations may not be protectable. In addition, given the cost, effort,
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risks and downside of obtaining patent protection, including the requirement to ultimately disclose the invention tativeepulaly
choose noto seek patent protection for certain innovations. However, such patent protection could later prove to be important to ou
business. Furthermore, there is always the possibility that our patent applications may not issue as granted pateataghat th
the protection gained will be insufficient or that an issued patent may be deemed invalid or unenforceable. We alsai@anaet gu
that any of our present or future patents or other intellectual property rights will not lapse or be invalidatedeaited, challenged
or abandoned, that our intellectual property rights will provide competitive advantages to us, that our ability to assshtctual
property rights against potential competitors or to settle current or future disputes wal limitéd by our relationships with third
parties, that any of our pending or future patent applications will have the coverage originally sought, that our inpetipettya
rights will be enforced in jurisdictions where competition may be intenséderenegal protection may be weak, or that we will not
lose the ability to assert our intellectual property rights against or to license our technology to others and coliestoroytder
payments.

We have registered "Pandora," "Music Genome Progaat"other marks as trademarks in the United States. Nevertheless,
competitors may adopt service names similar to ours, or purchase our trademarks and confusingly similar terms as keywords in
internet search engine advertising programs, thereby impedirapiity to build brand identity and possibly leading to confusion
among our listeners or advertising customers. In addition, there could be potential trade name or trademark infringmsnent clai
brought by owners of other registered trademarks or traderttzakincorporate variations of the term Pandora or our other
trademarks. Any claims or customer confusion related to our trademarks could damage our reputation and brand andysubstantiall
harm our business and operating results.

We currently own the wwwwandora.com internet domain name and various other related domain names. Domain names are
generally regulated by internet regulatory bodies. If we lose the ability to use a domain name in a particular countrg, bee wo
forced either to incur significamtdditional expenses to market our solutions within that country or to elect not to sell solutions in that
country. Either result could harm our business and operating results. The regulation of domain names in the Unitediistates and
foreign countries isubject to change. Regulatory bodies could establish additionrkwelpdomains, appoint additional domain
name registrars or modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we may not be able to acquire dnenaintain t
domain names thattilize our brand names in the United States or other countries in which we may conduct business in the future.

In order to protect our trade secrets and other confidential information, we rely in part on confidentiality agreemeuts with
employees, condtants and third parties with whom we have relationships. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure
of trade secrets and other confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of misappftriition o
secretor any unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets and other confidential information. In addition, others may independently
discover our trade secrets and confidential information, and in some such cases we might not be able to assert aat/rigids secr
against such parties. Costly and tio@nsuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our trade secret
rights and related confidentiality and nondisclosure provisions, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret pooteation
competitors' obtainment of our trade secrets or independent development of unpatented technology similar to ours or competing
technologies, could adversely affect our competitive business position.

Litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patard Trademark Office or other governmental authorities and administrative
bodies in the United States and abroad may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rightsyuo pateect
rights, trademarks, trade secrets and domaimes and to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Our
efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights may be ineffective and could result in substantial costs and divessiorces
and management time, each of efhcould substantially harm our operating results.

Although we take steps to protect our intellectual property as discussed above, there can be no assurance, however, that
changes in law will not be implemented, or changes in interpretation of such llhasowr, that will affect our ability to protect and
enforce our patents and other intellectual property, including as a result of the 2011 passage of the America Inv@@tk1Act of
which codifies several significant changes to the U.S. patent lawsikmemain subject to certain rul@aking and interpretation,
including changing from a "first to invent" to a "first inventor to file" system, limiting where a patentee may file aspatent
requiring the apportionment of patent damages, replacinderéace proceedings with derivation actions, and creating agparst
opposition process to challenge patents after they have issued.

Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violation by us of their intellectual property rights could résgiignificant
costs and substantially harm our business and operating results.

Internet, technology and media companies are frequently subject to litigation based on allegations of infringement,
misappropriation or other violations of intellectual propeights. Some internet, technology and media companies, including some
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of our competitors, own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets, which they may use tosssert clai
against usln addition, we encourage our artists tormsitlhcontent for our catalogue and we cannot be assured that artist
representations made in connection with such submissions accurately reflect the legal rights of sucfiltiothjeatties have

asserted, and may in the future assert, that we have iediimgsappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual property rights.
In addition, various federal and state laws and regulations govern the intellectual property and related rights asdosiated wi
recordings and musical works. Existing laavsl regulations are evolving and subject to different interpretations, and various federal
and state legislative or regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new laws or regulations. We cannot assure gaurtbat we
infringing or violating any thid-party intellectual property rights.

We cannot predict whether assertions of Hueadty intellectual property rights or any infringement or misappropriation
claims arising from such assertions will substantially harm our business and operating fegaléselforced to defend against any
infringement or misappropriation claims, we may be required to expend significant time and financial resources on ttd deéénse
claims, even if without merit, settled out of court, or determined in our favathdfarore, an adverse outcome of a dispute may
require us to pay damages, potentially including treble damages and attorneys' fees, if we are found to have willjai/anfrin
party's intellectual property; cease making, licensing or using solutiorar¢éhalleged to infringe or misappropriate the intellectual
property of others; expend additional development resources to redesign our solutions; enter into potentially unfaatinable roy
license agreements in order to obtain the right to use necésshnplogies, content, or materials; and to indemnify our partners and
other third parties. Royalty or licensing agreements, if required or desirable, may be unavailable on terms acceptaide &di,us,
and may require significant royalty payments ather expenditures. In additione do not carry patent liability insuranaay
lawsuits regarding intellectual property rights, regardless of their success, could be expensive to resolve and wihddidieeand
attention of our management andheical personnel.

We may require additional capital to pursue our business objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges or
unforeseen circumstances. If capital is not available to us, our business, operating results and financial conudiépive harmed.

We may require additional capital to operate or expand our business. In addition, some of our current or future strategic
initiatives, including entry into nemusic content channels, such as comedy, or international markets, may recgtmatgalb
additional capital resources before they begin to generate revenue. Additional funds may not be available when we oeed them,
terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. For example, our current credit facility contains restrictive covatiagt® relir capital
raising activities and other financial and operational matters, and any debt financing secured by us in the futureleedldtimo
restrictive covenants, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital padste business opportunities. In
addition, volatility in the credit markets may have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt financing. If weadie fnds
available to enhance our solutions, maintain the competitiveness of our technolggysarelbusiness opportunities, we may not be
able to service our existing listeners, acquire new listeners or attract or retain advertising customers, each of winiciit dudd
implementation of our business plan and materially harm our operasinidste

We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could divert our management's attention, result in additional ditution
our stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.

We may in the future seek to acaquor invest in businesses, products or technologies that we believe could complement or
expand our service, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of pot&itiahacqu
may divert the attention of managent and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable
acquisitions, whether or not they are consummated.

In addition, we havémited experience acquiring other businesses. If we acquire additional businessesy net ine able
to integrate the acquired personnel, operations and technologies successfully, or effectively manage the combinedlbwaigess fo
the acquisition. We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due tod faotaosy including:

A unanticipated costs or I|liabilities associated with t|
A incurr enc-elatedfcosts;c qui si ti on

A diversion of management's attention from other busi nu
Aregulatory uncertainties

A h @ pumexisting business relationships with business partners and advertisers as a result of the acquisition;
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A - harm to our brand and reputation;

A the potenti al |l oss of key employees;

A use of resources that as;endneeded in other parts of of
A

use of substanti al portions of our available cash to

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and
other intangible assets, which must bsegsed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions do not yield expected
returns, we may be required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment assessment process.

Acquisitions could also result in dilutiveduances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect
our operating results. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our operating results nouiiaessad
condition may suffer.

We face may risks associated with our lonterm plan to expand our operations outside of the United States, including difficulties
obtaining rights to publicly perform or communicate to the public music on favorable terms.

Expanding our operations into international markets is an element of odtelongtrategy. For example, we recently began
publicly performing and communicating to the public mesovell as deploying advertising to listenerdew Zealand, Australia
ard ther associated territories. However, offering our service outside of the United States involves numerous risks and challenges.
Most importantly, while United States copyright law provides a statutory licensing regime for the public performance of sound
recordings to listeners within the United States, there is no equivalent statutory licensing regime available outsitéted tBtes,
and many of the other licensing alternatives currently available in other countries are not commercially viadsidy Gbe licensing
terms offered by rights organizations and individual copyright owners in most countries outside the United States &ixelyrohibi
expensive. Addressing licensing structure and royalty rate issues in the United States requimakes/&ry substantial investments
of time, capital and other resources, and our business could have failed if such investments had not succeeded. Aeklréssiras th
in foreign jurisdictions may require a commensurate investment by us, and theeermaagdsurance that we would succeed or
achieve any return on this investment.

In addition, international expansion exposes us to other risks such as:

A the need to modify our t eadlish speakingyourtries)] s el | our sol ut |
At hddo latadize our service to foreign customers' preferences and customs;

A the need to conform our marketing and advertising ef/
but not limited to, the use of any personal informatidout our listeners;

A the need to amend existing agreements and to enter i
electronics manufacturers with products that integrate our service, and others in order to provide than $ergign
countries;

A difficulties in managing operations due to |l anguage |
infrastructure constraints and domestic laws regulating corporations that operate internationally;

A o u of experienke in marketing, and encouraging viral marketing growth without incurring significant marketing
expenses, in foreign countries;

A application of foreign |laws and regulations to us;
A fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

A r e d u effective pratectiomof our intellectual property rights in some countries; and
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A potential adverse tax consequences associated with f.

Furthermore, in most international markets, we would not be the first entrant, acwhtpetitors may be better positioned
than we are to succeed. In additiomjurisdictions where copyright protection has been insufficient to protect against widespread
music piracy, achieving market acceptance of our service may prove difficult as Weenged to convince listeners to stream our
service when they could otherwise download the same music for free. As a result of these obstacles, we may find it @ampossible
prohibitively expensive to enter or sustain our presence in foreign marketsqyoinemforeign markets could be delayed, which
could hinder our ability to grow our business.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

At Decembef1, 2013, we had federal net operating lcmsyforwards of approximately2$4.2 million and tax credit
carryforwards of approximatelys$3 million. At DecembeB31, 2013, we had state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$245.2 million and tax credit carryforwards of approximately &fBmillion. Under Section882 and 383 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the corporation's abilipréo use its
change net operating loss carryforwards and otheclpaiage déx attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset itspasge
income may be limited. In general, an "ownership change" will occur if there is a cumulative change in our ownerspgrdgnts
shareholders"” that exceedsfércentage points overalling threeyear period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. As a
result of prior equity issuances and other transactions in our stock, we have previously experienced "ownership changes" unde
section382 of the Code and comparable state aavsl We may also experience ownership changes in the future as a result of future
transactions in our stock. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use-chaimgye net operating loss carryforwards
or other prechange tax attributes bffset United States federal and state taxable income is subject to limitations.

We could be subject to additional income tax liabilities.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgnuéneidisireq
evaluating and estimating our worldwide income tax provision and accruals for these taxes. For example, our effectivedaldrat
be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower status\atak mggher than
anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory tax rates, by losses incurred in jurisdictions for which wblar®not a
realize the related tax benefit, by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, by changes in theofabuatieferred tax assets
and liabilities, or by changes in the relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations, principles and interpretaienalsd/
subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions, and such jurisdictions may assess atliiome tax liabilities against us.

If we cannot maintain our corporate culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork and focus that contribute
crucially to our business.

We believe that a critical component of our success is our corpatatee¢ which we believe fosters innovation, encourages
teamwork, cultivates creativity and promotes focus on execution. We have invested substantial time, energy and resddnegs in b
a highly collaborative team that works together effectively inrahierarchical environment designed to promote openness, honesty,
mutual respect and pursuit of common goals. As we continue to develop the infrastructure of a public company and grofindve may
it difficult to maintain these valuable aspects of our ooafe culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively impact our
future success, including our ability to attract and retain employees, encourage innovation and teamwork and effectivalgridcu
pursue our corporate objectives.

Federal, $¢ate and industry regulations as well as seffgulation related to privacy and data security concerns pose the threat of
lawsuits and other liability, require us to expend significant resources, and may hinder our ability and our advertiseity &bi
deliver relevant advertising.

We collect and utilize demographic and other information, including personally identifiable information, from and about our
listeners as they interact with our service. For example, to register for a Pandora account, exg fisishprovide the following
information: age, gender, zip code anthail address. Listeners must also provide their credit card or debit card numbers and other
billing information in connection with additional service offerings. We also may collemtniaition from our listeners when they
enter information on their profile page, post comments on other listeners' pages, use other community or social neaturdsng fe
that are part of our service, participate in polls or contests or sign up to regeaibreewsletters. Further, we and third parties use
tracking technologies, including "cookies" and related technologies, to help us manage and track our listeners' intéraotions
service and deliver relevant advertising. Third parties may, withauknowledge or consent, illegally obtain, transmit or utilize our
listeners' personally identifiable information, or data associated with particular users or devices.
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Various federal and state laws and regulations, as well as the laws of foreigntjorisdit which we may choose to
operate, govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of the data we receive from and about our ligheyegsolrs
and government bodies have increasingly scrutinized the ways in which companiesdariapilentities and data associated with
particular users or devices with data collected through the internet, and we expect such scrutiny to continue to ilegedse. Al
violations of laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security, andlamngnt claims, may expose us to potential liability
and may require us to expend significant resources in responding to and defending such allegations and claims. Clztigner alle
that we have violated laws and regulations relating to privacy aadsdaurity have resulted and could in the future result in negative
publicity and a loss of confidence in us by our listeners and our advertisers, and may subject us to fines by creditzcaed eowh
loss of our ability to accept credit and debit cpagments.

Existing privacyrelated laws and regulations are evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations, and various
federal and state legislative and regulatory bodies, as well as foreign legislative and regulatory bodies, mayrexpiaoideriact
new laws regarding privacy and data securétiated matters. We may find it necessary or desirable to joinegplifatory bodies or
other privacyrelated organizations that require compliance with their rules pertaining to privacy aseaaity. We also may be
bound by contractual obligations that limit our ability to collect, use, disclose and leverage listener data and tademie ealue
from it. New laws, amendments to oringerpretations of existing laws, rules of sefjultory bodies, industry standards and
contractual obligations, as well as changes in our listeners' expectations and demands regarding privacy and datawémitity, m
our ability to collect, use and disclose, and to leverage and derive economiceailstener data. We may also be required to
expend significant resources to adapt to these changes and to develop new ways to deliver relevant advertising orotidewise p
value to our advertisers. In particular, government regulators have progmsedt'track” mechanisms, and requirements that users
affirmatively "optin" to certain types of data collection that, if enacted into law or adopted knggalftory bodies or as part of
industry standards, could significantly hinder our ability toemiland use data relating to listeners. Restrictions on our ability to
collect, access and harness listener data, or to use or disclose listener data or any profiles that we develop using/sulchidat
turn limit our ability to stream personalized siticontent to our listeners and offer targeted advertising opportunities to our
advertising customers, each of which are critical to the success of our business.

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, expenses to comply with privacy and seeunitgres and protocols imposed
by law, regulation, selfegulatory bodies, industry standards and contractual obligations. Increased regulation of data utilization and
distribution practices, including selégulation and industry standards, could increasecost of operation, limit our ability to grow
our operations or otherwise adversely affect our business.

If our security systems are breached, we may face civil liability and public perception of our security measures could be
diminished, either of whib would negatively affect our ability to attract listeners and advertisers.

Techniques used to gain unauthorized access are constantly evolving, and we may be unable to anticipate or prevent
unauthorized access to data pertaining to our listeners, inglacidit card and debit card information and other personally
identifiable information. Like all internet services, our service, which is supported by our own systems and thospatyhird
vendors, is vulnerable to computer viruses, internet wormskdimeaphishing attacks, attempts to overload servers with defial
service, attempts to access our servers to stream music or acquire playlists, or other attacks and similar disruptianthfsdred
use of our and thirgharty vendor computer systenasy of which could lead to system interruptions, delays, or shutdowns, causing
loss of critical data or the unauthorized access to personally identifiable information. If an actual or perceived seeadtyof
occurs of our systems or a vendor's systewe may face civil liability and public perception of our security measures could be
diminished, either of which would negatively affect our ability to attract listeners, which in turn would harm our etittrictaand
retain advertisers. We also uld be required to expend significant resources to mitigate the breach of security and to address related
matters. Unauthorized access to music or playlists would potentially create additional royalty obligations with no corgespond
revenue.

We cannot cotrol the actions of third parties who may have access to the listener data we collect. The integration of the
Pandora service with applications provided by third parties represents a significant growth opportunity for us, but wéerayleo
to controlsuch third parties' use of listeners' data, ensure their compliance with the terms of our privacy policies, or prevent
unauthorized access to, or use or disclosure of, listener information, any of which could hinder or prevent our effesizagitto
growth opportunity. In addition, theseird-party vendors may become the victim of security breaches, or have practices that may
result in a breach and we may be responsible for tihdskparty acts or failures to act.

Any failure, or perceived failurday us to maintain the security of data relating to our listeners and employees, to comply
with our posted privacy policy, laws and regulations, rules ofregffilatory organizations, industry standards and contractual
provisions to which we may be bourtbuld result in the loss of confidence in us, or result in actions against us by governmental
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entities or others, all of which could result in litigation and financial losses, and could potentially cause us teress, lalvertisers,
revenue and empyees.

We are subject to a number of risks related to credit card and debit card payments we accept.

We accept payments exclusively through credit and debit card transactions. For credit and debit card payments, we pay
interchange and other fees, which niragrease over time. An increase in those fees would require us to either increase the prices we
charge for our products, which could cause us to lose subscribers and subscription revenue, or suffer an increasatingpur oper
expenses, either of whichud harm our operating results.

If we or any of our processing vendors have problems with our billing software, or the billing software malfunctions, it coul
have an adverse effect on our subscriber satisfaction and could cause one or more of theditajarcccompanies to disallow our
continued use of their payment products. In addition, if our billing software fails to work properly and, as a resuitptve do
automatically charge our subscribers' credit cards on a timely basis oatladire ag issues with financial insolvency of our third
party vendors or other unanticipated problems or evemtsould lose subscription revenue, which would harm our operating results.

We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, cestifregfuirements and rules governing electronic
funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it more difficult for us to comply. Currently, we arentmglédmae
steps that are required for us to become fully compliant with the Payaestindustry, or PCI, Data Security Standard, or PCI DSS,
a security standard with which companies that collect, store or transmit certain data regarding credit and debit ¢anold,derieidi
card holders and credit and debit card transactions angeddo comply. Our failure to comply fully with PCI DSS may violate
payment card association operating rules, federal and state laws and regulations and the terms of our contracts with payment
processors and merchant banks. Such failure to comply fattynaay subject us to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability, and
may result in the loss of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments. Further, there is no guarantee tH(E| &¥88 if
compliance is achieved, we will maintain PCI DSfnpliance or that such compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our
payment systems or the theft, loss, or misuse of data pertaining to credit and debit cards, credit and debit card boddérarahd
debit card transactions.

If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card transactions, we may face civil liability, diminished public perception
of our security measures and significantly higher credit-oalated costs, each of which could adversely affect our business, financial
condifon and results of operations.

If we are unable to maintain our chargeback rate or refund rates at acceptable levels, credit card and debit card companies
may increase our transaction fees or terminate their relationships with us. Any increases intaardradd debit card fees could
adversely affect our results of operations, particularly if we elect not to raise our rates for our service to offseae ifce
termination of our ability to process payments on any major credit or debit card significantly impair our ability to operate our
business.

If we fail to detect click fraud or other invalid clicks on ads, we could lose the confidence of our advertisers, which vaudd
our business to suffer.

Our business relies on delivering postiresults to our advertising customers. We are exposed to the risk of fraudulent and
other invalid clicks or conversions that advertisers may perceive as undesirable. A major source of invalid clicks kdrddresu
click fraud where a listener intentialty clicks on ads for reasons other than to access the underlying content of the ads. If fraudulent
or other malicious activity is perpetrated by others and we are unable to detect and prevent it, or if we choose tafiiao@gétir
in a way that adertisers find unsatisfactory, the affected advertisers may experience or perceive a reduced return on their investmer
in our advertising products, which could lead to dissatisfaction with our advertising programs, refusals to pay, refutglateman
withdrawal of future business. This could damage our brand and lead to a loss of advertisers and revenue.

Our success depends upon the continued acceptance of online advertising as an alternative or supplement to offline aglvertisin

The percentage of the adtisng market allocated to online advertising lags the percentage of consumer offline consumption
by a significant degree. Growth of our business will depend in large part on the reduction or elimination of this gaphbéhgeen
and offline advertisingmending, which may not happen. Many advertisers still have limited experience with online advertising and
may continue to devote significant portions of their advertising budgets to traditional, offline advertising media. Agceording
continue to competfor advertising dollars with traditional media, including broadcast radio.
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Although advertisers as a whole are spending an increasing amount of their overall advertising budget on online advertisin
we face a number of challenges in growing our advegdisevenue. We compete for advertising dollars with significantly larger and
more established online marketing and media companies such as Facebook, Google, MSN and Yahoo!. We believe that the contin
growth and acceptance of our online advertising petsiwill depend on the perceived effectiveness and the acceptance of online
advertising models generally, which is outside of our control. Any lack of growth in the market for online advertisimgstduia
reduced revenue or increased marketing es@gnwvhich would harm our operating results and financial condition.

Some of our services and technologies may use "open source" software, which may restrict how we use or distribute oupservice
require that we release the source code of certain ses/gject to those licenses.

Some of our services and technologies may incorporate software licensed uoakgdstopen source” licenses, including,
but not limited to, the GNU General Public License and the GNU Lesser General Public License. Sschimedicenses typically
require that source code subject to the license be made available to the public and that any modifications or derigatvepeork
source software continue to be licensed under open source licenses. Few courts have irgpgurstaatce licenses, and the manner
in which these licenses may be interpreted and enforced is therefore subject to some uncertainty. We rely on multgle softwar
programmers to design our proprietary technologies, and we do not exercise complet@eentha development efforts of our
programmers and we cannot be certain that our programmers have not incorporated open source software into our prdpdetary pro
and technologies or that they will not do so in the future. In the event that poftimmspyoprietary technology are determined to be
subject to an open source license, we could be required to publicly release the affected portions of our souremgioeerral or a
portion of our technologies, or otherwise be limited in the licensf our technologies, each of which could reduce or eliminate the
value of our services and technologies and materially and adversely affect our ability to sustain and grow our business.

Government regulation of the internet is evolving, and unfavoralllevelopments could have an adverse effect on our operating
results.

We are subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws specific to the internet. Such law:
and regulations cover taxation, user privacy, data collectidrpeotection, copyrights, electronic contracts, sales procedures,
automatic subscription renewals, credit card processing procedures, consumer protections, broadband internet accesgs and conte
restrictions. We cannot guarantee that we have been oreqfililly compliant in every jurisdiction, as it is not entirely clear how
existing laws and regulations governing issues such as privacy, taxation and consumer protection apply to the inteveet.dgloreo
internet commerce continues to evolve, increasdgmlation by federal, state and foreign agencies becomes more likely. The adoption
of any laws or regulations that adversely affect the popularity or growth in use of the internet, including laws lirertieg int
neutrality, could decrease listener dech&or our service offerings and increase our cost of doing business. Future regulations, or
changes in laws and regulations or their existing interpretations or applications, could also hinder our operatioitg| fizigibil
compliance costs and resirtadditional historical or future liabilities for us, resulting in adverse impacts on our business and our
operating results.

We could be adversely affected by regulatory restrictions on the use of mobile and other electronic devices in motor aetiicles
legal claims are possible from use of such devices while driving.

Regulatory and consumer agencies have increasingly focused on distraction to drivers that may be associated with use of
mobile and other devices in motor vehicles. In 2010, the U.S. Degatrtsh Transportation identified driver distraction as a top
priority, and inApril 2013, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (the "NHT SAg)easedew voluntary guidelines for
visuatmanual devices not related to the driving task thaireegrated into motor vehicles. NHTSA also intends to propose guidelines
applicable to aftemarket and portable devices that may be used in motor vehicles. Regulatory restrictions on how drivers and
passengers in motor vehicles may engage with devicedich our service is broadcast could inhibit our ability to increase listener
hours and generate ad revenue, which would harm our operating results. In addition, concerns over driver distractemafue to u
mobile and other electronic devices to accessservice in motor vehicles could result in litigation and negative publicity.

We rely on third parties to provide software and related services necessary for the operation of our business.

We incorporate and include thigghrty software into and with oapplications and service offerings and expect to continue
to do so. The operation of our applications and service offerings could be impaired if errors occur in-gatihsdftware that we
use. It may be more difficult for us to correct any defetthird-party software because the development and maintenance of the
software is not within our control. Accordingly, our business could be adversely affected in the event of any errasfiwainé
There can be no assurance that any tpady licensors will continue to make their software available to us on acceptable terms, to
invest the appropriate levels of resources in their software to maintain and enhance its capabilities, or to remaissinAmnysine
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impairment in our relationship with theshirdparty licensors could harm our ability to maintain and expand the reach of our service,
increase listener hours and sell advertising each of which could harm our operating results, cash flow and financral conditio

The impact of worldwide economizonditions, including the effect on advertising budgets and discretionary entertainment
spending behavior, may adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our financial condition is affected by worldwide economic conditions and their impaacthwentising spending. Expenditures
by advertisers generally tend to reflect overall economic conditions, and to the extent that the economy continues,to stagnat
reductions in spending by advertisers could have a serious adverse impact on our busiddi&mrinwe provide an entertainment
service, and payment for our Pandora One subscription service may be considered discretionary on the part of somertfanda curr
prospective subscribers or listeners who may choose to use a competing freeoseoviisten to Pandora without subscribing. To the
extent that overall economic conditions reduce spending on discretionary activities, our ability to retain current amebobtain
subscribers could be hindered, which could reduce our subscription rearhnegatively impact our business.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods and other natural catastrophic events and to interhyptiam
made problems such as computer viruses or terrorism.

Our systems and operations arenarhble to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods, power losses,
telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, acts of war, human errors;itseaksimilar events. For example, a significant natural
disaster, such as an earthquake, dir flood, could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial
condition, and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Our principabffixesutive
are located in the Sdfrancisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity. In addition, acts of terrorism could cause disruptions
in our business or the economy as a whole. Our servers may also be vulnerable to computer viruges aoicbakmilar disruptions
from unauthoized tampering with our computer systems, which could lead to interruptions, delays, loss of critical data or the
unauthorized disclosure of confidential customer data. We currently have very limited disaster recovery capability usitteesr b
interrution insurance may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. As we rely heavily on our servers, computer
and communications systems and the internet to conduct our business and provide high quality service to our listeners, such
disruptins could negatively impact our ability to run our business, result in loss of existing or potential listeners and adwektisers
increased maintenance costs, which would adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Risks Related toOwning Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and will likely continue to be volatile, and the value of an investment in our common stock niiag. decl
The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. In addhm®nisk factors

described in this section and elsewhere inThansitionReport on Form.0-K, factors that may cause the price of our common stock

to fluctuate include, but are not limited to:

Aour actual or anticipated operating performance hadperating performance of similar companies in the internet, radio or
digital media spaces;

Ageneral economic conditions and their impact on advertising spending;

Athe overall performance of the equity markets;

Athe number of shares of our commamck publicly owned and available for trading;
Athreatened or actual litigation;

Achanges in laws or regulations relating to our service;

Aany major change in our board of directors or management;

Apublicationof research reports about us or our industry or changes in recommendations or withdrawal of research coverag
by securities analysts; and

Asales or expected sales of shares of our common stock by us, and our officers, directors and significanestockhold

32



In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that often have been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of those affected companies. Securities class action litigation hasioftitutbden
against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company's secalities. Su
litigation, if instituted against us, could result in very substantial costs, divert our management's attention and eegbbecen our
business, operating results and financial condition.

If securities or industry analystsease publishingesearch, publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business or
make projections that exceed our actual results, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research atslthgpp@ecurities or industry analysts
publish about us or our business. If securities or industry analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate o
unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. Ifronecoof these analysts cease coverage of us or
fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price anuluraditay v
decline. Furthermore, such analysts publish their own projections regautiactual results. These projections may vary widely
from one another and may not accurately predict the results we actually achieve. Our stock price may decline if wetfail to me
securities and industry analysts' projections.

Our charter documents, Blaware law and certain terms of our music licensing arrangements could discourage takeover attempts
and lead to management entrenchment.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of the
Company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors that are not nominated leynthe curr
members of our board of directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. 3ibase provi
include:

Aa classified board of directors with thrgear staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the
membership of a majority of our board of directors;

Ano cumulative voting in the election of directors, whichits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director
candidates;

Athe ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those
shares, including preferences and voting rights, witetagkholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the
ownership of a hostile acquiror;

Athe exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of
directors or the resigtian, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on
our board of directors;

Aa prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special
meeting of our stockholders;

Athe requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, our
president, our secretary, or a majority vote of our board of directors, which could delay the abilitytickholders to
force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

Athe requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at lea¥886of the voting power of all of the then outstanding
shares of the voting stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our certificate of incorporation
relating to the issuance of preferred stock and management of our busioessylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an
acquiror to effect such amendments to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

Athe ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directars to tak
additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquiror to amend the bylaws ®dacilitat
unsolicited takeover attempt; and

Aadvance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to

propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from

conducting a solicitédn of proxies to elect the acquiror's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of
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us.

Section203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law governs us. These provisions may prohibit large stockholders, in
particular those owning 15% more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a certain period of time.
In addition, if we are acquired, certain terms of our music licensing arrangements, including favorable royalty ratesritiat cu
apply to us, mayot be available to an acquiror. These terms may discourage a potential acquiror from making an offer to buy us or
may reduce the price such a party may be willing to offer.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our piincipal executive offices are located in Oakland, California98.872squarefoot facility, under a lease expiring on
SeptembeB0, 2017. We also lease regional offices in Chicago, Illinois; Santa Monica, California; and New York, New York and
local saés offices at various locatiottsroughout the United Statasd inSydney,Australia

Our data centers alecated in colocation facilities operated Bguinix in San Jose, California adghburn, Virginia as well
as byDigital Realty Trust in Chicago, lllinois and are designed to be fault tolarahbperate at maximum uptin®ackup systems
in California and Virginia can be brought online in the event of a failure atthieedata centex These redundanciesnable &ult
tolerance and wilalsosupport our continued growth.

The data centers host the Pandora.com website and intranet applications that are used to manage the website content. Th
websites are designed to be fawolierant, with a collection of identicaleb servers connecting to an enterprise database. The design
also includes load balancers, firewalls and routers that connect the components and provide connections to the iriééiiretoT he
any individual component is not expected to affect theallvavailability of our website.

We believe that our current facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the near future and that suitable additional or
alternative space will be available on commercially reasonable terms to accommodate our foriesesabfgerations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The material set forth in Not&of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in IRdtem 8 of thisTransitionReport on
Form10-K is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on The New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbithéRdllowing table sets
forth the range of high and low intday sales prices per share of our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the
NYSE.
PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Our common stock has traded on the NYSE since 186n2011 . Our initial public offering was priced at $16.00 per share on
Junel4, 2011.

High Low
Eleven Months Ended December 31, 2013
First quarter (February 1, 2012\pril 30, 2013) $ 14.27 $ 11.36
Second quarter (May 1, 2013uly 31,2013) $ 20.52 $ 13.94
Third quarter (August 1, 201:30ctober 31, 2013) $ 28.17 $ 18.16
Fourth quarter (November 1, 204®ecember 31, 2013) $ 31.56 $ 25.67
Twelve Months Ended January 31, 2013
First quarte(February 1, 2012 April 30, 2012) $ 15.25 $ 7.83
Second quarter (May 1, 2012uly 31, 2012) $ 12.30 $ 8.50
Third quarter (August 1, 201:20ctober 31, 2012) $ 12.57 $ 7.38
Fourthquarter (November 1, 20t2anuary 31, 2013) $ 11.90 $ 7.08

(M) The fourth quarter of calendar 2013 {thbnths) included two months (November 1, 20f&cember 31, 2013) as a
result of the change in our fisgsarend

OnDecembeB], 2013, the closing price per share of our common stock as reported on the NYSEG\&E As of
DecembeRl, 2013, there were approximateRl holders of record of our common stock. The number of beneficial stockholders is
substantially greater than the number of holders of record because a large portion of our common stock is held thraggh broker
firms.

Dividend Policy

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and currently do not antjiigpéapaash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Instead, we intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings forpesratidimeamd
expansion of our business. Any future determination relating to dividend policy will be made at ibodisf our board of directors
and will depend on our future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, future prospects, applicable Delawichlaw,
provides that dividends are only payable out of surplus or current net profits, andaotbes that our board of directors deems
relevant. In addition, our credit facility restricts our ability to pay dividends. See "Management's Discussion and dridheaicial
Condition and Results of Operatién&iquidity and Capital Resourc@sOur Indetbednesd Credit Facility" and\ote 8 to our
financial statements included elsewhere in Th@nsitionReport on Form.0-K.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
For equity compensation plan information refer to ItE2rin Partll of this TransitionReport on Forni0-K.
Stock Price Performance Graph
This performance graph shall not be deemed to be "soliciting material” or "filed" or incorporated by reference in future

filings with the SEC, or subject to the liabilities of Sectidhof the ExchangAct except as shall be expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing.
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The following graph shows a comparison from JuBe2011 the date our common stock commenced trading on the NYSE
throughDecembeB1, 2013 of the total cumulative returhaur common stock with the total cumulative return of the New York
Stock Exchange Composite Index (the "NYA Composite"), the Global X Social Media Index (the "SOCL") and the SPDR Morgan
Stanley Technology MTK Index (the "MTK"). The figures representedwb@lssume an investment of $100 in our common stock at
the closing price of $17.42 on Jub®, 2011 and in the NYA Composite and MTK on the same date. The SOCL was modeled from
the inception of the index on Noveml#s, 2011. Data for the NYA Composite, MTand SOCL assume reinvestment of dividends.
The comparisons in the graph are historical and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future pefaunance
common stock.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return Among Pandora Media,Inc.,
New York Stock Exchange Composite Index, Global X Social Media Index and
SPDRMorgan Stanley Technology MTK Index
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial and other data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by
reference to, Iterid, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and our audited
consolidatd financial statements and the accompanying notes included elsewhere in this report. The consolidated statement of
operations and balance sheet data fotwledve monthended Januaryl, 2010 and2011 and the consolidated balance sheet data as
of Januaryd1,2010, 2011 and2012 were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this report. The
consolidated statements of operations @atéhe twelve monthended Januar§l, 202 and2013 for theeleven months ended
DecembeB1,2013and the consolidated balance sheet data damfary31, 2013andDecembeBl, 2013 were derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements included in this réffwetconsolidatedtatement of operations data for the eleven months
endedDecember 31, 2012 imaudited.

The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of financial rebaltsctieved in future periods.
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Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue:
Advertising $ 50,147 $ 119,333 $ 239,957 $ 375,218 $ 343,318 $ 489,340
Subscription and other 5,042 18,431 34,383 51,927 46,166 110,893
Total revenue 55,189 137,764 274,340 427,145 389,484 600,233

Cost of revenue:
Cost of revenue

o 32,946 69,357 148,708 258,748 230,731 314,866

acquisition costs

Cost of revenuedOt hemgpal) 11,559 22,759 32,019 28,740 41,844
Total cost of revenue 40,838 80,916 171,467 290,767 259,471 356,710
Gross profit 14,351 56,848 102,873 136,378 130,013 243,523
Operating Expenses:

Product development(1) 6,026 6,736 13,425 18,118 16,191 29,986

Sales and marketing(1) 17,426 36,250 65,010 107,715 94,566 169,774

General and administrative(1) 6,358 14,183 35,428 48,247 43,320 70,212
Total operating expenses 29,810 57,169 113,863 174,080 154,077 269,972
Loss from operations (15,459) (321) (10,990) (37,702) (24,064) (26,449)
Other expense, net (1,294) (1,309) (5,042) (441) (401) (474)
l‘:;;before provision for income (16,753) (1,630) (16,032) (38,143) (24,465) (26,923)
Income tax benefit (expense) 6] (134) (75) (5) 3 (94)
Net loss (16,753) (1,764) (16,107) (38,148) (24,462) (27,017)
Degmed dividend on Series D and (1,443) 5 5 5 5 5
Series E
Accretion of redeemable convertibli 5
preferred stock (218) (300) (110) ] )
Increase in cumulative dividends
payable upon conversion of 5

liquidation of redeemable convertibl
preferred stock (6,461) (8,978) (3,648) o) 6]
Net loss attributable to common
stockholders

$ (24,875) $ (11,042) $ (19,865) $ (38,148) $ (24,462) $ (27,017)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (3.84) % (1.03) $ (0.19) $ (0.23) $ (0.15) $ (0.15)

Weighted-average common shares
outstanding used in computing basit

and diluted net loss per share
6,482 10,761 105,955 168,294 167,956 180,968

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of revenue - Other $ 18 3 85 % 582 % 1,214  $ 1,109 $ 1,946
Product development 125 329 1,638 4,530 4,138 8,802
Sales and marketing 225 549 4,866 12,294 11,128 20,222
General and administrative 109 492 2,101 7,462 6,908 9,071
Total stock-based compensation $ 477 $ 1,455 $ 9,187 $ 25,500 $ 23,283 $ 40,041
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Key Metrics (unaudited):(2)

Twelve months ended

Eleven months ended

January 31, December 31,
2011 2012 2013 2012 2013
(in billions)
Listener hours 3.83 8.23 14.01 12.56 15.31
As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2011 2012 2013 2013
(in millions)
Active users 29.3 47.6 65.6 76.2
(2) Listener hours and active users are defingdarsection entitled "Key Metrics" in Item 7 of this Transition Report on Forik. 10
As of
As of January 31, December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2013 2013
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash andtash equivalents $ 16,164 $ 43,048 $ 44,126 $ 65725 $ 245,755

Working capital 18,929 36,715 89,218 82,644 362,777

Total assets 40,277 99,209 178,015 218,832 673,335

Preferred stock warrant liability 300 1,027 3 3 3

Convertible preferred stock 104,806 126,662 3 3 3

Common stock and additional paicapital 1 2,309 205,971 238,569 675,123

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (87,771) (83,010) 104,540 98,989 508,231
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ITEM 7.MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (MD&A)

You should read the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the
financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere ifréisitionReport on Forn10-K. The following discussion
contains foward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ substantially from those
referred to herein due to a number of factors, including but not limited to those discussed below and elsewhere irt,this repor
particularly in the sections entitled "Special Note Regarding Foralandking Statements and Industry Data" and "Risk Factors."

Wechangedour fiscal year to the calendar twelve months ending December 31, effective beginning with drelgdar
December 31, 2@L As a result, our current fiscperiodwas shortened from twelve months to an elawenth transition period
endedon December 31, 2018Vereported our third fiscal quarter as the three monghsledOctober 31, 2013, followed by a two
month transitiorperiodendedDecember 31, 2013.

In this MD&A, when financial results for the 2013 transition period are compared to financial results for the prior year
period, the resultsompare the elevemonth periodendedDecember 31, 2@lto the unaudited results for the eleven month period
endedDecember 31, 2@ When financial results for fiscal 2013 are compared to financial results for fiscal 2012, the results
compare our previous fiscal years, or the twaiventh periodendedlanuary31,2013and January 312012 The following tables
show the months included within the various comparison pehioosr MD&A:

Calendar 2013 (1imonth) Results Compared With Calendar 2012 (1-onth recast,

unaudited)
Calendar 2012 (1_3month recast, Calendar 2013 (1amonth)
unaudited)
February 2012 December 2012 February 2013 December 2013

Fiscal 2013 Results Compared With Fiscal 2012
2012 2013
February 2011 January 2012 February 2012 January 2013

Overview

Pandords the leader in internet radio in the United States, offering a personalized experience for each of our listeners
wherever and whenever they want to listen to radio on a wide range of smartphones, tablets, traditional computersiand car aud
systems, as &ll as a range of other interrainnected device3he majority of our listener hours occur on mobile devices, with the
majority of our revenue generated from advertising on these deWeekave pioneered a new form of railione that uses intrinsic
gualties of music to initially create stations and then adapts playlists mimeabased on the individual feedbackeath listener.

We offer local and national advertisers an opportunity to deliver targeted messages to our listeners using a coffnirtidion o
display and video advertisements.

As of DecembeB1, 2013, we hachore tharO0million registered users, which we define as the total number of accounts
that have been created for our service at period end. BeecgmbeB1, 2013 approximately75million registered users have
accessed Pandora through smartphones and tablets. Etevtbe monthendedDecembeB1, 2013, we streameidb.31billion hours
of radio and as dbecembeB1, 2013, we had6.2million active users during the prior 8@y period. According to September
2013 report by Triton, we have more thaimr@/%6 share of internet radio among the top 20 stations and networks in the United States.
Since we launched our free, advertissuypported radio service in 20Q%ur listeners hae created oves billion stations.

At the core of our service is our set of proprietary personalization technologies, including the Music Genome Project and ol
playlist generating algorithms. The Music Genome Project is a database of over 1,000,086 anigjyzed songs from over 100,000
artists, spanning over 500 genres andgeibres, which we develop one song at a time by evaluating and cataloging each song's
particular attributes. When a listener enters a single song, artist or genre to stamb atstaPandora service instantly generates a
station that plays music we think that listener will enjoy. Based on listener reactions to the songs we stream, widuttiger ta
station to match the listener's preferences in real time.
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We currently proide the Pandora service through two models:

A Free ServiceOur free service is advertisirgyipportecand allows listeners access to our music and comedy catalogs and
personalized playlist generating system across all of our delivery platforms.

A Pandora OnePandora One is provided to paying subscribers without any external advertising. Pandora One allows
listeners to have more daily skips and enjoy higher quality audio on supported devices.

A key element of our strategy is to make Pandora service availlebeverywhere that there is internet connectivity. To this
end, we make the Pandora service available through a variety of distribution channels. In addition to streaming oar service t
traditional computers, we have developed Pandora mobile device éppkoar "apps"” for smartphones suchRisone,Android and
theWindowsPhoneand the iPhone and for tablets including the iRadlAndroid tablets. We distribute those mobile apps free to
listeners via app storel addition,Pandora is now integrated with more tHa@00connected devices, including automobiles,
automotive aftermarket devices and consumer electronic devices.

RecentKey Events

In 2013, we integrated Pandora's advertising inventory into the leading radiobugitig platforms, Mediaocean and
STRATA, and we are continuing to enhance the ability of radio advertisers to purchase media on these plathrineorporag¢
Triton measurements of our radio audience reachlyjede with terrestrial radio metrics1 hddition, we have invested in building a
local sales force in major radio markdtsJanuary 2014, we began rolling outdar advertising solutions which will run across the
vehicle modelshat include a native Pandora integrati®wir integration intstandard radio medibuying processes and
measurementur in-car advertising solutiorsnd our local ad sales force are key elements of our strategy for expanded penetration o
the radio advertising market.

In June2013 we entered inta local marketing agreement to progrkXMZ -FM, a Rapid City, South Dakotrea terrestrial
radio stationIn addition, we entered into agreement tpurchasehe assets dXMZ -FM for a totalpurchase pricef
approximately$0.6 million in cash subjectto certain closing condition¥ heseagreementsveremade in part to allowsto qualify
for certainsettlement agreemertsncerning royalties for the public performance of musical wbetaeen th&kadio Music
Licensing Committe¢ i R M LatdtheAmerican Society of Composers, Authors and PublisfieisA S C and Brpadcast Music,
Inc.( ABMI 0) , .rCemspletordf thevkXMAFM acquisition is subject to various closing conditions. These include, but are
not limited to, regulatory approval by the leedl Communications Commissiddponcompletion of thee conditionswe expect to
account for tfs transactioras a business combination.

In September 2013ye completeda follow-on publicequity offering in whichwe sold an aggregate of 1507800 shares afur
common stockinclusive 0f2,730,000 shares sold pursuant to the exercise by the underwriters of an option to purchase additional
shares, at a public offering price of $25.00 per share. In addition, another 5,200,000 shares werdald Bglling stockholders.
Wereceived aggregate net proceeti$278.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses
from sales obur shares in the offeringVe did not receive any of the proceeds from thessafeshares by the selling stockholders.

We anticipate that we will use the net proceeds of this offering for general corporate purposes, including working cegjgahbnd
expenditures. In addition, we may use a portion of the net proceeds for pateqtisitions of businesses, products or technologies,
although we have no current agreements or understandings with respect to any such transactions.

Factors Affecting our Business Model

As our mobile listenership increases, we face new challenggimizing our advertising products for delivery on mobile
and other connected device platforms and monetizing inventory generated by listeners using these platforms. The nhobile digita
advertising market is at an early stage of development, with lowealbspending levels than traditional online advertising markets,
and faces technical challenges due to fragmented platforms and lack of standard audience measuremerm\pirealter share
of our listenership is consumed on mobile devices, ouityalil monetize increased mobile streaming may not keep up with our past
monetization of streaming to desktop computers and laptops.

In addition, our strategy includes increasing the number of ad campaigns for traditional computer, mobile and other
conneckd device platforms sold to local advertisers, placing us in more direct competition with broadcast radio for advertiser
spending, especially for audio advertisements. By contrast, historically our display advertisers have been predomoraaitly nati
brand. To successfully monetize our growing listener hours, we may have to convince a substantial base of local advegtisers of th
benefits of advertising on the Pandora service including demonstrating the effectiveness and relevance of our adwutisingrto
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in particular, audio advertising products, across the range of our delivery platforms.

Growth in our active users and distribution platforms has fueled a corresponding growth in listener hours. Our total number
of listener hours is a key driver fboth revenue generation opportunities and content acquisition costs, which are the largest
component of our expenses:

A R e vLestenerehours define the number of opportunities we have to sell advertisements, which we refer to as inventory
Our abilityto attract advertisers depends in large part on our ability to offer sufficient inventory within desired demographics
In turn, our ability to generate revenue depends on the extent to which we are able to sell the inventory we have.

A Cost @ ContBreAcquisitior Cost3.he number of sound recordings we transmit to users of the Pandora service,
as generally reflected by listener hours, drives substantially all of our content acquisition costs, although certain of our
licensing agreements require 1o pay fees for public performanagfamusical workdased on a percentage of revenue.

We pay royalties to the copyright owngos their agentsof each sound recording that we stream and to the copyright
owners, or their agentsof the musical worlkembodied irthat sound recording, subject to certain exclusiBayalties for sound
recordings are negotiated with and paid to record labels or to SoundExchpedeymingrights organizatiof A PRO0) aut ho
collect royalties on behalf of all sad recording copyright owners. Royalties for musical works are most often negotiated with and
paid to PROs such as ASCAP, BMI and SESAC or directly to publishing companies such as Sony/ATV. Royalties are calculated
based on the number of sound recordistgsamed, revenue earned or other usage meaBuwees.er t o A Musi cal Wor
Business section for more information.

We streanspoken word comedy contgmiirsuant to a federal statutory licenf® which the underlying literary works are
not currentlyentitled to eligibility for licensing by angerforming rights organizatiofor the United States. Rather, pursuant to
industrywide custom and practice, this content is performed absent a specific license from any such performing rights orgenization
the copyright owner of such contehtowever, we pay royalties to SoundExchangat&snegotiateetween representatives of
online music services and SoundExchafugehe right to stream this spoken word comedy content.

Given thecurrentroyalty structues in effecthrough 2015with respect to the public performance of sound recordings in the
United States, our content acquisition costs increase with each additional listener hour, regardless of whether wegeeasbte t
more revenue. As such, aaipility to achieve and sustain profitability and operating leverage depends on our ability to increase our
revenue per hour of streaming through increased advertising sales across all of our delivery platforms

Until September 2011, for listeners who aot subscribers, we limited usage of our advertisingported service on
traditional,desktop and laptoomputers to 4@ours per month. Listeners who reached this limit could continue to use this service
by paying $0.99 for the remainder of the montte included this revenue in subscription and other revenue. In September 2011, we
effectively eliminated the 4Bour per month listening cap eraditionalcomputers by increasing the cap to 3@@irs of listening per
month, which almost none of our listesexceed.

In March 2013, we instituted a 4@ur per month listening limit fasur advertisingsupporedservice orcertain mobile and
other connected devices. Listeners who reached this limit could continue to use our ad supported service on thesgdgviges by
$0.99 for the remainder of the month, could listen to our ad supported service drathitanalcomputers, or could purchase
Pandora One subscriptions for $36 per year or approximately $4 per affatiive September 2013, we eliminathis limit
primarily due to our improved ability to monetize mobienerhours. Although wédave removethe broa 40 hour per month
mobile listening limit, we have implemented other more precise measures that we believe will alldetter tmanagtehe growth of
content acquisition costs while minimizing adverse effects on the listener expehieaddition, whie the mobile listening limit
drove significant growth in subscribers, this growth has moderated subsequent to removing the limit.

As the volume of music we stream to listeners in the United States increases, our content acquisition costs will also increas
regardless of whether we are able to generate more revenue. In addition, we expect to invest heavily in our opergimms to sup
anticipated future growth. One of our key objectives is furthering our market leadership in internet radio, which weitlelieve
strengthen our brand and help us to convince advertisers to allocate spending towards our ad products. As such, @asdentral foc
adding, retaining and engaging listeners to build market share and grow our listener hours. For the foreseeable fyutecetivae ex
there will be periods during which our ability to monetize listener hours wilhédgndthe growth of listener has. As our business
matures, we expect that the growth rate in our listener hours will decline relative to our increased ability to mosetizBdists.

However, we expect to incmetlosses on &.S.GAAP basis in the near term.

Our current stratggis to leverage any improvements in grpssfit by investing in broadening distribution channels,
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developing innovative and scalable advertising products, increasing utilization of advertising inventory and buildieg éancsal
These investments are intended to drive further growth in our business through both increased listener hours ario mufitbtza
hours, and as a result we are targeting gradual improvements irpgabisever time. Our planned reinvestment of any resulting
incremental gross profit will continue to depress any growth of bottom line profitability. In this regard notedgect significant
improvements in our earninger shardor calendar year 2014 relative ¢alendar year 2013

Key Metrics

Listener Hours

The table below seforth ourlistener hours fothe twelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 201thaeteven months
ended December 32012and 20B.

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(in billions)
Listener hours 8.23 14.01 12.56 15.31

We track listener hours because it is a key indicator of the growth of our business. We calculate listehas&ouns the
total bytes served for each track that is requested and served from our servers, as measured by our internal anadytisetistem
or not a listener listens to the entire track. We believe this sbagad approach is the best methogypli forecast advertising
inventory given that advertisements are frequently served in between tracks and are often served upon triggers srwr as a list
clicking thumbsdown or choosing to skip a track. To the extent that {hardy measurements o$tener hours are not calculated
using a similar servepased approach, the thipdirty measurements may differ from our measurements.

Active Users

The table below seforth ouractive users as dfanuary3l, 2013andDecembeB31,2013

As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2013 2013
(in millions)
Active users 65.6 76.2

We track the number of active users as an additional indicator of the breadth of audience we are reaching at a given time,
which is particularlyimportant to potential advertiseisctive users are defined as the number of distinct registered users that have
requested audio from our servers within the trailingl&@s to the end of the final calendar month of the period. The number of active
usersmay overstate the number of unique indi&ts who actively use our service within a month as one individual may register for,
and use, multiple account#/e track the number of active users as an additional indicator of the breadth of audience weneg reac
at a given time, which is particularly important to potential advertisers.

AdvertisingRevenue pemhousand.istenerHours (flad RPM®)

The table below sets forth our ad RPMs, includitgl, traditional computer and mobile and other connectetekad
RPMsfor thetwelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 2013 aredaben months ended December 3112and2013

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
Total ad RPMs $ 32.22 $ 29.13 $ 29.60 $ 36.70
Traditional computer 62.68 53.73 54.51 56.79
Mobile and other connected devices 21.05 22.53 22.80 31.97
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We trackad RPMsdfor our free, advertising supported service because it is a key indicator of our ability to monetize
advertising inventory created by our listener hours. We focus on total ad &Pd4s all of our delivery platformAad
RPMscompare advertising revenuergerated in a given period to advertising supported listener hours in the period and we believe
such total ad RPM® be the central tofine indicator for evaluating the results of our monetization efforts. We calculate total ad
RPMsby dividing advertigig revenue we generate by the number of thousands of listener hours of our adJysssthgervice.

We also provide estimates of disaggregated ad RBMsur traditional computer platform as well as our mobile and other
connected devices platforms, which we calculate by dividing the estimated advertising revenue generated through tlee respectiv
platforms by the number of thousands of listener hours of our advertisisgd service delivered through such platforms. While we
believe that such disaggregasaiRPMsprovide directional insight for evaluating our efforts to monetize our service by platf@am, w
do not validate disaggregatad RPMsto the level of financial statement reporting. Such metrics should be seen as indicative only
and as management's best estimate. We continue to refine our systems and methodologies used tad®egdsizeross ar
delivery platforms. Periotb-period results should not be regarded as precise nor can they be relied upon as indicative of results for
future periods. In addition, as our business matures and in response to technological evolutions, we antitlieatel¢hant
indicators we monitor for evaluating our business may change.

Total ad RPMs

For the éeven months ended December 31,28fd 203, total ad RPMsncreased compared to the respective prior year
period as advertising sales growth outpacedjtb&th in advertisingsupportedistener hourgrimarily due to an increase in the
number of ads delivered, as well as an increase in the average pricelpexdatition, total ad RPMs benefited from measures we
implemented in 2013 to better managedhawth of mobile content acquisition costs while minimizing adverse effects on the listener
experience

For the tvelve months ended January 31, 2@hd 203, tal ad RPMslecreased compared to the respective prior year
period as the growth in listendrours outpaced the growth in advertising revenue, primarily dtieteffective elimination of the
40 hour per month listening cap on traditional computers in September 2011

Traditional computer ad RPMs

For the éeven months ended December 31,28fd 203, traditional computer ad RPMscreased compared to the
respective prior year peripds the growth itraditional computer revenumitpaced the growth in listenkours on that platform
primarily due to an increase in the average price per ad

For the twelve months ended January 31.2241d 203, traditional computer ad RPMiecreased compared to the
respective prior year peripés the growth in listener hours outpaced the growth in advertising revenue on that platform, primarily due
to the efective elimination of the 4Bour per month listening cap on traditional computers in September 2011.

Mobile and other connected device ad RPMs

For the eleven months ended December 312208 2038, mobile and other connected device ad RRdseased copared
to the respective prior year periags the growth imobile and other connected devices revesutpaced the growth iiistenerhours
on those platformprimarily due to an increase in the number of ads delivered and an increase in the average adite addition
mobile and other connected device ad RPMs benefited from measuiraplemented in 2013 to better manage the growth of mobile
content acquisition costs while minimizing adverse effects on the listener experience

For the twelvanonths ended January 31, 2Gdnd 20B, mobile and other connected device ad RRtseased compared to
the respective prior year pericas the growth immobile and connected devexevenueoutpaced the growth ilistenerhourson those
platforms The ircrease in RPMs for thevelve monthended Januaryl, 2013 was partially offset by the effect of direct advertising
sales to one customer which accounted for 9% of revenue fwéhee monthsended Januaryl, 2012.

Total Revenue peThousand.istenerHours (fitotal RPM®)

The table below sets forth our total RPMs, includintgl, traditional computer and mobile and other connectedeketotal
RPMsfor the twelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 2018areleven months ended DecemberZiiil,2and 20B.
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Twelve months ended Eleven months ended

January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
Total RPMs $ 33.32 $ 30.49 $ 30.88 $ 39.22
Traditional computer 58.84 52.36 52.98 56.01
Mobile and other connected devices 21.93 23.83 24.03 34.98

We track revenue per thousand listener hours for our service because it is a key indicator of our ability to monetize our
listener hours. We focus on total RPBtsoss all of our delivery platform$otal RPMscompareadvertising and subscription and
otherrevenue generated in a given periodiaial listener hours in the period. We calculate total RPyslividingthe totalrevenue
generatedy the number fathousands of listener hours

The estimates used to derive disaggregated total R&\sir traditional computer platform as well as our mobile and other
connected devices platforrase similar to those used to derive ad RPMs. difengesn total RPMsweredriven by the same factors
mentioned above within the discussion of ad RPMs.

LicensingCosts pefThousand.istenerHours fiLPMs0)

The table below sets forth our total LPMs the twelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 201tharaleven months
ended December 32012and 203B.

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
Total LPMs $ 18.06 $ 18.47 $ 18.30 $ 20.57

We track licensing costs per thousand listener handsanalyze them in combination with our analysis of RBdthey
providea key indicator of our profitabilit. PMs are relativelyixed licensing costs with scheduled annual rate increabi&h drive
period over period changes in LPMss such, the margin on our business varies principally with variances in ad RPMs and
subscription RPMsTotal LPMs inthe twehe months ended January 31, 2@h8the eleven months ended December 31, 2013
increased compared to the respective prior year periods primarily due to scheduled rate increases.
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Basis of Presentatiorand Results of Operations

Thefollowing tables present our results of operations for the periods indigategercentage of total reventibe period
to-period comparisons of results are not necessarily indicative of results for future periods.

Twelve months ended Eleven monthsended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)
Revenue:
Advertising 87 % 88 % 88 % 82 %
Subscription and other 13 12 12 18
Total revenue 100 100 100 100
Cost of revenue:
Cost of revenué Content acquisition costs 54 61 59 52
Cost of revenué Other(1) 8 7 7 7
Total cost of revenue 62 68 66 59
Gross profit 38 32 34 41
Operating expenses:
Product development(1) 5 4 4 5
Sales and marketing(1) 24 25 24 28
General and administrative(1) 13 11 11 12
Total operating expenses 42 40 39 45
Loss from operations 4) (8) 5) 4)
Other income (expense):
Interest income - - - -
Interest expense - - - -
Other expense, net 2) - - -
Loss before provision for income taxes (6) (8) 5) 4)
Income tax benefit (expense) - - 0 0
Net loss 6) % B % 5) % @4 %
(1) Includes stoclbased compensation as follows:
Cost of revenue Other 02 % 03 % 03 % 03 %
Product development 0.6 11 11 15
Sales and marketing 1.8 2.9 2.9 34
General and administrative 0.8 17 1.8 15
Revenue
Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Advertising $ 239,957 $ 375,218 $ 135,261 $ 343,318 $ 489,340 $ 146,022
Subscription and other 34,383 51,927 17,544 46,166 110,893 64,727
Total revenue $ 274,340 $ 427,145 $ 152,805 $ 389,484 $ 600,233 $ 210,749

AdvertisingrevenueWe generate advertising revenue primarily frandiq display and video advertising, which is typically
sold on a cosperthousand impressions, or CPM, basis. Advertising campaigns typically rangerfedotwelve months, and
advertisers generally pay us basedt@mumber of delivered impressions or satisfaction of other criteria, such as clitkoughs.
We also have arrangements with advertising agencies and brokers pursuant to which we provide the ability to sell advertising
inventory on our service directly to advertisers. We report revenue ureder arrangements net of amounts due to agencies and
brokers.For thetwelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 2013 arelehen months ended December 3112and2013
advertising revenue accounted &6, 88%, 88%{unauditedand82% of our total regnue respectivelyand we expect that
advertising will comprise a substantial majority of revenue for the foreseeable future.
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For the eleven months ended December 312 20inpared to 203, advertising revenuincreasedy $146.0million or
approximately40%, primarily due to arapproximate80% increase in the number of ads deliveraslwell as an increagethe
average price per ad approximatelyl0%. The increase in the number of ads delivered was primarily due to an increase in total
advertisinglistener hours adpproximatelyl5%, which increased the volume of advertising inventasywell asan increase in our
sales force yeanveryear to sell such advertising invent@ydan increase iad capacity per hour of approximately 10Phe
increase in the average price per ad was due printardlyangesn the sales distribution mix amongst direct sales, thady
network sales, and other channels and the platform mix between traditional computer and mobile and other connected devices.

For the twelve months ended January 31 22fiimpared to 203, advertisingrevenue increasduy $135.3million or
approximately 56%primarily due to an approximate Q% increase in the number of ads delivered, partially offset by a decrease in
theaverage price per ad of approximate@¥2due to fluctuations in the sales distribution mix amongst direct salesptrind
network sales, and other channels and the platform mix between traditional computer and mobile and other connecteledevices. T
increase in the number of ads delivered was primarily due to an increase in total listener hours of approximatdiici 06reased
the volume of advertising inventory, as well as an increase in our sales fores/gegear to sell such advertising invery.

Subscription anather revenueSubscriptiorand otherevenue is generatguimarily through the sale of a premium version
of the Pandora service which currently includes advertisefremticcesandhigher audio qualitpn the devices that supgbdt.
Subscription revenue derived from direct sales to listeners is recognized on a-Btraibhsis over the duration of the subscription
period although in certain cases described below subscription revenue is currently subject to deferrathpeespitation of refund
rights Forthetwelve months endedanuary 31, 2012 ar#D13 and theeleven months ended December 3112and2013
subscription and otheéevenue accountddr 13%, 12%, 12%unaudited)and18% of our total revenugespectively.

For the eleven months ended December 31, 2012 compared to @k3iion and other revenulecreasedy $64.7
million, or approximately 140%ue to an increase in the number of subscrjlpartially driven by the implementation of the mobile
listening limit, which was implemented in March 2013 and eliminated in September 2013.

For the twelve months ended January 31, 2012 compared to 20%8riptionand otherevenue increased $17illion, or
approximately 50%due to an increase in the number of subscribers.

DeferredrevenueOur deferred revenue consists principally of both prepaid but unrecognized subscription revenue and
advertising fees received or billed in advance ofddlévery or completion of the delivery of services. Deferred revenue is recognized
as revenue when the services are provided and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

In addition, sibscription revenue derived from sales through some mopéeating systems may be subject to refund or
cancellation terms which may affect the timing or amount of the subscription revenue recognition. When refund righés exist, w
recognize revenue when services have been provided and the rights lapse or Wwaee developed sufficient transaction history to
estimate a reserve. As of December 31, 2048 had defeed all revenue subject to certain refund rights totadimgroximately $4.2
million, as we do not currently have sufficient history to estimagserve. Wexpectthat we willhave sufficient history to estimate
thereserve in Januad014.As a resultour revenue results will include a otiene reversal of substantially all of the deferred revenue
related to the subsiption return reserve in tHast quarter of calendar year 2014

Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenueonsiss of cost of revenué content acquisition cosesdcost of revenué other. Our operating expenses
consist ofproduct developmensalesandmarketingandgeneral anddministrative costs. @3t of revenue content acquisition costs
are the most significant component of our costs and expenses followed by enrplajee costs, which include stebksed
compensation expenses. We expect to continue to hire additionalyee®in order to support our anticipated growth and our
product development initiatives. In any particular period, the timing of additional hires could materially affsxttmfrrevenue and
operating expenses, both in absolute dollars and as a tsyeai revenue. We anticipate that our costs and expenses will increase in
the future.
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Cost ofrevenud Contentacquisitioncosts

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)

Cost of revenue Content acquisition costs $
148,708 $ 258,748 $ 110,040 $ 230,731 $ 314,866 $ 84,135

Contentacquisitioncostsas apercentageof advertisingrevenue by fatform

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)
Traditional computer 29 % 35 % 34 % 34 %
Mobile and other connected devices 78 % 7% % 75 % 58 %

Cost of revenu@ Content acquisition cosgsincipally consist of royalties paid for streaming music or other content to our
listeners. Royalties airrentlycalculated using negotiated rates documented in agreements and are based on both percentage of
revenue and listengnmetrics.The majority of our royalties are payable based on a fepyt#ic performance of a sound recording
while in other cases our royalties are payable based on a percentage of our revdorrawda éhat involves aombinationof per
performanceand revenue metricEor royalty arrangements under negotiation, we accrue for estimated royalties based on the
available facts and circumstances and adjust these estimates as more information becomes available. The resultzeflany final
negotiation may be materially different from our estimates.

We estimate our advertisifigased content acquisition costs attributable to specific platforms by allocating costs from
royalties payable based on a fee per track to the platform for wiadhack is served and by allocating costs from royalties based on
a percentage of our revenue in accordance with the overall percentage of our revenue estimated to be attributablédomssich pla
While we believe that comparing disaggregated contamqiiaition costs and revenues across our delivery platforms may provide
directional insight for evaluating our efforts to monetize the rapid adoption of our service on mobile and other convieetgdvde
do not validate such disaggregated metrics tdethe of financial statement reporting. We continue to refine our systems and
methodologies used to categorize such metrics across our delivery platforms and theogeiamt comparisons of results are not
necessarily indicative of results for futyveriods.

For the eleven months ended Decembei2812 compared to 203, content aquisition costs increased by $84xlllion due
to increased listener hoytsgher royalty rates due to scheduled rate increasemargisedevenue. Content acquisition costs as a
percentage of total revendecreasedrom 59% (unaudited) to 32, primarily due toan increase in advertising sales émel effect of
measures we have adoptedrtanagehe growth of mobile content acquisition cogthile minimizing adverse effects on the listener
experiencepartially offset by scheduled rate increagestimated content acquisition costs as a percentage afittegtisingrevenue
attributable to our traditional computer platfomwere 34% in bothite eleven months ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, primarily
due to increases in advertising sales on that platform that were offset by schmathuledreases. Estimated content acquisition costs
as a percentage df@éadvertisingrevenue attributable tour mobile and other connected devices platforms decréasad5%
(unaudited) tb8%, primarily due to an increase in advertising sales on tptetéormsandthe effect oimeasures we have adopted to
managehe growth of mobile content acquisition costhile minimizing adverse effects on the listener experigrexially offset by
scheduled rate increases.

For the twelve months ended JanuaryZ112 compared to 203, content acquisition costs increadeg$110.0million due
to increased royalty payments driven by increased listener hours and higher royalty rates due to scheduled rate inkiglases and
revenue. Content acquisition costs as a percentage of total revenue infrazasetlo to 61%primarily due toincreased listener
hours higher royalty rates due to scheduled rate increasemarghsedevenue Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage
of the revenue attributable to our traditional computer platform incréemad29% to 35%primarily due toan increase in listener
hours as a result of tleffective elimination of the 4Bour per month listening cap on traditional compugerd scheduledate
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increases. Estimated content acquisition costs as a percentage of the revenudlattidbotia mobile and other connected devices
platforms decreasddom 78% to 76%primarily due to the an increase in advertising sales on those platforms.

Cost ofrevenué other

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Cost of revenué Other $ 22,759 $ 32,019 $ 9,260 $ 28,740 $ 41,844 $ 13,104

Cost ofrevenu@ Otherconsistsprimarily of hosting, infrastructure and the employetatedcosts associated with
supporting those functions. Hosting costs consist of content streaming, maintaining our internet radio service anchdreartimngga
advertisements through thigghrty ad servers. We make payments to thiaty ad servers for thgeriod the advertising impressions
or click-through actions are delivered or occur, and accordingly, we record this as a cost of revenue in the related period.

For the eleven months ended December 312 206fnpared to 203, cost of revenue increaséy $13.1million primarily due
to an$8.5million increasen ad serving costand hosting costdriven by anincrease in advertising revenaed listener hours, £.8
million increase in employerelated costdlriven by an increase in headcoand a$2.1 million increase innfrastructure costs
primarily driven by an increase in listener hours

For the twelve months ended January 31 22fiimpared to 203, costof revenue increasewy $9.3million due to a
$5.3million increase irad serving and costs ahdsting services costliven by an increase in advertising revenue and listener,hours
a $2.0million increase in employerelatedcostsdriven by a increase in headcount aa&1.8million increase innfrastructure costs

primarily driven by an increase listener hours

Grossprofit
Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)

(in thousands) (in thousands)
Total revenue $ 274340 $ 427145 $ 152805 $ 380484  $ 600233  § 210,749
Total cost of revenue 171,467 290,767 119,300 259,471 356,710 97,239
Gross profit $ 102,873 $ 136,378 $ 33,505 $ 130,013 $ 243,523 $ 113,510
Gross margin 37% 32% 33% 41%

For the eleven months ended December 31 22fimpared to 203, gross profit increaseby $113.5 millionprimarily due to
an increase in advertising revenue as a resahafcreasé the number of ads delivered. Grasargin increased from 33%
(unaudited) to 4% as thegrowthin advertising revenue outpaced the growthantent acquisition cospgimarily due to an increase
in the number of ads delivered and the effect of the measures we adopted to manage thé gralitd content acquisition costs

For the twelve months ended January 31 22fiimpared to 203, gross profit increasely $33.5 million primarily due to an
increase in advertising revenue as a resudinahcreasé the number of ads delivered. Graosargin decreased from 37% to 328
thegrowthin content acquisition costs outpaced the growth in revpringrily due to an increase listener hoursn connection
with the removal of the 40 hotnaditional computelistening capn September 2011

Productdevelopment

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Product development $ 13,425 $ 18,118 $ 4,693 $ 16,191 $ 29,986 $ 13,795
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Productdevelopmentonsist primarily of employeerelatedcosts, including salaries and benefits related to employees in
software engineering, music analysis and product management deparfawiitissrelated expensemformation technology and
costs associated with supporting consumer connatgeide manufacturers in implementing our service in their products. We incur
product development expenses primarily for improvements to our website and theaPappatevelopment of new advertising
products and development and enhancement of our personalized station(s) generating system. We have generally expensed prodt
development as incurred. Certain website development and internal use software develogimemycbe capitalized when specific
criteria are met. In such cases, the capitalized amounts are amortized over the useful life of the related applicagaappfication
is placed in service. We intend to continue making significant investmeaév&hoping new products and enhancing the functionality
of our existing products.

For the eleven months ended December 312 20npared to 203, productdevelopment expenses increabgd$13.8
million primarily due to a $3.2million increase in employeeelatedcostsprimarily driven by an increase in headcount.

For the twelve months ended January 31 22fiimpared to 203, product development expenses incredsg#i4.7million
primarily due toa $5.0million increase iremgoyeerelatedcostsprimarily driven by a increase in headcount

Salesand marketing

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 65,010 $ 107,715 $ 42,705 $ 94,566 $ 169,774 $ 75,208

Salesandmarketingconsiss primarily of employeerelatedcosts including salaries, commissions and benefits related to
employees in salesales support antarketing departments. In additi@ales and marketirgxpenses include transawtiprocessing
feesfor subscription purchase® mobile platformsexternal sales and marketing expenses such asptiitgd marketing, branding,
advertising and public relations expenses, facilitedated expensemfrastructure costand credit carddes We expecsales and
marketingexpenses to increase as we hire additional personnel to build out our saekearsipport teams.

For the eleven months ended December 312 20tnpared to 203, sales and marketing expenses incredsefi75.2million
primarily due to a 4.9million increase in employerelated costs and &% million increase in facilities and equipment expenses,
both of which were primarilgriven by an increase in headcount,163 million increase in transaction procesgifees for
subscription purchases on mobile platforms anfé.aillion increase in marketing expenses.

For the twelve months ended January 31 22fiimpared to 203, salesandmarketingexpenses increaséy $42.7million
primarily due toa $33.2milli onincrease iremployeerelated costand a $3.0 million increase in facilities and equipment expenses
both of which were primarilgriven byanincrease in headcouranda $4.8million increase inransaction processing fees for
subscription purchases anobile platforms

General andadministrative

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
General and administrative $ 35,428 $ 48,247 $ 12,819 $ 43,320 $ 70,212 $ 26,892

General and@dministrativeconsists primarily oemployeerelatedcosts consisting of salaries and benefits for finance,
accounting, legal, internal information technology and other administrative personnel. In addition, general and admengteatbes
include professional services costs for outside legal and accouetinges, facilitiesrelated expenses aifrastructure costdVe
expectgeneral and administratiwxpenses to increase in future periods as we continue to invest in corporate infrastructure, including
adding personnel and systems to our administrativetions.

For the eleven months ended December 312 26inpared to 208, generahnd administrative expenses increasg$26.9
million primarily due to a $11.7million increase in professional fees$L0.5million increase in employeeelated costs and 2%
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million increase in facilities and equipment expensesh of which wergrimarily driven by an increase in headcount

For the tvelve months ended January 31, 2@dmpared to 203, general and administrative expenses increased
$12.8million primarily due to a $10.#illion increase in employerelatedcostsand a $1.4 million increase in facilities and
equipment expenses, both of which were primatilyen byan increase in headant.

Income tax benefit (expense)

We have historically been subject to income taxes only in the United States. As we expand our operations outside the Unit
States, we have become subject to taxation based on the foreign statutory rates and varteffeate could fluctuate accordingly.

Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities am determ
based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assdiitewuEing enacted statutory income tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are estadrtished w
necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected teduk real

Otherincome éxpensg

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 $ Change 2012 2013 $ Change
(unaudited)
(in thousands) (in thousands)
Interest income $ 59 $ 95 $ 36 $ 88 $ 96 $ 8
Interest expense (616) (535) 81 (486) (554) (68)
Other expense, net (4,485) (€] 4,484 (3) (16) (13)
Total other expense $ (5,042 $ (441) $  46a $ (401) $ (474) $ (73)

For the eleven months ended December 312 20inpared to 203, total other expense increadagl$0.1million primarily
driven by a $0.1 million increase in interest expense.

For thetwelve months ended January 31, 2@&thpared to 201,3otal other expense decreadaed$4.6million primarily
due toa $4.5million decrease in expense=corded in connection with the warrant remeasurechanmng the twelve months ended
January 31, 203 2vhich was due to the change in faiz market valueof our common stockUpon the IPO in June 2011, thisbility
was eliminatedresulting in a corresponding decrease in other expense

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of Decembef31, 2013 we had cash, cash equivalents and investtogadtag $50.1million, which consisted of cash
and money market funds held at major financial institutions, commercial, prEstmertgrade corporate debt securitasd US.
government and government agency debt securities

In September 2013ye completeda follow-on publicequity offering in whichwe sold an aggregate of 150/{B00 shares ajur
common stockinclusive 0f2,730,000 shares sold pursuant to the exercise by the underwriters of an option to purchase additional
shares, at a public offieg price of $25.00 per share. In addition, another 5,200,000 shares were sold by certain selling stockholders.
Wereceived aggregate net proceeti$278.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses
from sales obur shares in the offeringVe did not receive any of the proceeds from the sales of shares by the selling stockholders.

Theprincipal uses obur cash during theleven monthendedDecembeB1, 2013 were funding our operations, as described
below, andcapital expenditures.

Sources of Funds

We believe, based on our current operating plan, that our existing cash and cash equivalents and available borrowings unc
our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least thevakgmonths.

From time to time, w may explore additional financing sources and means to lower our cost of capital, which could include
equity, equitylinked and debt financing. In addition, in connection with any future acquisitions, we may require additional funding
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which may be provid&in the form of additional debt, equity or equlityked financing or a combination thereof. There can be no
assurance that any additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms.

Our Indebtedness

In May 2011, we entered into a $30.0 mitlioredit facility with a syndicate of financial institutiots.September 2013, we
amendedhis credit facility. The amendment increased the aggregate commitment amount from $30.0 million to $60.0 million,
extended the maturity date from May 12, 2015ept8mber 12, 2018 and decreased the interest rate on borroRéfgsto Note8
iDebt | nst rNotestaConsolidatedrinartcibl Statementsr further details regarding our credit facility.

In July 2013, we borrowed approximatd$0.0million from the credit facility to enhance our working capital position. This
amount was paid off in full in August 2013.

Capital Expenditures

Consistent with previous periods, future capital expenditures will primarily focus on acquiring additsthal hod general
corporate infrastructur®ur access to capital is adequate to meet our anticipated capital expenditures for our current plans.

Historical Trends

The following table summarizes our cash flow datéliertwelve months ended January 3012 and 2013 arithe eleven
months ended December 2012and 203B.

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)

(in thousands) (in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 5,358 $ (250) $ 1,702 $ (2,986)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (58,550) 15,185 8,235 (211919
Net cash provided by financing activities 54,270 6,669 5,877 394,997

Operatingactivities

In the eleven months ended December 31, 2013, net cash used in operating activitie8 mako®3including our net loss
of $27.0million, which was offset by neoash charges of $50t6illion primarily related to $40.0 million in stodkased
compensation expense. Net cash used in operating activities benefited from a $13.4 million indefasethrevenue from the prior
period primarily due to an increase in subscriptions, partiklyen by the temporary implementation of the mobile listening md
an increase in accrued royalties of $13.0 million due to schedule rate incofessgd)y a $60.6 million increase in accounts
receivabladriven byan increase in revenue

In the eleven months ended December 31, 2012, net cash provided by operating activitleZ mdlsoh (unaudited),
primarily due to norcash charges of $3% million (unaudited)primarily related to $23.3 million (unaudited) in stelchsed
compensation expense, offsetdayr net loss of 4.5million (unaudited)Net cash provided by opditag activities benefited froran
increase in accrued royalties of $17.8liom (unaudited) due to schedule rate increases &ida million (unaudited) increase in
deferred revenue primarily due to an increase in customers purchasing subscriptions for Pandora One, offset by an increase in
accounts receivable of $43.5 millignnauditeddriven byan increase in revenue.

In the twelve months ended January 31, 2013, net cash used in operating activities walich@). Bicluding our net loss of
$38.1million, offset by norcash charges of $33rillion primarily related to sick-based compensati@xpenseNet cash used in
operating activities benefited an increase in accrued royalties of illfidh due toschedule rate increasasd an increase in
deferred revenue of $10rillion primarily due to an increase in customptschasing subscriptions for Pandora One, offset by an
increase in accounts receivable of $3®illion driven byan increase irevenue.

In the twelve months ended January 31, 2012, net cash provided by operating activities wallié%.#hcluding noncash
charges of $18.fillion primarily related to stockased compensati@xpense, offset bgur net loss of $16.million. In addition
cash provided by operating activitiesnefitted froman increase in accrued royalties of $1®illion due toschedule rate increases
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and a $3.3nillion increase in deferred revenue primarily related to an increase in customers purchasing subdoriptiomtora
One offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $24.5 million driven by an increase in.revenue

Investingactivities

In the eleven months ended December 31, 20dt3cash used in investing activitiwas $2119 million, primarily due to
$224.5million for purchases of investment42.2 million in maturities of sheterm investments,2i.2million for capital
expenditures for server equipment and leasehold improvements and $8.0 million for the purchase of patents.

In the eleven months ended December 31, 208&Rash provided by investing activities wa& $million (unaudited),
primarily consisting of $9.6 million (unaudited)n maturities of shorterm investmentsffset by $9.6million (unaudited¥or the
purchase of investments.

In the twelve months ended January 31, 2013, ash provided by investing activities was $1&iflion, primarily
consisting of $87.Million in maturities of shorterm investmentoffset by $65.2nillion for the purchaseof investrments

In the twelve months ended January 31, 2012, ash ased in investing activities was $5&iflion, primarily consisting of
$66.9 million for the purchaseof investmentsoffset by $20.0 million in maturities of shadrm investments

Financingactivities

In theeleven monthendedDecember 31, 2013, neash provided by financing activitiegas 895.0million, primarily
consistingof net proceeds from the folloan public equity offering 0$378.7million andcash proceedsom theissuance of
common stoclof $16.8 million.

In the eleven months ended December281,2 net @sh provided by financing activities was.$million (unaudited),
primarily consisting of proceeds from the issuance of common stock.

In the twelve monthended January 32013 netcash provided by financing activities was $illion, primarily consisting
of proceeds from the issuance of common stock

In the twelve months ended January 3012 net @sh provided by financing activities was $5eilion, primarily
consisting ohetproceeds of $90.4illion from issuance of common stock in our IRfArtially offset by the payment of
$31.0million in dividends upon conversion of the redeemable convertible preferredistomhnection with oulPO and repayment
of all outstanding debt for $71illion.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes our contractual obligations d3exfembe1, 2013:

Payments Due by Period
Less Than More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3Years 4-5 Years 5 Year
(in thousands)

Purchase obligations $ 10,000 $ 5,000 $ 5,000 $

Operating lease obligations 57,822 7,108 18,328 12,667 19,719
Total $ 67,822 $ 12,108 $ 23,328 $ 12,667 $ 19,719

Purchase Obligation

Our purchase obligation represents a fwamcelableoyalty-relatedcontractual obligation ddecembeB1, 2013whichis
recoupable against future royalty payments
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of Januarny31, 202 and2013 and a®f December 312012and 2013, we did not have any effalance sheet
arrangements.

Business Trends

Our operating results fluctuate from quarter to quarter as a result of a variety of factors. We expect our operating results
continue to fluctuate in future quarters.

Ourresults reflect the effects of seasonal trends in listener behavior due to higher advertisihgyisgjeébe fourth quarter of
each calendar year due to greater advertiser demand during the holiday season and lower advertising sales duringtéredfirst qu
each calendar year due to seasonally adjusted advertising ddmaddition we expect to experience increased usage during the
fourth quarter of each calendar year due to the holiday season, and in the first quarter of each calendar yaeenedsedaise of
mediastreaming devices received as gifts during the holiday season. We believe these seasonal trends haemdffétteantinue
to affect our operating resultsarticularly as increases in content acquisition costs from increasge ae not offset by increases in
advertising sales in the first calendar quarter

In addition, expenditures by advertisers tend to be cyclical and discretionary in nature, reflecting overall economic
conditions, the economic prospects of specific aians or industries, budgeting constraints and buying patterns and a variety of
other factors, many of which are outside our control. For example, an advertiser which accounted for more than 10% of our
advertising revenue for tharee monthendedApril 30 and July 31, 201did not meet this threshold for thieree monthgnded
October 31, 2011 and January 31, 2042 a result of these and other factors, the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods
should not be relied upon as indications of futare operating performance.

The results of our fiscal quarters (three momthdedApril 30, July 31, October 31 and January 31 of each year prior to
November 1, 2013) reflect the same effects of the seasonal trerdivertising revenugiscussed aba&vfor calendar periods, except
that the impact of thesalvertisingsales related trends on our fiscal results is not as pronounced due to the inclusion of January
instead of October in our fourth fiscal quarter.

We changedbur fiscal year to the calendavelve months ending Decembert®lalign withtheadver t i si ng i nd.
busineszycle, effective beginning with the periahdedon December 31, 2013. Due to this change, the effect of seasonality on our
business will be more pronounced in calendarsyendedafter December 31, 2013.

The growth in listener hours on mobile and other connected devicdasmwasred in theleven months ended December 31,
2013by the implementation of the mobile listening liffit ouradvertising supporteservice orcertainmobile and other connected
devices Effective SeptembeR013, we eliminatgthis limit primarily due to our improved ability to monetize mobigtenerhours.
Although wehaveremoedthe broad 40 hour per month mobile listening limit, we hayaémented other more precise measures
that we believe will allow us tbetter managthe growth of mobile content acquisition costs while minimizing adverse effects on the
listener experiencen addition, the mobile listening limit drove significant grovith subscribers to our &cee service, and since
removing the limit we do not expect to experience similar growth in subscrijtiohs near termro the extent we take steps such as
these to affect usage on a particular platform, trends in usageamdsbured or changeddicomparisons across periods may not be
meaningful.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial
statements, hich have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expemsesand
and therelated disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Our estimates form the béaséigfoepts about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ fraimtitese es

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on asasboyttions
matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably couldiade dree
changes in the accounting estimate that are reasonably likely to occur, could materially impact the consndideisdstatements.
We believe that our critical accounting policies reflect the more significant estimates and assumptions used in thenpoéfazati
consolidated financial statements.
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We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated witlyalties for performance rights of musical worniessenue
recognition, stock based compensation, stock option grants and common stock valuations and accounting for income haxes have t
greatest potential impact on our financial statem@riterefore, v consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates.

Royaltiesfor Performance Rights of Musical Works

We incur royalty expenses from goublic performancef musical worksThis includes royalties that we pay foublic
performanceights to theowners of those musical works or their agesteh as ASCAP, BMI and SESAD.2010 and2012, we
elected to terminate our agreements with ASGAR BMI, respectively. Recent court proceedirths purportedwithdrawal of
certainperformanceights with respect to certain musical works by certairsic publishers from the ASCAahd BMI catalogsand
our recent entry into a local marketing agreement to progdMZ -FM, in partto allow Pandora tgualify for the current ASCAP
and BMI licenseagreements available to owners of one or more commercial radio stawashighlighted uncertaintiésr the
royalty rategpayableto these organizatiorand to musical copyright ownei/e record a liabilityfor public performanceoyalties
based orour best estimate of the amount owedtxh licensor, PROs or individual copyright owneesed on historical rates, third
party evidence and legal developmesdssistent with our past practices. For equaéartely period, we evaluateur estimates to
as®ss the adequacy of recorded liabilitiégctual royalty rates differ from estimates, revisions to the estimated royalty liabilities
may be required, whicbould materially affecour results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue whéour basic criteria are met: (persuasive evidence exists of an arrangement with the customer
reflecting the terms and conditions under which the products or services will be provid#ali@)y has occurred or services have
been provided; (3he fee is fixed or determinable; and @llection is reasonably assured. We consider a signed agreement, a
binding insertion order or other similar documentation to be persuasive evidence of an arrangement. Collectabilitydibassdsse
on a number of faors, including transaction history and the creditworthiness of a customer. If it is determined that collection is not
reasonably assured, revenue is not recognized until collection becomes reasonably assured, which is generally up@ashceipt of
We record cash received in advance of revenue recognition as deferred revenue.

Advertisingrevenue

We generate advertising revenue primarily fraodio,displayand videcadvertisingWe generate the majority afur
advertising revenue through the delivery of advertising impressions sold on a cost per thousand, or CPM, basis. Ingdeterminin
whether an arrangement exists ensure that a binding arrangement, such as an insertion order or a fully executed ess#ifizer
agreement, is in plac#/e generally recognize revenue based on delivery information dnomoampaign trafficking systems.

We also generate advertising revenue pursuant to arrangements with advertising agencies and brokers. Under these
arrangementsye provide the agencies and brokers the ability to sell advertising inventayrservice directly to advertiserd/e
report ths revenue net of amounts due to agencies and brokers ba@aasmot the primary obligor under these arrangememgs,
do not set the pricing andio not establish or maintain the relationship with the advertisers.

Subscription anatherrevenue

Subscrption and otherevenue is generatgutimarily through the sale of a premium version of the Pandora service which
currently includes advertisemeinee accesandhigher audio qualitypn supportedievices Subscription revenue derived from direct
sales tdisteners is recognized on a straifjhe basis over the duration of the subscription period. Subscription revenue derived from
sales through some mobile operating systems may be subject to refund or cancellation terms which may affect the timimgbr amo
the subscription revenue recognition. When refund rights exist, we recognize revenue when services have been providghtand the
lapse or when we have developed sufficient transaction history to estimate a reserni@eéenabe31, 2013, we hadeferred
revenue of approximatelyld.2million related to refund right#s a resultour revenue results will include a otiene reversal of
substantially all of the deferred revenue related to thecsiplion return reserve in the first quarter of calar year 2014

Revenueecognition formultiple-elementarrangements

We enter into arrangements with customers to sell advertising packages that include different media placements or ad
services that are delivered at the same time, or within closenmitgxif one another

We allocate arrangement consideration in multg#éverable revenue arrangements at the inception of an arrangement to all
deliverables or those packages in which all components of the package are delivered at the same tonghbasdative selling
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price method in accordance with the selling price hierarchy, which includesr{dprspecific objective evidence, or VSOE, if
available; (2xhird-party evidence, or TPE, if VSOE is not available; anch€3t estimate of sellimgrice, or BESP, if neither VSOE
nor TPE is available. BESP is generally used to allocate the selling price to deliverables in our multiple element atsaMgemen
determine BESP for deliverables by considering multiple factors including, but not limjtedces we charge for similar offerings,
sales volume, market conditions, competitive landscape and pricing practices. We recognize the relative fair valueiaf the med
placements or ad services as they are delivered assuming all other revenue oectrijeitia are met.

StockBased Compensation

Stockbased compensation expenses are classified in the statement of operations based on the department to which the re
employee reports. Our stotlased awards are comprised principally of stmuftons and restricted stock unit awardée measure
stockbased compensation expenses for employees at the grant date fair value of the award, and recognize expenseslime a straight
basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the ggmiinod. We generally estimate the fair value of stoated
payment awards using the Bla8kholes optiowpricing model.

The determination of the fair value of a stdzksed award on the date of grant using the B&atoles optiofpricing model
is affected by our stock price on the date of grant as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables.
These variables include our expected stock price volatility over the expected term of the award, actual and projectedstotploye
option exercise behaviors, the rke interest rate for the expected term of the award and expected dividends. The value of the
portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense in our statements of dpeoationsr IPO, our
board of directors considered numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair market value of our cdoahon stoc
each meeting at which stock options were granted and approved.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for ouincome taxes using the asset and liability metlwodger which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities usingueorgcted stat
income tax rates in &fct for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

We recognize a tax benefit from an uncertainpasition only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefitd ird¢hgnize
financial statements from such positions aentimeasured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being
realized upon settlemenWe will recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax provision in
the accompanying statement ofeogations.

We calculate the current and deferred income tax provision based on estimates and assumptions that could differ from the
actual results reflected in income tax returns filed in subsequent years. Adjustments based on filed income tax retamtedre r
whenidentified. The amount of income taxes paid is subject to examination by U.S. federal, state and international tasatitteoritie
estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management's assessment of relevanamigks, facts
circumstances existing at that time. To the extent that the assessment of such tax positions change, the changesineestidetde i
in the period in which the determination is made.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET  RISK
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including interest rate and inflation risks.
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

Our exposure to interest rates relates to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest we must pay on our @histanding d
instruments. In May 2011, we entered into a $8@ion credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions. Septembe2013,
we amendethis credit facility. The amendment increased the aggregate commitment amount from $30.0 million to $60.0 million,
extended the maturity date from May 12, 2015 to September 12, 2018 and decreased the interest rate on Refeniolyste 8
ADebt | nst rNotestaConsolidatedrinaricibl Statementsr further details regarding our credit faciligny outstanding
borrowings under the credit facility bear a variable interest rate and therefore the interest we pay dbenfaliraslue of our
outstanding borrowings will fluctuate as changes occur in certain benchmark interest raté3eéasnolbe31, 2013, we hado
amountdrawnunder the credit facilitand hadbl.1 million in outstandindetters of credit.

The primaryobjective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing income without significantly
increasing risk. Approximately0% of our portfolio consists of cash and cash equivalents that have a relatively short maturity, and a
fair value relatively insensitive to interest rate chan@es.availablefor-sale investments consist of corporate debt securities,
commercial paper and.S. government and government agency debt secunitieh may be subject to market risk due to changes in
prevailing interest rates that may cause the fair values of our investments to fluctuate. Based on a sensitivity ahalysis, we
determined that aylpothetical 100 basis points increase in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease in the fair values of our
investments of approximately2® million as of DecembeBl1, 2013. Such losses would only be realized if we sold the investments
prior to mdurity. In future periods, we will continue to evaluate our investment policy in order to ensure that we continue to meet out
overall objectives.

Inflation Risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financiaboomdigsults of operations. If our

costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higheugbssitiero
increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financialicoradid results of operations.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pandora Medidnc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Pandordnigleaiepflanuarydl1, 2013and
DecembeBl, 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferr
stock and stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flowsHertwelve months endelhnuary31, 202 and 2013 anthe eleven months
endedDecember 31, 2013 hese financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standarde Bfuthlic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whethér the financia
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examinatgsirbasis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signdiesninask
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statpnesentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidagd financi
position of Pandora Medi#nc. atJanuarydl1, 2013andDecembeB1, 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash
flows for the twelve months endeldinuaryd1,2012 and2013 andthe eleven months ended December 31, 20l 8onformity with
U.S. generally accepted accaouag principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United State:
Pandora Medi#nc.'s internal control over financial reporting aDafcembeB1, 2013, based on criteria establishethternal

Controb Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cor(it8i82ion
framework)and our report datefflebruaryl4, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst& Young LLP

San Francisco, California
Februaryl4, 2014
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Report Of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Pandora Medidnc.

We have audited Pandora Mediag.'s internal control over financial reporting adafcembe1, 2013, based on criteria
established in Internal Contiblintegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (1992 framework)the COSO criteria). Pandora Media¢.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over finaniigl rguded
in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to expresa an opinio
on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with thaddeds of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whethérefiéctive in
control over financial reporting was maintained in all mateespects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the desigtirend o
effectiveness of internal control based on thessad risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to peagd@able assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance w&lth gener
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reportindeis¢hose policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions aodsdisftbeit
assets of the company; (@)ovide reasonable assurance that transactieneeaorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the dweitgany are
made only in accordance with authorizations of management seedails of the company; and (@ovide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company's assets thaé@uld h
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its indrent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inedausmtef
changes in@nditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Pandora Medilc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of DecembeB31, 2013, based onalCOSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United State
the consolidated balance sheets of Pandora Miediaas ofJanuary3l, 2013andDecembe1, 2013, and the relatednsolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equihd(dasiit), a
flows for the twelve months ended January 31, 2012 and 201thareleven months ended December 31, 20 andora
Media, Inc. and our report datdeebruaryl4, 2014 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Emst& Young LLP

San Francisco, California
Februaryl4, 2014
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PandoraMedia, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of As of
December
January 31, 31,
2013 2013
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,725 $ 245,755
Shortterminvestments 23,247 98,662
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $761 at
January 31, 2013 and $1,272 at December 31, 2013 103,410 164,023
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,232 10,343
Total current assets 198,614 518,783
Long-term investments - 105,686
Property and equipment, net 17,758 35,151
Other longterm assets 2,460 13,715
Total assets $ 218,832 $ 673,335
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,471 $ 14,413
Accrued liabilities 7,590 14,885
Accrued royalties 53,083 66,110
Deferred revenue 29,266 42,650
Accrued compensation 21,560 17,948
Total current liabilities 115,970 156,006
Other longterm liabilities 3,873 9,098
Total liabilities 119,843 165,104
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,000,000,000
shares authorized: 172,506,051 shares issued and
outstanding at January 31, 2013 and 195,395,940
at December 31, 2013 17 20
Additional paidin capital 238,552 675,103
Accumulated deficit (139,574) (166,591)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6) (301)
Total stockholdergquity 98,989 508,231
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 218,832 $ 673,335

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Pandora Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Twelve months ended

Eleven months ended

January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)

Revenue

Advertising $ 239,957 $ 375,218 $ 343,318 $ 489,340

Subscription and other 34,383 51,927 46,166 110,893
Total revenue 274,340 427,145 389,484 600,233
Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue Content acquisition costs 148,708 258,748 230,731 314,866

Cost of revenue Other 22,759 32,019 28,740 41,844
Total cost of revenue 171,467 290,767 259,471 356,710
Gross profit 102,873 136,378 130,013 243,523
Operating expenses

Product development 13,425 18,118 16,191 29,986

Sales and marketing 65,010 107,715 94,566 169,774

General and administrative 35,428 48,247 43,320 70,212
Total operating expenses 113,863 174,080 154,077 269,972
Loss from operations (10,990) (37,702) (24,064) (26,449)
Other income (expense)

Interest income 59 95 88 96

Interest expense (616) (535) (486) (554)

Other expense, net (4,485) (1) (3) (16)
Loss before provision for income taxes (16,032) (38,143) (24,465) (26,923)
Income tax benefit (expense) (75) (5) 3 (94)
Net loss $ (16,107) $  (38,148) $ (24,462) $ (27,017)

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred stock (110) - - -

Increase in cumulative dividends payable upon convers
or liguidation of redeemable convertible preferstock

(3,648) - - -
Net loss attributable to common stockholders (19,865) (38,148) (24,462) (27,017)
Weightedaverage common shares outstanding used
in computing basic and diluted net loss per share
105,955 168,294 167,956 180,968

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.19) $ (0.23) $ (0.15) $ (0.15)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Pandora Media, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands)

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
Net loss $ (16,107) $ (38,148) $ (27,017)
Change in foreign currency
translation adjustment - ?) (42)
Change in net unrealizédsses on
marketable securities (5) 2 (253)
Other comprehensive loss (5) (1) (295)
Total comprehensive loss $ (16,112) $ (38,149) $ (27,312)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated finstatéhents.
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Pandora Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands, except share amounts)

Balances as of January 31,
2011

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock optior

Stock-based compensation
Dividends on redeemable
convertible preferred stock
Accretion of redeemable
convertible preferred stock
issuance costs
Payment of preferred dividen
in connection with initial
public offering
Conversion of preferred stocl
to common stock in
connection with initial public
offering
Issuance of common stock in
connection with initial public
offering
Issuance of common stock in
connection with preferred
stock warrant exercise
Components of comprehensi
loss:

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balances as of January 31, 2012

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock optior

Stock-based compensation
Vesting of restricted stock
units
Share cancellations to satisfy
tax withholding on vesting of
restricted stock units
Issuance of common stock in
connection with preferred
stock warrant exercise
Components of comprehensi
loss:

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balances as of January 31, 2013

Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock optior

Issuance of common stock in
connection with secondary
offering, net issuance costs
Stock-based compensation
Vesting of restricted stock
units
Share cancellations to satisfy
tax withholding on vesting of
restricted stock units
Components of comprehensi
loss:

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balances as of December 31, 2(

Redeemable Additional Other Total
Convertible Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in ;omprehensiv  Accumulated Stockholders
Shares Amount Shares Par Amount Capital Income (loss Deficit uity (Deficit
133,534,334 126,662 14,510,655 $ 1 38 2,308 $ <] $ (85,319) $ (83,010)
1 2,515
3 3 5,165,112 <] <] 2,516
3 3 <] <] 9,187 <] <] 9,187
3 25,200 <] o] (25,218) o] o] (25,218)
3 110 o] o] (110) o] o] (110)
3 (31,005) ¢] o] o] o] o] o]
(133,534,334 (120,967) 137,294,552 13 126,477 <] <] 126,490
3 3 6,350,682 1 90,631 <] <] 90,632
3 3 248,360 165 <] <] 165
3 3 <] <] <] <] (16,107) (16,107)
3 3 <] <] <] (5) <] (5)
- $ - 163,569,36: $ 16 $ 205955 $ (5) $ (101,426) $ 104,540
1 7,305 7,306
3 <} 8,408,842 <] <]
<} <} [¢] 5] 25,500 <] <] 25,500
3 3 400,112 8 d d 8 i
(208)
3 <} (18,340) <] (208) <] <]
3 <} 146,076 <] <] <] <]
3 3 <] <] <] o] (38,148) (38,148)
3 s} <] <] <] (1) <] (1)
- $ - 172,506,051 $ 17 $ 238552 $ 6) $ (139,574) $ 98,989
18,356
6] 6] 5,659,377 1 18,355 6] 6]
378,637
<} <} 15,730,000 2 378,635 o] o]
3 s} o] o] 40,041 o] <] 40,041
3 3 1,520,516 8 - 8 8 i
(480)
3 3 (20,004) <] (480) <] <]
3 3 <} <] 3 <] (27,017) (27,017)
s} s} s} <] s} (295) s} (295)
- $ - 195,395,940 $ 20 $ 675,103 $ (301) $ (166,591) $ 508,231

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Pandora Media, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss

Twelve months ended

Heven months ended

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization
Loss on disposition of assets
Stock-based compensation
Remeasurement of preferred stock warrants
Amortization of premium on investments
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued royalties
Accrued compensation
Deferred revenue
Reimbursement of cost of leasehold improvements
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of patents
Purchases of investments
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments
Payments related to acquisition
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities
Borrowings under debt arrangements
Repayments of debt
Proceeds from follow-on offering, net of issuance costs
Proceeds fromissuance of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of preferred stock warrants
Proceeds frominitial public offering, net
Payment of dividends to preferred stockholders at initial public offering
Payment of debt issuance costs in connection with the debt refinancing
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effects of foreign currency translation
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures of noncash financing activities
Conversion of preferred stock warrants into common stock warrants
Conversion of preferred stock into common stock
Accruals of preferred stock dividends, net
Accretion of preferred stock issuance cost
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the period for income taxes
Cash paid during the period for interest

Purchases of property and equipment recorded in accounts payable and accru

liabilities

January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2012 2013
(unaudited)

$ (16,107) $ (38148) $ (24462) $ (27,017)
4,455 7,076 6,406 10,112

296 23 23 -
9,187 25,500 23,283 40,041
4,499 - - -
246 360 329 237
190 264 242 220
(24,526) (36,672) (43,487) (60,613)
156 (3,752) (2,189) (7,891)
(865) 4,963 10,419 17,352
15,742 19,261 17,525 13,027
8,147 9,598 2,085 (3,393)
3,322 10,034 10,285 13,384
616 1,243 1,243 1,555
5,358 (250) 1,702 (2,986)
(11,644) (7,580) (11,809) (21,180)
- - - (8,000)
(66,890) (65,168) (59,559) (224,549)
19,984 87,933 79,603 42,210
- - - (400)
(58,550) 15,185 8,235 (211,919
- - - 10,000
(7,596) - - (10,000)
378,654
2,074 6,669 5,877 16,793
165 - - -
90,632 - - -
(31,005) - - -
- - - (450)
54,270 6,669 5,877 394,997
- O] @ (62)
1,078 21,599 15,813 180,030
43,048 44,126 44,126 65,725
$ 44,126 $ 65,725 $ 59939 $ 245755
(2,151) - - -
(124,341) - - -
25,218 - - -
110 - - -
125 - - 26
887 289 283 18
- 1,952 726 7,910

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Pandora Media, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description ofthe Business and Basis of Presentation

Pandora Media, Inq@rovides arinternet radio service offering a personalized experience forlistaher
wherever and whenever they want to listen to radio on a wide range of smartphones, tablets, traditiobeiscantbcar
audio systems, as well as a range of other intarmebected devices. We have pioneered a new form of&ramtie that
uses intrinsic qualities of music to initially create stations and then adapts playliststimeshhsed on the individua
feedback of each listener. We offer local and national advertisers an opportunity to deliver targeted messages to our
listeners using a combination of audio, display and video advertisements@offer a paid subscription service which
we call Panda One We wereincorporated as a California corporation in January 2000 and reincorporated as a Delaware
corporation in December 2010.

As usedPandoma®i i weft & efl ¢ WLCroamdpsenitay térms includeandora Media, Inand its
subsidiariesunless the context indicates otherwise.

Initial Public Offering

In June 2011we completecaninitial public offering ("IPO") whereby 14,684,000 shares of common stock were
sold to the public at a price of $16.00 per sh#fesold 6,000,682 common shares and selling stockholders sold 8,683,318
common shares. In July 2011, in connection with the exercise of the underwriters' overallotment option, 350,000 additional
shares of common stock were sold to the public at the inffeiiing price of $16.00 per shand/e received aggregate
proceeds of $94.aillion from the initial public offering and the underwriters' overallotment option, net of underwriters'
discounts and commissions but before deducting offering expenses ofifi®®. Upon the closing of the IPO, all shares
of our outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 137,542,912 shares of common
stock and outstanding warrants to purchase redeemable convertible preferred stock aujooaatiested into warrants to
purchase 154,938 shares of common stock.

Follow-on Public Offering

In September 2013ye completeda follow-on publicequity offering in whichwe sold an aggregate of 150/{G00
shares obur common stockinclusive of2,73Q000 shares sold pursuant to the exercise by the underwriters of an option to
purchase additional shares, at a public offering price of $25.00 per share. In addition, another 5,200,000 sharesywere sold b
certain selling stockholder®/e received aggregateet proceedsf@378.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses from salesrahares in the offeringVe did not receive any of the proceeds
from the sales of shares by the selling stockholders.

Basis ofPresentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with United
States generally accepted accounting principles ("G/MA\P") andinclude the accounts &andorandour wholly-owned
subsidiaries. Alintercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opmmion of
management, the consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, which include only normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for the fair pred@maf our financial position for the periods presented.

Certain changes in presentation have been made to cotffeprior period presentation to current period
reporting.Our statemend of operationshow include the presentation gross profit, which is calculated &stal revenue
lesscost of revenue.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GSAP requires management to make certain
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the ré@onigunts of assets and liabilities and the related disclosures at
the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the periods presented.
Estimates are used for determinenxgrrued royaltieselling prces for elements sold in multipdement arrangements, the
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allowance for doubtful accounts, stebksed compensati@ndincome taxesTo the extent there are material differences
between these estimates, judgments, or assumptions and actual @asfittancial statements could be affected. In many
cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated GYABWF5and does not require
management's judgment in its application. There are also areas in which managemem#'stjiurdgelecting among
available alternatives would not produce a materially different result.

Segments

Pandoraoperates in one segme@tur chief operating decision maker (the "CODM8Yr Chief Executive Officer,
manage®ur operations on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources. When evaluwéitingcial
performance, the CODM reviews separate revenue informatiauf@dvertising, subscription and other offerings, while
all other financial informatioiis reviewed on a consolidated basis. Albof principal operations are located in the United
States.

Fiscal year

We changedbur fiscal year to the calendar twelve months ending December 31, effective beginning with the
periodendedon December 31, 2013 s a result, our current fiscaériodwas shortened from twelve months to an eleven
month transition perioéndedon December 31, 2018Ve reported our third fiscal quarter as the three moattued
October 31, 2013, followed by a twoonth transition priodendedDecember 31, 2013n these consolidated statements,
including the notes thereto, the current year financial resotled December 31, 2048 for arelevenmonth period.
Auditedresults forthe twelve months ended January 31,284d2013are both fotwelve-month periods. In addition, our
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows include nomyditetive
amounts for thelevenmonthperiod ended December 31, 2012

All references herein to a fidggearprior to December 31, 20X8fer to thewelve months ended JanuaBi of
such year, and references to the first, second, third and fourth fiscal geadedprior to November 1, 201&fer to the
three months ended ApBD, July31, OctobeB1 and Januar®l, respectively.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue Recognition

Ourrevenue is principally derived from advertising services and subscription¥egscognize revenue when:
(1) persuasive evidence exists of an arrangement with the customer reflecting the terms and conditions under which
products or services will be provided; (®livery has occurred or services have been providethé3ee is fixe or
determinable; and (4)llection is reasonably assured. For all revenue transactvertansider a signed agreement, a
binding insertion order or other similar documentation to be persuasive evidence of an arrangement.

AdvertisingrevenueWe generge advertising revenue primarily froaudio,displayand videcadvertisingWe
generate the majority afur advertising revenue through the delivery of advertising impressions sold on a cost per
thousand, or CPM, basis. In determining whether an arrangesxists,we ensure that a binding arrangement, such as an
insertion order or a fully executed custorseecific agreement, is in plad&’e generally recognize revenue based on
delivery information fromour campaign trafficking systems.

We also generate advertising revenue pursuant to arrangements with advertising agencies and brokers. Under these
arrangementsye provide the agencies and brokers the ability to sell advertising inventayrservice directly to
advertisersWe report ths revenue net of amounts due to agencies and brokers beeaasanot the primary obligor
under these arrangemenig donot set the pricing andio not establish or maintain the relationship with the advertisers.

Subscription anatherrevenueWe generate subscription revenue through the sale of a premium version of
Pandora internet radio, or Pandora One. Subscription revenue derived from direct sales to listeners is recognized on a
straightline basis over the duration of the subscription pergudbscription revenue derived from sales through some
mobile operating systems may be subject to refund or cancellation terms which may affect the timing or amount of the
subscription revenue recognition. When refund rights existecognize revenue whehe service has been provided and
the rights lapse or when sufficient transaction history has been developed to estimate a reserve.

68



DeferredrevenueOur deferred revenue consists principally of both prepaid but unrecognized subscription
revenue and advtising fees received or billed in advance of the delivery or completion of the delivery of services.
Deferred revenue is recognized as revenue when the services are provided and all other revenue recognition criteria have
been metWhen refund rights egt, we recognize revenue when the rights lapse or when sufficient transaction history has
been developed to estimate a resefseof December 31, 2018ve had defeed all revenue subject to certain refund rights
totalingapproximately $4.2million, as ve do not currently have sufficient history to estimate a reserve.

Multiple-elementarrangementsWe enter into arrangements with customers to sell advertising packages that
include different media placements or ad services that are delivered at the same time, or within close proximity of one
anotherWerecognize the relative fair value of the mediacplaents or ad services as they are delivered assuming all other
revenue recognition criteria are met.

We allocate arrangement consideration in multigégiverable revenue arrangements at the inception of an
arrangement to all deliverables or those paekag which all components of the package are delivered at the same time,
based on the relative selling price method in accordance with the selling price hierarchy, which incluveestofl)
specific objective evidence ("VSOE") if available; (Rird-party evidence ("TPE") if VSOE is not available; and &st
estimate of selling price ("BESP") if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.

VSOE We determine VSOE based or historical pricing and discounting practices for the specific product or
service whersold separately. In determining VSORg require that a substantial majority of the selling prices for these
services fall within a reasonably narrow pricing ranyfe. havenot historically pricedur advertising products within a
narrow range. As a resulte havenot been able to establish VSOE for anyof advertising products.

TPE.When VSOE cannot be established for deliverables in multiple element arrangemecaybglyjudgment
with respect to whether it can establish a selling price based onTPEHs determined based on competitor prices for
similar deliverables when sold separately. Generallygo-to-market strategy differs from that ofir peers anaur
offerings contain a significant level of differentiation such that the comparablagdtservices cannot be obtained.
Furthermoreye areunable to reliably determine what similar competitor services' selling prices are on-aletanfasis.
As a resultwe havenot been able to establish selling price based on TPE.

BESP Whenwe areunable to establish selling price using VSOE or TR&useBESP inour allocation of
arrangement consideration. The objective of BESP is to determine the price atweliclild transact a sale if the service
were sold on a staralone basis. BESP is gea#ly used to allocate the sellipgiceto deliverables imur multiple element
arrangementdVe determine BESP for deliverables by considering multiple factors including, but not limited to weices
charge for similar offerings, market conditions, competitive landscape and pricing prattedesit the amount of
allocable arrangement consideration to amounts that are fixed or determinable and that are not contingent on future
performance or futureddiverablesWe regularly review BESP. Changes in assumptions or judgments or changes to the
elements in the arrangement may cause an increase or decrease in the amount of reveswgptitain a particular
period.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Finangal instruments that potentially subjaetto concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments and trade accounts receiv@glenaintain cash and cash equivalents with domestic financial
institutions of high crdit quality. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of such institutions.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of customers to assess the probability of accounts receivable collection
based on a number of factors, including pestisaction experience with the customer, evaluation of their credit history, and
review of the invoicing terms of the contradte generally do not require collaterglle maintain reserves for potential
credit losses on customer accounts when deemedsaegesctual credit losses durintpe twelve months ended
January1l, 202 and 2038 andthe eleven months ended December 31, 204r&$0.4 million, $0.5 million and $0.4
million, respectively

Forthe twelve months ended Janu&ty 202 and 20B andthe eleven months ended December 31, 204 Bad

no customers that accounted for 10% or more of total revenue.Jamoéry31, 2013andDecembeBl, 2013 there were
no customers that accounted for 10% or moreuntotal accounts receivable.
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Cash, Cab Equivalents and Investments

We classify our highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase as cash
equivalentsOurinvestments consist of commercial paper, corporate debt securities@ngovernment angovernment
agency debt securitie¥hese investments are classified as availflsale securities and are carried at fair value with the
unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of stockholders' equity. Management determines the appropriate
classification ofour investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates the avéilabbde designations as of each
balance sheet daté/e classify ourinvestments as either shaerm or longterm based on each instrument's underlying
contractual matuty date. Investments with maturities of less thaalve months are classified as shtetm and those with
maturities greater thamwelve months are classified as lotgrm. The cost of investments sold is based upon the specific
identification method.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accountdlowance for doubtful accounts
is based upon historical loss patterns, the number of days that billings are past dmeevaluation of the potential risk of
loss associated with delinquent accoui{e.also consider any changes to the financial conditiavuo€ustomers and any
other external market factors that could impact the collectabilibyiofeceivables intte determination adur allowance
for doubtful accounts.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is
computed using the straighihe method based on the estimatseful lives of the assetwhich range from three to five
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or expected useful lives of the
improvements.

Property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever evenbsanges in circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amounts to the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to genegetylbpd equipment are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized equals the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its fair market value.

Costs incurred to develop software for internal use are required to be capitaldzeamortized over the estimated
useful life of the asset if certain criteria are n@tsts related to preliminary project activities and post implementation
activities are expensed as incurrééke evaluate the costs incurred during the applicationldpweent stage of website
development to determine whether the costs meet the criteria for capitalizationlaksiaf31, 2013andDecembefl,
2013,we had approximatel$1.1 million andbl.5million of capitalizednternal use software and website depenent
costs net of accumulated amortization. These castsbeing amortized over their thrgear estimated useful lives. Internal
use software and website development costs are included in property and equipment.

Preferred Stock Warrant

Prior to thelPO, warrants to purchaseir redeemable convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities on
our balance shee¥We measured these warrants at fair value at each balance sheet date and any changes in fair value were
recognized as a component of other income (expensely Btatements of operatior@ur preferred stock warrants were
categorized as Lev8l within the far value hierarchy because the fair value was estimated using an option valuation model,
which included the estimated fair value of the underlying preferred stock at the valuation measurement date, the remaining
contractual term of the warrant, riflee interest rates and expected dividends on and expected volatility of the price of the
underlying preferred stock. These assumptisaesinherently subjective and involdesignificant management judgment.
We performed the final remeasurement of the warrantke fair value at the closing datetloé IPO on Jun€0, 2011
because the preferred stock warrants were either exercised or converted to common stock warrants on that date.

We recorded losses of approximately $mblion arising from the revaluatioof the convertible preferred stock
warrant liabilityduringthetwelve monthended Januaryl, 2012.
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StockBased Compensation

Stockbased payments made to employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock, are
recognized in thetatements of operations based on their fair valdesiecognize stockased compensation for awards
granted that are expected to vest, on a strdiightbasis using the singltgption attribution method over the service period
of the award, which is genally four years. Because stebksed compensation expenses recognized in the statements of
operations are based on awards ultimately expected to vest, they have been reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are
required to be estimated at the tinfegrant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. The forfeiture rates used for valuing $tas&d compensation payments were estimated based on
historical experiencalVe generally estimate theifaszalue of employee stock options using the Bi&dholes valuation
model. The determination of the fair value of a stbaked award is affected by the deemed fair value of the underlying
stock price on the grant date, as well as other assumptionsiimrthé riskfree interest rate, the estimated volatilityooi
stock price over the term of the award, the estimated period of timedleatpect employees to hold their stock options
and the expected dividend rate.

We haveelected to use the "with and without" approach as described in Accounting Standards Codification 740
Tax Provisionsn determining the order in which tax attributes are utilized. As a regilijill only recognize a tax benefit
from stockbased awards iadditional paigin capital if an incremental tax benefit is realized after all other tax attributes
currently available tashave been utilized. In additione haveelected to account for the indirect effects of stbaked
awards on other tax attribitesuch as the research tax credit, through the statement of operations.

Cost of Revend@eContent Acquisition Costs

Cost of revenu@ Content acquisition costsipcipally consist of royalties paid for streaming music or other
content to our listeners. Royalties argrentlycalculated using negotiated rates documented in agreements and are based
on both percentage of revenue and listgmretrics For royalty arangements under negotiation, we accrue for estimated
royalties based on the available facts and circumstances and adjust these estimates as more information becomes available.

Cost of RevendeOther

Cost of revenu@ Otherconsistsprimarily of hostingard infrastructurecostsand the employeeslatedcosts
associated with supporting those functions. Hosting costs consist of content streaming, maintaining our internet radio
service and creating and serving advertisements throughpthitd ad servers. Wiaake payments to thirdarty ad servers
in the periodn whichthe advertising impressiorse deliverear click-through actions occur, and accordingly, we record
this as a cost of revenue in the related period.

Product Development

Product developmenbaosist primarily of employeerelatedcosts, including salaries and benefits related to
employees in software engineering, music analysis and product management depdgaildigsrelated expenses
information technology and costs associated with sdjppconsumer connectetkvice manufacturers in implementing
our service in their products. We incur product development expenses primarily for improvements to our website and the
Pandora app, development of new advertising products and developmenhandegnent of our personalized station(s)
generating system. We have generally expensed product development as incurred.

Certain website development and internal use software development costs may be capitalized when specific
criteria are met. In such @5 the capitalized amounts are amortized over the useful life of the related application once the
application is placed in service.

Salesand Marketing

Sales and marketingnsiss primarily of employeerelatedcosts including salaries, commissions and benefits
related to employees in salagjes support anaharketing departments. In additi@gles and marketingxpenses include
transaction processing fefes subscription purchases mobile platformsexternal sas and marketing expenses such as
third-party marketing, branding, advertising and public relations expenses, facélaésd expensemfrastructure costs
and credit card fees
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expensessistsprimarily of employeerelatedcosts consisting of salaries and
benefits for finance, accounting, legal, internal information technology and other administrative personnel. In addition,
general and administrative expenses include professional serviteforasutside legal and accounting services,
facilities-related expenseand credit card fees

Income Taxes

We account for our income taxes using the asset and liability methde; which deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on tliference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted statutory income tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable
income. Valuation allowances are established wheessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized.

Werecognize a tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will
be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits
recognized in theifiancial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlem@fe.will recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits in the income tax provision in the accompanying statement of operations.

We calculate the current and deferred income tax provision based on estimates and assumptions tifégrcould d
from the actual results reflected in income tax returns filed in subsequent years. Adjustments based on filed income tax
returns are recorded when identified. The amount of income taxes paid is subject to examination by U.S. federal, state and
interrational tax authorities. The estimate of the potential outcome of any uncertain tax issue is subject to management's
assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumstances existing at that time. To the extent that the assessment of such tax
positions changeahe change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination is made.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the wedgletagie number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the peribduted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares
of common stock, including stock options, convertible preferred stock warrants, restricted stock units and redeemable
convertible preferred stock, to the extent dilutive.iBasd diluted net loss per shaverethe same for each period
presented as the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding would have bdiutigeti
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3. Composition of Certain Financial Statement Captions

Cash, CastEquivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash
Money market funds
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
Total cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments:
Commercial paper
Corporate debt securities
U.S. government and government agency debt securities
Total short-term investments
Long-term investments:
Corporate debt securities
U.S. government and government agency debt securities
Total long-term investments
Cash, cash equivalents and investments

As of
January 31,
2013

As of

December 31,

2013

(in thousands)

$ 22,703 % 89,176
32,522 98,437

10,500 54,247

e} 3,895

$ 65,725 $ 245,755
$ 13,592 $ 47,526
9,655 50,436

o} 700

$ 23,247 % 98,662
$ o} $ 100,690
o} 4,996

$ o} $ 105,686
$ 88,972 $ 450,103

Our shortterm investments have maturities of less ttveglve months and are classified as availafoliesale.
Our longterm investments have maturities of greater than twelve months and are classified as -doataldd/Ne did
not hold any longerm investments as of January 31, 2013.

The following table summarizesir availablefor-sale securities' adjustedst, gross unrealized gains, gross

unrealized losses and fair value by significant investment categoryasudry31, 2013andDecembel, 2013.

As of January 31, 2013

Adjusted Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Money market funds $ 32,522 $ 0 $ o} $ 32,522
Commercial paper 24,093 o] 1) 24,092
Corporate debt securities 9,657 o] 2) 9,655
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 66,272 $ 0 $ 3) $ 66,269
As of December 31, 2013
Adjusted Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
(in thousands)
Money market funds $ 98,437 $ 0 $ 3 $ 98,437
Commercial paper 101,773 o] o] 101,773
Corporate debt securities 155,273 6 (258) 155,021
U.S. government and government agency debt securities 5,700 o] ) 5,696
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 361,183 $ 6 $ (262) $ 360,927
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The following table presentsvailablefor-sale investments by contractual matudate as oDecembeB1, 2013
As of January 31, 2013, all of our investments had maturities of less than twelve months.

As of December 31, 2013

Adjusted Cost Fair Value
(in thousands)
Due inone year or less $ 255,278 $ 255,241
Due after one year through three years 105,906 105,686
Total $ 361,184 $ 360,927

Ourinvestment policy requires investments to be investment grade, primarily rated "Al" by St&rfélaods or
"P1" by Moody's or better for shet¢rm investmentand r at ed AAO0 by Standard & Poor 6s
long-term investmentswith the objective of minimizing the potential risk of principal loss. In addition, the investment
policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer.

The unrealized losses onr availablefor-sale securitieas ofDecembe1, 2013were primarily a result of
unfavorable changes in interest rates subsequent to the initial purchase etthesies. As oDecember 31, 2013ve
owned68 securities that were in an unrealized loss positidado not intend nor expect to need to sell these securities
before recovering the associated unrealized loSge®xpect to recover the full carryinglua of these securities. As a
result, no portion of the unrealized losseBatember 31, 2013 deemed to be othéhantemporary and the unrealized
losses are not deemed to be credit losses. No avaftakdale securities have been in an unrealized pwsition for
twelve months or more. When evaluating the investments for dki@@¥temporary impairmentye review factors such as
the length of time and extent to which fair value has been below cost basis, the financial condition of the issuer and any
changes thereto, amdirr intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than ma will be required to sell, the investment before
recovery of the investment's amortized cost basis. Duringléven monthendedDecembeB1, 2013 we did not
recognize anympairment charges.

Accounts Receivable

As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2013 2013
(in thousands)
Accounts receivable $ 104,171 $ 165,295
Allowance for doubtful accounts (761) (1,272)
Accounts receivable, net $ 103,410 $ 164,023

The following table summarizes our beginning allowance for doubtful accounts balance for each period,,additions
write-offs net of recoveries and the balance at the end of each perithe fiovelve months ended January 31, 2012 and
2013 andheeleven months ended December 31, 2013
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Balance at Write -offs, Balance at
Beginning of Net of End of
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Period Additions Recoveries Period

(in thousands)
For the twelve months ended Januaty 2012

$ 503 $ 492 $ (405) $ 590
For the twelve months ended Januaty 2013 590 659 (488) 761
For the eleven monttended December 31, 2013 761 948 437) 1,272
Property and Equipment
As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2013 2013
Property and equipment: (in thousands)
Software developed fanternal use $ 1,095 $ 2,173
Servers, computers and other related equipment 19,461 27,361
Office furniture and equipment 1,722 2,248
Construction in progress 2,264 13,575
Leasehold improvements 6,142 11,314
Total property anéquipment $ 30,684 $ 56,671
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (12,926) (21,520)
Property and equipment, net $ 17,758 $ 35,151

Depreciation and amortization expenses tot&d million and $7.1 milliorfior thetwelve monthended
JanuanBl, 202 and2013 and$10.1 million for the eleven months ended December 31, 2043wrote off net assets due
to asset retirement totalirfg§.3 millionfor thetwelve months endedanuaryd1,2012 There were no material wrigffs
duringthetwelve monthended Januaryl, 2013or the eleven months ended December 31, 2013

Software developed for internal ugenerallyhas an expected useful life of three years from the date placed in
service. As oflanuaryd1, 2013andDecembeB31, 2013the net carrying amount w&4.0 million and &.5, including
accumulated amortization 0.1 million and$0.7 million. Amortization expense fahetwelve monthended Januaryl,
2013andthe eleven months ended December 31, 2¢4$50.1 million and$0.6 million. We held no material software
developed for internal use assets duringttvedve monthended Januaryl, 2012.

4. Fair Value

We record cash equivalentsidinvestments at fair valu&air value is an exit price, representthg amount that
would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. As such, fair value is a markased measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that
marketparticipants would use in pricing an asset or liability. Fair value measurements are required to be disclosed by level
within the following fair value hierarchy:

1 Levelld Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assetdibediatbithe
measurement date.

1 Level28 Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Leiedre either directly or indirectly observable for the
asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the
instrument's anticipated life.

1 Level3d Inputs lack observable market data to corroborate management's estimate of what market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk intherent in
valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.
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When determining fair value, whenever possilteuse observable market data, aaly on unobservable inputs
only when observable market data is not available.

As of January 31,2013

Fair Value MeasurementUsing

Quoted Pricesin Significant
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable
Instruments Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Assets: (in thousands)
Money market funds $ 32,522 $ o 32,522
Commercial paper o) 24,092 24,092
Corporate debt securities o) 9,655 9,655
Total assets measured at fair value $ 32,522 $ 33,747 66,269
As of December 31, 2013
Fair Value MeasurementUsing
Quoted Pricesin Significant
Active Markets Other
for Identical Observable
Instruments Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
Assets: (in thousands)
Money market funds $ 98,437 $ s} 98,437
Commercial paper o] 101,773 101,773
Corporate debt securities o] 155,021 155,021
U.S. government and government agency debt securities o] 5,696 5,696
Total assets measured at fair value $ 98,437 $ 262,490 $ 360,927

Our money market funds are classified as Lelvalithin the fair value hierarchy because they are valued primarily
using quoted market price@ur other cash equivalents and investments are classified asd estslin the fair value
hierarchy because theyeavalued using professional pricing sources for identical or comparable instruments, rather than
direct observations of quoted prices in active markasing thetwelve monthended Januaryl, 2013andthe eleven
months ended December 31, 200& held noLevel3 assets

5. Other Long-Term Assets

As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2013 2013

(in thousands)

Other longterm assets:

Patents, net of amortization $ - $ 7,636
Longterm security deposits 922 4,736
Other 709 1,343
Restricted cash 829 -
Total other longterm assets $ 2,460 $ 13,715
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In June2013,we purchasedertain internet radioelated patents from Yahotic. for $8.0 million in cash. We
intend to hold these patents as part of our strategy to protect and defend Pandora frerelateditigation. These
patentsare beingamortized over a period of eleven years.

As partof our original May 2011 credit facility, we had entered iatcash collateral agreement in connection with
the issuance of letters of crettibitwere used to satisfy deposit requirements uratglitfy leases, refer to No&fi De b t
I nst r ume netinfodmatioro In September 2013, we amended the credit facility and terminated the cash collateral
agreement. As a result, our outstanding letters of credit no longer required cash collateral and all cash collateral that was
considered restricted cash wasurned to us in September 2013.

Pending Acquisition

In June2013,we entered inta local marketing agreement to progrlXMZ -FM, a Rapid City, South Dakot@rea
terrestrial radio statiorin addition, we entered into agreement tpurchasdhe assets dd{XMZ -FM for a totalpurchase
price of approximately$0.6million in cash subject to certain closing conditiorss of Decembe1, 2013 we havepaid
$0.4 millionof the purchase price, which is included in the otbeg-termassets linetém ofour balance shest

The ompletion ofthe KXMZ-FM acquisition is subject to various closing conditiomkichinclude, but are not
limited to, regulatory approval by theederal Communications Commissidiponcompletion of thee conditionswe
expect to account for thtransactioras a business combination.
6. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under operating leasBeesmiieB1, 2013:

Twelve months ended
December 31,

(in thousands)

2014 $ 7,108
2015 9,169
2016 9,159
2017 8,004
2018 4,663
Thereafter 19,719
Total future minimum lease payments $ 57,822

We conductour operations using leased office facilities in various locatidvslease office space under
arrangements expiring througli24. Rent expenses fdnetwelve monthended Januardl, 202 and 2013 anthe eleven
months ended December 31, 204&e$2.5 million, $3.2 million an&5.7 million, respectively

For operating leases that include escalation clauses over the term of the lease, tenant improvement reimbursements
and rent abatement perioag recognize rent expense on a strailyit basis over the lease term including expected
renewal periods. Theffierence between rent expense and rent payments is recorded as deferred rent in current and long
term liabilities.As of Januaryd1, 2013andDecembeB1, 2013deferred rentvas$3.6 million and$9.4 million.
Purchase Obligation

As of December 31, 2013, we hada@ncancelablgoyalty-relatedcontractual obligatiomvhich is recoupable
against future royalty paymentss of December 31, 2013, the balance of this purchase obligationl@&srfillion.

Indemnification Agreements, @w@antees and Contingencies
In the ordinary course of businesg areparty to certain contractual agreements under which it may provide
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indemnifications of varying scope, terms and duration to customers, vendors, lessors, business partners andsther part
with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements, ervices to
provided byusor from intellectual property infringement claims made by third parties. In addit®haveentered into
indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that will tegaireng other things, to
indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or
employees. Sucimdemnification provisions are accounted for in accordance with guarantor's accounting and disclosure
requirements for guarantees, including indirect guarantees of indebtedness of others. W liaenot incurreddo not
anticipate incurring and theforehavenot accrued for, any costs related to such indemnification provisions.

While the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certa@tonot believe that the outcome of any
claims under indemnification arrangements will have a natadverse effect oour financial position, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Legal Proceedings

We havebeen in the past, amntinueto be, a party to privacy and patent infringement litigation which has
consumed, and may continue to consume, financial and managerial resdlgasalso from time to time subject to
various other legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordioarge ofour businessWe recorda liability whenwe
believethat it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably &timasaedgement
periodically evaluates developments that could affect the amount, if any, ibfylitdat we havepreviously accrued and
makeadjustments as appropriate. Determining both the likelihood and the estimated amount of a loss requires significant
judgment, and management's judgment may be incoWéxtonot believe the ultimate resolati of any pending legal
matters is likely to have a material adverse effeatunbusiness, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In June 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against Pandora in the United States Didtfizt theu
Northern District of California alleging thate unlawfully accessed and transmitted personally identifiable information of
the plaintiffs in connection with their use @fir Android mobile application. In addition to civil liability, the amedde
complaint includes allegations of violations of statutes under which criminal penalties could be impesedrié found
liable. Our motion to dismiss the first amended complaint gastedon March26, 2013. The court allowed the plaintiff
to amend 8 complaintThe second amended complaint, filed May 9, 2013, contains allegations similar to those contained
in the previous complaint. Ounotion to dismiss the second amended complaint wasNlkd30, 2013. The court has not
yet ruled on the motian

In September 2011, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against Pandora in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California alleging that violatedMi ¢ h i \gdaaréntal privacy law and consumer protection
statute by allowigourl i s t ksteréng kisbory to be visible to the publour motion to dismiss the complaint was
granted on Septemb@8, 2012, judgment was entered on Novemlidr, 2012 The plaintiff appealed the judgment toet
U.S. Court of Appeals for the NintBircuit. Briefing of the appealwas completedn August 2, 2013. No date has been set
for oral argument

On Septembet0, 2012, B.E. Technologil C filed suit against Pandora in the United States District Court for
the Western District of Tennessee aithepthatwe infringe a B.E. Technology patent and seeking injunctive relief and
monetary damagedVe filed ouranswer on Decemb@d,2012 Defendants in other suits in which B.E. Technology is
plaintiff have filed inter partes review petitions before th8. Patent and Trademark Office challenging the validity of the
patent Pandora is alleged to have infringed. The trial
partes review has been concluded.

On Novembe®6, 2012, ' Techrology LLC filed suit against Pandora in theS. District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois allegingpatent infringemenfThe complaint seekisjunctive relief and monetary damagém
November 20, 2013, the parties negotiated mutually acceptahbis of a settlement of the ca®n November 21, 2013,
the court dismissed the complaint with prejudice, granting the plaintiff leave to refile if a written settlement agreement is
notsigned The parties fully executed a settlement agreement and eedeaBecember 2, 2013.

On February6, 2013, Macrosolvenc. filed suit against Pandora in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas alleging that Pandandringesa Macrosolvelnc. patent and seeks injunctive relief and monetary
damagesOn December 3, 2013, the parties negotiated mutually acceptable terms of a settlement ofGheleasary?,
2014, the court entered a final judgment of dismissal.
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On December 23, 2018perativeMedia, Inc.filed a complaint ithe New York SupremeCourt for New York
Countyallegingthat Pandora failetb pay invoices when duéailedto cooperatgandanticipatoily breacled a software
subscriptioncontracPandor ads r e swapfitedinFebeuar®0lé.adi ng

We currentlybelieve thaPandorahas substantial and meritorious defenses to the claims in the lawsuits discussed
above and intends to vigorously defemd position.

We arealso subject téegal proceedingmvolving musical work royalty rate©n November 5, 2012ve filed a
petition in the rate court establishedthg consent decree betwetre American Society of Composers, Authors and
Publ i ABCGAPOspndthe U.S. Department of Justinghe U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
for the deermination of reasonable license fees and termth&ASCAP consent decrelicense applicable to the period
January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2015J@we 112013we filed a motion forpartialsummary judgmergeeking a
determination that as a matter of law the publishers alleged to have withdrawn certain rights of public performance by
digital audio transmission from the scope of grant of rights ASCAP could license on behalf of such publishers subsequent
to thedate of our request for a license from ASCAP were not valid as to our ASCAP consent decree license. On September
17, 2013, our motion for partial summary judgment was granted, alleviating the need to negotiate direct licenses for such
purportedly withdraw performance right# trial to determine the royalty rates we will pay ASCédhcludedn
February2014.

OnJune 3,2013Br oadcast BMdGiJileda petitiondn.the (até court establishectiyconsent
decree betweeBMI and the U.S. Departent of Justicén the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York
for the determination of reasonable fees and termh&BMI consent decrelcense applicable to the period January 1,
2013 through December 31, 20WVe filed ourresponsen July 19, 2013.0n November 1, 2013, we filed a motion for
partial summary judgment seeking a determination that as a matter of law the publishers alleged to have withdrawn certain
rights of public performance by digital audio transmission from theesobgrant of rights BMI could license on behalf of
such publishers subsequent to the date of our request for a license from BMI were not valid as to our BMI consent decree
license. On December 18, 2013, our motion for summary judgment was denied.

The aitcome of any litigation is inherently uncertain. Baseaoncurrent knowledgeve believethat the final
outcome of the matters discussed above will not likely, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on
our business, financialgsition, results of operations or cash flows; however, in light of the uncertainties involved in such
matters, there can be no assurance that the outcome of each case or the costs of litigation, regardless of outcome, will not
have a material adverse eff@mn our businesslin particular, rate court proceedings could take years to complete, could be
very costly and may result in royalty rates thatraegeriallyless favorable than ratege currently pay.

7. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income tax@gjurisdictionconsists othe following:

Twelve months ended Eleven monts ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
(in thousands)

Jurisdiction:
Domestic

$ (15,802) $ (39,891) $ (24,005)

Foreign
(230) 1,748 (2,918)
Income (loss) before income taxes (16,032) (38,143) (26,923)

The provision for income tax expense consists of the following:
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Twelve months ended Eleven months ended

January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal $ 5 $ 3 $ 3
State andocal
75 4 7
International 3 9 87
Total current income tax expense $ 75 $ 5 $ 94
Deferred:
Federal
$ (403) $ (10,098) $ (10,166)
State and local
(1,457) (1,573) (2,027)
Valuation allowance
1,860 11,671 12,193
Total deferred income tax expense $ - $ - $ -
Total income tax expense $ 75 $ 5 $ 94

The ircome tax provisioincreasedy $0.1 million during the eleven months ended December 31, 2818
result ofanincrease in foreign taxes

The following table presents a reconciliation of the statutory federal rateuaetfective tax rate

Twelve months ended Eleven months
ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
U.S. federal taxes at statutory rate 34 % 34 % 34 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit _ R _
Permanent differences
(24) ) 5
Foreign rate differential
- 2 (©)]
Federal and state credits, net of reserve 2 2 8
Change in valuation allowance
(16) (30) (46)
Change in rate
1 2 -
Other 3 _ 3

Effective tax rate % % %

The major components of deferred tax assets and liabdiiesist of the following
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As of As of
January 31, December 31,
2013 2013
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating lossarryforwards $
$ 36,056 34,525
Tax credit carryforwards
3,027 5,745
Allowances and other
3,371 7,037
Stock options
4,313 10,159
Depreciation and amortization
257 323
Total deferred tax assets $
$ 47,024 57,789
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization
(1,469) (41)
Total deferred tax liabilities $
$ (1,469) (41)
Valuation allowance
(45,555) (57,748)
Net deferred tax assets $ - $ -

At Decembe1, 2013we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximagéy $million and tax
credit carryforwards of approximatelp.8 million. If realized,approximately$179.6million of the net operating loss
carryforwards will be recognized as a benefit through additional paid in capital. The federal net operating losses and tax
credits expire in years beginning in 2021.0dcembeB1, 2013 we had state net operating lossrgdorwards of
approximately 2452 million which expire in years beginning in 2014. In additise,had state tax credit carryforwards of
approximately $.1 million that do not expireandapproximately$2.3 million of credits that will expire beginning 2024

Under Sectior382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, if a corporation
undergoes an "ownership change," the corporation's ability to use-ithgumge net operating loss carryforwards and other
pre-change tax attributesuch as research tax credits, to offset its-pbanhge income may be limited. In general, an
"ownership change" will occur if there is a cumulative change in our ownershipgmrédnt shareholders"” that exceeds
50 percentage points over a rolling thrgear period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. Utilizationrofet
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to ownership changes. Such annual
limitations could result in the expiration ofir netoperating loss and tax credit carryforwards before they are utilized.

During theeleven monthendedDecembe31, 2013our valuation allowance increased by2R million. At
January3l, 2013andDecembeB1, 2013,we maintained a full valuation allowanoa our net deferred tax assets. The
valuation allowance was determined in accordance with the provisions of ASC 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, which
requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when determining whether it is mbanliketythat
deferred tax assets are recoverable. Such assessment is required on a jurisdiction by jurisdictiur basisy of
cumulative losses, along with expected future U.S. losses required that a full valuation allowance be recorddtiregainst a
deferred tax asset@/e intend to maintain a full valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets until sufficient positive
evidence exists to support reversal of the valuation allowance.

At Januaryd1,2013andDecembeBl, 2013we haveunrecognized tax benefits of approximat®B/6 million and
$5.2 million, respectivelyThe increas@ our unrecognized tax benefitss primarily attributable to current year
activities.The total unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would not aftectffective tax rate as the tax benefit would
increase a deferred tax assahich is currently offset with a full valuation allowan&e donot anticipate that the amount
of existingunrecognized tax bendditvill significantly increase or decrease within the nswetlve months.Accrued interest
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are recorded as income tax ewfeedisbsot have such interest,
penalties or tax benddi duringthe twelve months ended January 31, 2012 or 20#f3e@leven monthended December
31, 2013.
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We file income tax returns in the United States, California, other states and international jurisdictions. Tax years
2000 to2013 remain subject toxamination for U.S. federal, state and international purposes. All net operating losses and
tax credits generated to date are subject to adjustment for U.S. federal and state pligpasesot currently under
examination in any federal, state or intd¢imaal jurisdictions.

8. Debt Instruments

In May 2011, we entered into a $30.0 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institufibos.r
option, drawn amounts under the credit faciligrean interest rate of either adjusted London Interbar@®ffered Rate or
LIBOR, plus 2.75% 3.00% or an alternate base rate plus 1.729%90%, both of whickvereper annum rates based on
outstanding borrowing#\djusted LIBOR is LIBOR for a particular interest period multiplied oy $tatutory reserve rate.
The alternate base rate is the greatest of the prime rate, the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% and adjusted LIBOR plus
1%. In additionthe credit facility include@ nonrusage charge on the available balance of 0.8%25% per annum based
on outstanding borrowings. Under the credit facility,s@eld requesthe issuance afp to $50 million in letters of credit
by the financial institutions. The annual charge for any outstanding letters ofwas@it75%- 3.00% per annum based on
outstanding borrowings.

In September 2013, we amended this credit facility. The amendment increased the aggregate commitment amount
from $30.0 million to $60.0 million and extended the maturity date from May 12, 20XpterSber 12, 2018. The
amendment further decreased the interest rate on borrowings by 0.75% to either LIBOR plus228%b0or an alternate
base rate plus 1.0094..25%, both of which are per annum rates based on outstanding borrowings. In addition, the
amendment decreased the amage fee to 0.375% per annum. The amount of available letters of credit under the amended
credit facility was increased from $5.0 million to $15.0 million and the annual charge for outstanding letters of credit was
reduced byd.75% to 2.00% 2.25% per annum based on outstanding borrowings.

The amount of borrowings available under the credit facility at any time is based on our monthly accounts
receivable balance at such time and the amounts borrowed are collateralizeghénsonal propertyncluding such
accounts receivable but excluding intellectual property. The credit facility contains customary events of default, conditions
to borrowing and covenants, including restrictions on our ability to dispose of assets, magigi@us) incur debt, incur
liens and make distributions to stockholders. The credit facility also includes a financial covenant requiring the maintenanc
of minimum liquidity of at least $5.0 million. During the continuance of an event of a defaukntters may accelerate
amounts outstanding, terminate the credit facility and foreclose on all collateral.

As part of the original credit facility, we had entered into a cash collateral agreement in connection with the
issuance of letters of credit thaeke used to satisfy deposit requirements under facility leases. Under the amended credit
facility, the cash collateral agreement was terminated and, as a result, letters of credit no longer require cashrcollateral.
connection with the termination of tisash collateral agreement, all cash collateral that was considered restricted cash was
returned to us in September 2013.

In July 2013, we borrowed approximately $10.0 million from the credit facility to enhance our working capital
position. This amount &s paid off in full in August 2013s of December 312013we hadno borrowings outstanding,
$1.1million in letters of credit outstanding as88.9million of available borrowing capacity under the credit facility.

As of Januaryd1, 2013, we had no bawings outstanding, $0.8 million in letters of credit outstanding and
$29.2million of available borrowing capacity under the credit facilAg. of January1, 2013, $.8 million in cash
collateral forletters of creditvasconsidered to be restricted castdwasincluded in othefong term assets

Total debt issuance costs associated withMag 2011credit facility were $1.0nillion, which were amortizeds
interest expense over the feygar term of thélay 201 1creditfacility agreementAs part ofthe amendment, the
amortization period for the remaining unamortized costs incurred in connection with the May 2011 credit facility was
adjustedo reflect the amended term of the credit facility. We further incurregirgllion in debt issuance costs in
connection with the amendment, which are being amortized over the term of the amended crediEtachigytwelve
months ended JanuaBit, 2012 and 2013 aride eleven months ended December 31, 2002 fillion, $0.3 million and
$0.2million of debt issuance costespectivelyywere amortized and included in interest expense.

9. Stockbased Compensation Plans and Awards
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Stock Compensation Plans

In 2000,0ur board of directors adopted the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the "2000 Plan").dar2004,
board of directors adopted the 2004 Stock Option Plan (the "2004 Plan"), which replaced the 2000 Plan and provided for
the issuance of incentive and mstatutory stock options to employees and other service provid&anoforaln 2011,our
board of directors adopted the Pandora Mddia,2011 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2011 Plan" and, together with the 2000
Plan and the 2004 Plan, the "Plansthich eplaced the 2004 plaifhe Plans are administered by the compensation
committee of our board of directors (the "Plan Administrator").

The 2011 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, restricted stock units and otHessstdckwards.
Shares ofommon stock reserved for issuance under the 2011 Plan include 12,000,000 shares of common stock reserved
for issuance under the 2011 Plmd 1,506,424 shares of common stock previously reserved but unissued under the 2004
Plan as of Jung4, 2011. To thextent awards outstanding as of Jade 2011 under the 2004 Plan expire or terminate for
any reason prior to exercise or would otherwise return to the share reserve under the 2004 Plan, the shares of common stock
subject to such awards will instead baitable for future issuance under the 2011 Plan. Each year, the number of shares in
the reserve under the Plan may be increased by the les€®000,000 shares, 4.0% of the outstanding shares of common
stock on the last day of the prior fiscal year wother amount determined byr board of directors. The 2011 Plan is
scheduled to terminate in 2021, unlessboard of directors determines otherwise.

Under the 2011 Plan, the Plan Administrator determines various terms and conditions of awardg ioptiahn
expiration dates (no more than ten years from the date of grant), vesting terms (generally oveear foeriod) and
payment terms. For stock option grants the exercise price is determined by the Plan Administrator, but generally may not be
less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant.

Valuation of Awards

The pershare fair value of each stock option was determined on the date of grant using th&dBialels option
pricing model using the following assumptions:

Twelve months ended Eleven months

ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
Expected life (in years) 5.72-7.02 6.02- 6.67 5.996.32
Risk-free interest rate 1.10%- 2.77% 0.99%- 1.52% 1.00%2.04%
Expected volatility 54%- 57% 56%- 57% 58%-59%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

The expected term of stock options granted represents the weighted average period that the stock options are
expected to remain outstandiMye determined the expected term assumption basedidnistorical exercise behavior
combined with estimates of the pagtsting holding period. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of peer
companies irourindustry that have similar vesting and contractual terms. The risk free interestlvased on the implied
yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with terms approximately equal to the expected life of thé/eption.
currentlyhaveno history or expectation of paying cash dividende@@rcommon stock.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the right to one vote per share. The holders of common stock are also entitled to
receive dividends as and when declaredimboard of directors, whenever funds are legally available. These rights are
subordinate to the digend rights of holders of all classes of stock outstanding at the time.

Stock Options

Stock option activity during theleven monthendedDecembeB1, 2013 was as follows:
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Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Shares Average Contrlactua Aggregate(1)
Available Outstanding Exercise Term Intrinsic
for Grant Stock Options Price (in years) Value

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Balance as of Januagi, 2013 17,791,314 26,102,949 $ 3.22 6.40 $ 224,736

Additional shares authorized

Granted 2,915,000 16.67

(2,915,000)
Restricted stock units (6,374,319)
Exercised ) (5,763,544 3.14
)
Cancelled/Forfeited 546,205 (546,205) 8.11
Balance as of December 31, 2013 9,048,200 22,708,200 4.85 5.76 $ 493,866
Exercisable as of Decemhgt, 2013 15,432,372 1.50 456 $ 387,296
Vested as of Decembaf, 2013 and
expected to vest thereafter (2) 21,914,709 458 567 $ 482,571

(1) Amounts represent the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of common stock at each period eti foroalein
options outstanding based on the fair value per share of common s&ick 52 and26.60as ofJanuanB1, 2013andDecmber31,
2013, respectively.

(2) Options expected to vest reflect an estimated forfeiture rate.

As of Decembef31, 2013, there wasA®.1million of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding
employee stock options. This amount is expected todmgnized over a weighteaverage period .03years. To the
extent the actual forfeiture rate is different from what we have estimated;tsteell compensation related to these awards
will be different from our expectations.

The pershare fair value adtock options granted to nemamployees is determined on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the same assumptions as those used for employee awards with the exception of
expected term. The expected term for-4eonmployee awals is the contractual term of y@ars.

As of January31, 2013andDecembel, 2013, a total 0f52,000 andB0,270common stock options, issued to
norremployees were vested and outstandiging the twelve months ended Januddy, 2012 and 2013 aride eleven
months ended December 31, 208 recorded$0.3 million, $0.2 million and0.6 million in stockbased compensation
expenses related to stock option grants made teengioyeesrespectively As of Decembe1, 2013, total compensation
cost relatedo stock options granted to n@mployees but not yet recognized, was3$nillion, which we expect to
recognize over a weightealzerage period di.95years. The fair value of these options will be remeasured on each vesting
date and as of each reportitgte until the options vest. The remeasured fair value will be recognized as compensation
expense over the remaining vesting term of the options.

Early Exercise Liability
Certain of our options granted prior to the IPO provided the right to ex¢hcse options before they are vested.

We have a right to repurchase any unvested shares at a repurchase price equal to the exercise price ddeggéreod0
following the termination of an individual's service with Pandora for any reason.
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In connedibn with the early exercise of stock options, we have the right, but not the obligation, to repurchase
unvested shares of common stock upon termination of the individual's service with Pandora at the original purchase price
per share. As ofanuaryd1, 208 andDecembeB31, 2013, 308,334nd 80,209unvested restricted shares of common stock
were subject to repurchase. During the eleven months ended December 31, 2013 there were 104,167 shares repurchased at
the previous early exercise price of $3.14 pereshar

Duringthe twelve months ended Janu8dy 2012 and 2013 aribe elevermonths ended December 31, 2013
there were no early exercises. Repurchase rights with respect to the restricted shares outstanding as oBDe2@h3ber
will expire ratably by Jamary31, 2015.

Stock Option Awards with Both a Service Period and a Market Condition

InMarch2012,MrJ oseph Kennedy, the Companyds tatuterjsto€kx ecut i v
options to purchase 800,000 shares of common stock with acisexprice of $10.63 per share. This award included both a
service period and a market vesting condition that stipulated that the award would vest-ififtyeti@@ling volume
weighted average price of our common stock exceeded $21.00 per share,renifabea sale of the Company for at least
$21.00 per share, in each case prior to 20l/7. Upon the market condition being met, the award would vest ratably over
four years, beginning in JuB013, subject to severance and change of control acceleration.

We used a Monte Carlo simulation to value the award due to the market vesting condition. The following
assumptions were used to value the award using the Monte Carlo simulatigari®rm, riskfree interest rate of 2.33%,
expected volatility of 70%nd a beginning stock price of $10.63. The gdate fair value for the award was $6.08 per
share.

In March 2013, we announced that we would begin a process to identify a successor to Mr. Kennedy as CEO,
which prompted us to revaluate certain estimatand assumptions related to the stbaked compensation expense
associated with his awards. As a result of thisvaluation, we reduced steblased compensation expense by $1.7 million
during the three months ended April 30, 2013, primarily relatédet@ward with both a service period and a market
condition. I n September 2013, the market condition for N
as if they had been vesting ratably over four years from July 2013. In the eleven ematgiDecember 31, 2013, we
recorded $.6 million in additional stockhased compensation expense in connection with these awards.

Modification of Award

During thetwelve monthended Januaryl, 2012,we revisedour employment policies for certain eligible
officers, resulting in a modification of approximately &lion stock options held by these employees. As a result, upon
an involuntary termination, any unvested options or other stock awards scheduled tdhiest defined time frame
would be accelerated. The modification of these stock options resulted in approxiBfatky3 million and0.8 million,
in incremental stockased compensation expensetfa twelve months ended Janu@dy 2012 and 2013 are eleven
months ended December 31, 20despectively

Restricted Stock Units

During theeleven monthendedDecembeB1, 2013 we granted7,129,86&estricted stock units ("RSUs") under
the 2011 Plan at a weighted average fair valuel6f86per shareThe fair value of the restricted stock units is expensed
ratably over the vesting period. RSgksnerallyvest annually on a cliff basis over the service penddch isgenerally
four yearsDuring the eleven months ended December 31, 2018 ewmdedstockbased compensation expense related to
restricted stock units of approximatel2&9million. As of DecembeB1, 2013, total compensation cost not yet recognized
of approximately $29.6million related to norvested restricted stock units, is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period df.97years.

The following table summarizes the activities for our RSUs foeteeen monthendedDecembeB1, 2013:
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Weighted-

Average

Number of Grant-Date

RSUs Fair Value
Unvested at JanuaBi, 2013 5,511,709 $ 10.57
Granted 7,129,868 16.16
Vested (1,520,516) 10.77
Canceled (755,549) 11.68
Unvested at Decembad, 2013 10,365,512 $ 14.31

Vested as of Decemba8i, 2013 and expected to

vest thereafter (1) 11,075,193 $ 13.73

(1) Options expected to vest reflect an estimated forfeiture rate.

StockbasedCompensation Expenses

The weighteeaverage fair value of stock option grants made dutirgwelve months ended Januady 2012
and 2013 anthe eleven months ended December 31, 20458$4.83, $5.91 an#9.34per share. As dbecembe1,
2013, totakcompensation cost related to stock options granted, but not yet recognizedOvilarifion, which we expect
to recognize over a weightexverage period of approximatedy03years.

The total grant date fair value of stock options vested dthiegwel’e months ended Janua¥, 2012 and 2013
andthe eleven months ended December 31, 2@$$5.0 million, $13.0 million an&9.1 million, respectively

The aggregate intrinsic value of options and warrants exercised dheihgelve months ended Janu8dy, 2012
and 2013 anthe eleven months ended December 31, 204$8551.9million, $84.9million and$93.8million,,
respectively Thetotal fair value of options vested duritfte twelve months ended Janu&dy, 2012 and 2013 artke
eleven months ended December 31, 2048%5.2million, $13.1million and .4 million, respectively

Stockbased compensation expenses related to all employee amminpboyee stockased awardwas as follows:

Twelve months ended Eleven months

ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
(in thousands)
Stockbased compensation expenses:
Cost of revenue Other $ 582 $ 1,214 $ 1,946
Product development 1,638 4,530 8,802
Sales and marketing 4,866 12,294 20,222
General and administrative 2,101 7,462 9,071
Totd stockbased compensation, recorded in costs $ $ $
and expenses 9,187 25,500 40,041

During the eleven months ended December 31, 2013, we capitaliZzeaifion of stockbased compensation as
internal use software and website development costs.

10. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Redeemable Convertible Seriereferred Stock
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Redeemable convertible preferred stock was as follows as of the closing datéRsD:

Cumulative

Shares Issued Aggregate Aggregate

Shares and Carrying Liguidation Accumulated Liquidation

Authorized Outstanding Value Preference Dividends Preference

(in thousands, except share data)

SeriesA 375,000 375,000 $ 1,500 $ 1,500 $ s} $ 1,500
SeriesB 24,859,899 24,859,899 14,777 9,362 5,356 14,718
SeriesC 24,060,786 23,884,315 17,561 12,181 5,398 17,579
SeriesD 21,878,271 21,812,963 35,601 25,050 9,961 35,011
SeriesE 8,639,737 8,639,737 18,257 14,694 2,849 17,543
Seriesk 45,988,020 45,833,082 40,131 35,498 5,509 41,007
SeriesG 8,250,000 8,129,338 24,145 22,250 1,932 24,182
134,051,713 133,534,334 $ 151,972 $ 120535 $ 31,005 $ 151,540

During the period from Februady 2011 through the closing dateafr IPO, we accrued dividends of
$3.6million on ourredeemable convertible preferred stock. Upon the closing of the IPO o2Qu2@l1, all outstanding
redeemable convertible preferred stock was converted into shares of common stock at the contractual conversion ratios per
the relevant redeemable preferiock purchase agreements. Subsequenirti®O, there are no further convertible
preferred share dividends as all outstanding convertible preferred stock has been converted. On the closing date of the IPO
we paid $30.6million in dividends to the holds of redeemable convertible preferred stock.

Accretion of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

Stock issuance costs were being accreted via a charge to accumulated deficit over the period from the date of
issuance of the redeemable convertible pretestock to the date at which the redeemable convertible preferred stock
became redeemable at the option of the holders of the redeemable convertible preferred stock, therda@. of

11. Common Stock andNet Loss Per Share

Each share of common stobks the right to one vote per share. The holders of common stock are also entitled to
receive dividends as and when declaredinyboard of directors, whenever funds are legally available. These rights are
subordinate to the dividend rights of holderabflasses of stock outstanding at the time.

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the [elibeld net loss peshare is computed by giving
effect to all potential shares of common stock, including stock options, convertible preferred stock warrants and redeemable
convertible preferred stock, to the extent dilutive. Basic and diluted net loss per share was the sacheyear presented
as the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding would have beditugint.

The following table sets forth the computation of historical basic and diluted net loss per share.
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Twelve months ended Eleven months ended

January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:

Net loss $ (16,107) $ (38,148) $ (27,017)

Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

(110) -

stock

Increase in cumulative dividends payable upor

conversion or liquidation of redeemable

convertible preferred stock (3,648) ,
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ (19,865) $ (38,148) $ (27,017)
Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

used in computing basic and diluted net loss p

share 105,955 168,294 180,968
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.19) $ (0.23) $ (0.15)

Net losswasincreased by the cumative dividends payable upon conversion or liquidation of redeemable
convertible preferred shares earmethe twelve months ended January 31, 2@l&rrive at net loss attributable to
common stockholder§.or thetwelve monthended Januaryl, 2012 diidends were accrued up through the conversion at
the close of the IPO.

The following potential common shares were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because
including them would have been adilutive:

Twelve months ended Eleven months ended
January 31, December 31,
2012 2013 2013
(in thousands)
Options to purchase common stock 34,811 26,103 22,708
Warrants to purchase common stock 155 - -
Restricted stock units 1,427 5,512 10,366
Total common stock equivalents 36,393 31,615 33,074
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12. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Two months
Three months ended ended
April 30, July 31, Oct 31, Jan 31, April 30, July 31, Oct 31, Dec 31,
2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013 2013 2013%
(in thousands, except per share data)
Total revenue $ 80,784 $ 101,267 $ 120005 $ 125089 $ 125510 $ 157,355 $ 180,376 $ 136,992
Cost of revenue:
Cost of RevenuedContent a558.&8 i si@0b2@n c 6%713s 76,695 82,853 81,880 86,989 63,144
Cost of revenuedoOther 6,917 7,514 8,338 9,250 9,779 11,037 12,423 8,605
Total cost of revenue 62,735 68,036 74,051 85,945 92,632 92,917 99,412 71,749
Gross profit 18,049 33,231 45,954 39,144 32,878 64,438 80,964 65,243
Operating expenses:
Product development 4,119 4,475 4,371 5,153 7,033 7,926 8,848 6,179
Sales and marketing 23,460 23,457 26,714 34,084 40,083 45,794 50,575 33,322
General and administrative 10,612 10,602 12,700 14,333 14,209 18,352 23,038 14,613
Total operating expenses 38,191 38,534 43,785 53,570 61,325 72,072 82,461 54,114
Income (loss) from operations (20,142) (5,303) 2,169 (14,426) (28,447) (7,634) (1,497) 11,129
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholdes (20,228) $ (5415) $ 2052 $ (14557) $ (28587) $ (7,787) $ (1,700) $ 11,057
Net income (loss) per share, basic and diluted $ (0120 $ 0.03) $ 001 $ 009 $ (016) $ (004 $ (0.01) $ 0.06

(1) We are using this report to transition to a quarterly reporting cycle that corresponds to a December 31 fiscal year end. Therefore, for financial reporting purposes ou
of the current fiscal year was shortened from the three months ended January 31 to the two months ended December 31.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as such term is defined itBRAEe) under the Exchange
Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is reeded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, as approprato allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating
our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only realsien not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls
and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was
required to apply judgment in evaluating the dostefit rehtionship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Based
on their evaluation at the end of the period covered byrtlaissitionReport on Formi0-K, our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure conaidsprocedures were effective at the reasonable assurance
level as ofDecembeBl, 2013.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control aial faporting
as defined in Rule$3a15(f) and 15€15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of cbnsolidate
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evalation of internal control effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management hassassed the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reportindpasehbe1,
2013. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission ("COSQ") inémal Contrad Integrated Frameworkl 992 framework)Based on this
evaluation, our management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
DecembeBl, 2013.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting &eoémbeB1, 2013 has been audited by
Ernst& Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in this
TransitionReport on Fan 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our modraeséidn period
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affecintarnal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il
Item 10.DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information required by this Item regarding our directors and executive officers is incorporagddrbnce to the
sections of our proxy statement to be filed with the SEC in connection wiR0Dédiannual meeting of stockholders (the
"Proxy Statement") entitled "Election of Cld$kDirectors" and "Management."
Information required by this Itemegarding our corporate governance, including our audit committee and code of

business conduct and ethics, is incorporated by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled "Corporate
Governance" and "Board of Directors."

Information required Y this Item regarding compliance with Sectib®(a) of the Exchange Act required by this
Item is incorporated by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled "$6¢iipBeneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance."
Iltem 11.EXECUTIVE COMPENS ATION

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled
"Executive Compensation," "Board of Directér€ompensation of Directors," "Corporate Governédn&ompensation
Committee Interlocks and Ird#@r Participation.”

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by
reference to the sectiofi the Proxy Statement entitled "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management."”

Information regarding our stockholder approved andaygoroved equity compensation plans is incorporated by
reference to the section of the Proxy Statematitied "Equity Compensation Plan Information."

Item 13.CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections of the Proxy Statement entitled
"CertainRelationships and Related Party Transactions" and "Corporate Goveéynaimeetor Independence."

Item 14.PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the section of the Proxy Statement entitled
"Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm."
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PART IV
Item 15.EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are included as part of thiFransition Report on Form 10-K.

1. Index to Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets adarfiuary31, 2013andDecembel, 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operationstfi@twelve monthended Januaryl, 202 and 208 andthe
eleven months ended December Z112and 208

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Losth&welve monthended Januaryl, 202 and 20B
andthe eleven months ended December2i,2and 208

Consolidated Statements of Redeemable CoitlePreferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
thetwelve monthended Januaryl, 202 and2013 andhe eleven months ended December 31, 20

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flowslietwelve monthended Januar§l, 202 and 20B andthe
eleven months ended December 2112and2013

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedule

All other schedules are omitted as the information required is inapplicable or the information is presented in the
consolidatedinancial statements or the related notes.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following the signature page ofthissitionReport on Formi0O-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements Sectl@or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdreediaryl4, 2014

PANDORA MEDIA, INC.

By: /s/BRIAN MCANDREWS

Name: Brian McAndrews

Title: Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the
Board

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and
appointsBrian McAndrews Mike Herring and Delida Costin and each of them, his or her true and lawful attamriags
and agents, with full powdo act separately and full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or
her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to signh any and all amendmerfsatostticmReport on Forni0O-
K, and to file the same, with aikhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto each said attamégct and agent full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act in person, hereby ratifying aodfirming all that said attorneys-fact and agents or either of them or his or
her or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, as amdridedport has been signed by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signhature Title Date
Chief Executive Officer, Preside
[S/BRIAN MCANDREWS and Chairman of the Board Februaryl4, 2014

Brian McAndrews (Principal ExecutiveOfficer)

/sIMICHAEL S. HERRING
Michael S. Herring

Chief Financial Officer (Principa

Financial and Accounting Office Februaryl4, 2014

/s/PETER CHERNIN
Peter Chernin Director Februaryl4, 2014

/s/ JAMES M. P.FEUILLE
James M. P. Feuille Director Februaryl4, 2014

/sIPETER GOTCHER Director Februaryl4, 2014
Peter Gotcher

/s/ROBERT KAVNER
Robert Kavner Director Februaryl4, 2014
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/s/ELIZABETH A. NELSON

Elizabeth A. Nelson Director

/sIDAVID SZE

David Sze Director

/s/ITIM WESTERGREN

Tim Westergren Director
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Exhibit
No. Exhibit Description

EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing
Date

Filed By

Filed
Herewith

3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws

Fifth Amended and Restated Investor Rights

Agreement, by and among Pandora Media, Inc. an

investors listed on Exhibit A thereto, dated May 2(
4.01 2010, as amended

2011 Long Term Incentive Plan and Form of Stock
Option Agreement under 2011 Long Term Incentiv
10.01A Plan

10.02 A 2011 Corporate Incentive Plan

2004 Stock Plan, as amended, and Forms of Stoct

Option Agreement and Restricted Stock Purchase
10.03 A Agreement under 2004 Stock Plan

2000 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, and Form

NSO Stock Option Agreement and 1SO Stock Opt
10.04 A Agreement under 2000 Stock Plan

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betwee
Pandora Media, Inc. and each of its executive offic
10.05A and its directors not affiliated with an investment ft

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and betwee
Pandora Media, Inc. and each of its directors affilie
10.06 A with an investment fund

Offer Letter with Joseph Kennedy, dated July 7,
10.7 A 2004.

Employment Agreement with Tim Westergren, dat
10.8 A April 28, 2004

Offer Letter with Steven Cakebread, dated
10.9 A February 23, 2010

Offer Letter with Thomas Conrad, dated
10.10 A November 12, 2004

Offer Letter with John Trimble, dated February 18
10.11 A 2009

Office Lease between CIM/Oakland Center 21, LP
10.12 Pandora Media, Inc., dated July 23, 2009

First Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated
10.12A  April 13, 2010

Second Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakla
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated Jur
10.12B 2010

Third Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated
10.12C December 15, 2010

Fourth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oaklar
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated
10.12D March 10, 2011

Fifth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated Jul\
10.12E 2011

Sixth Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakland
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated
10.12F September 27, 2011

Seventh Amendment to Lease between CIM/Oakl:
Center 21, LP and Pandora Media, Inc., dated July
10.12G 2012
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Web Site Performance Agreement by and betweer
Broadcast Music, Inc. and Savage Beast
Technologies, Inc., dated June 30, 2005

License Agreement by and between SESAC and
Pandora Media, Inc., dated July 1, 2007

Credit Agreement among Pandora Media, Inc., the
Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank
N.A. as Administrative Agent, dated as of May 13,
2011

Amendment and Restatement Agreement to Credi
Agreement among Pandora Media, Inc., the Lende
party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as
Administrative Agent, dated as of September 12, z

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under th
A 2011 Equity Incentive Plan

Amended Executive Severance and Change in Con
A Policy

Offer Letter with Simon Fleming-Wood, dated
A August 5, 2012
A 2013 Corporate Incentive Plan
9 B A4 Corporate Incentive Plan

Stock Option Agreement with Joseph Kennedy, di
A March 22, 2012

Transition Agreement with Steven Cakebread, dat:
A August 29, 2012

Australian Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreeme
A under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan

Offer Letter with Michael Herring, dated
A December 21, 2012

New Zealand Form of Restricted Stock Unit

. 2 Adkeement under the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan

Offer Letter with Brian McAndrews, dated Septem
2 3142013

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Power of Attorney (included on signature pag
of this Transition Report on Form 10-K)

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Ac

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

Interactive Data Files Pursuant to Rule 405 of

Regulation S-T: (i) Condensed Balance Sheets as
December 31, 2013 and January 31, 2013, (ii)

Condensed Statements of Operations for the Elev
months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and t
Twelve months ended January 31, 2013 and 2012
(i) Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Los
the Eleven months Ended December 31, 2013 and
Twelve months ended January 31, 2013 and 2012
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows for the Eley
months ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 and t
Twelve months ended January 31, 2013 and 2012
(v) Notes to Condensed Financial Statements
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Exhibit 23.01
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration StatementsS{Bavim 333-175378 FormS-8
No. 333182212 Form S8 No. 333187340 pertaining to the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, 2004 Stock Plan and 2011 Equity
Incentive Plan of Bndora Medialnc. of our reports datelebruaryl4, 2014, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Pandora Mediag. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Pandora Media,
included in thisTransitionReport (Forml0-K) for theeleven monthendedDecembe1, 2013.

/s/ Ernst& Young LLP

San Francisco, California
Februaryl4, 2014
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Exhibit 31.01

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section302 of SarbanegOxley Act of 2002

[, Brian McAndrews certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed thiransitionReport on Forn10-K of Pandora Medidnc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessarg make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information incltidisdeport, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant ds andhaeerespmible foriestaplishing and rhafinfainirg digckure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act RiBesl5(e)and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rul&s15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registranand have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaseis made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be degined under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluatedthefef ecti veness of the registrantés disclosure ¢
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, based on such evaluatiod

(d Disclosed in this report any change in the registra
during the registrantés most recent fiscal guarter
report) thathasnat eri al ly affected, or is reasonably Ilikely

over financial reporting; and

The registrant ds andhbhave distlesed, baseg onoug mastfrefcanteeealudtian Jof internal
conrd over financi al reporting, to the registrantds aud
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operfaitiveroal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably I|Iikely to adversely
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves managementer employees who have a significant role

in the registrantés internal control over financi al

Februaryl4, 2014

/s/ Brian McAndrews

Name: Brian McAndrews

Title:  Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman
the Board (PrincipaExecutive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.02

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section302 of SarbanegOxley Act of 2002

I, Michael S. Herringcertify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed thiransitionReport on Forn10-K of Pandora Medidnc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with nesct to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and casH flmuggistrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant ds andhaeerresporesible for esgablishgng amd niaintaiming (lisclpsure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act RiBesl5(e)and 15d15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rul&s15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to b
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being ppared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the pparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(o Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantods di s
our conclusions abotite effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report, based on such evaluation; and

(d Disclosed in this report any change in theredegistra
during the registrantés most recent fiscal guarter
report) that has materially affected, or i s reasona

over financial reprting; and

The registrant ds andhbhave distlesed, baseg onoug mastfrefcanteeealudtian Jof internal
control over financi al reporting, to the registrantds
directors(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonabl y | i keoidyprotess, saninarge s el y
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role

in the registrantés internal control over financi al

Februaryl4, 2014

/sl Michael S. Herring

Name: Michael S. Herring

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18U.S.C. SECTION1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection withTtaissitionReport on Forni0-K for the
eleven months ended December 31,2083he fAReport 0) f or t he 13al4bpooRulel5df ¢ o mpl

14b)of t he Securities Exchange Act 1360of Ch&®rd3 ¢f Title &8 ofittktex c ha ng e
United States Code.

Each of the undersigned certifies thathi® knowledge:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Sectid(a)or 15(d)of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of Pandora Medris.

Februaryl4, 2014

/s/ Brian McAndrews

Name: Brian McAndrews

Title: Chief Executive OfficeRresident and Chairman ¢
the Board (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Michael S. Herring

Name: Michael S. Herring

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanying ti&eport is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for purposes

of Sectionl8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilities such Section, and

is not to be incorporated by reference into filiyg of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before, on or after the date of the Report), irrespective of any
general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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